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PORTFOLIO

THE INHERITORS
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To the two men in my life: Juggi, my husband, and Karan, my son—you guys are my anchors

And to Papa, Dr Y.C. Halan







Foreword

If there is one thing I have learnt from my years in leading a business, it is the power of the story. If a picture is worth a thousand words, then a story is worth a thousand sermons. Stories encapsulate messages in a way that makes them hard to forget.

In my own group, when people want to describe the business, its history, its progress and its culture, I find that they don’t talk about profit figures or growth statistics or revenue projections. They talk about stories—stories about the people whose personalities shaped the company, stories about the ways in which the company coped with good times and bad, stories illustrating the values that are a torch passed down from generation to generation.

Sonu Bhasin has very effectively used the medium of stories to trace the trials and triumphs of some outstanding family-owned businesses in India. Family-owned companies are the backbone of Indian industry. At last count, fifteen of the top twenty Indian businesses in India were family-owned, in some sense of the phrase. They enjoy advantages like agility, nimbleness and speed of decision-making. They also face the challenges of family dynamics and culture, intergenerational perspectives and handling succession. This book elicits the family perspective on all these aspects. The stories it articulates convey all the difficulties, all the challenges, all the drama and all the rewards of creating a business that flourishes over generations. Reading these sagas in the words of the people who lived them makes an impact that no classroom lecture can match.

I am sure that The Inheritors will provide insight and inspiration not only to members of family businesses but also to anyone who aspires to be an entrepreneur. Learning from someone else’s success story is a very powerful incentive to fashion your own.

September 2017

Anand Mahindra

Chairman and MD, Mahindra Group







Introduction

Family businesses are the unsung heroes of the Indian economy.

We know that they are all around us but we haven’t really acknowledged their contribution to the economy. It is not because we don’t want to; rather, it is because we are not aware of the quantum of their contribution.

Data shows that approximately 90 per cent of world commerce is in the hands of family-owned businesses. They contribute 60–90 per cent of the GDP in their respective economies, are the largest employers outside of the government and deliver better profitability, consistently, when compared to their non-family-owned counterparts.

There is usually a set of qualities and characteristics that are associated with any hero. Such is the case with family businesses. Each of them has its own set of heroic characteristics that makes it unique. However, there is one aspect that is common to all successful family businesses and that is the spirit of entrepreneurship.

The Oxford dictionary describes entrepreneurship as ‘the activity of setting up a business or businesses, taking on financial risks in the hope of profit’. But as I sat and listened to the protagonists of The Inheritors tell their stories, I realized that the dictionary meaning was unidimensional and somewhat dry. It fails to capture the grit and determination, the ambition and passion, and the focus on getting things done.

The spirit of entrepreneurship displayed by the people in this book goes far beyond just setting up a business or taking on a financial risk. During my conversations with them, I learnt of their ability to look at early failures squarely in the face, their refusal to stay down after their stumbles, their motivation to get back up, dust themselves and move on, their conviction in their own self and their business concepts, their confidence to do things differently, their knack for forcing their competitors to also do things differently, their ability to treat their legacy as a blessing rather than a burden and, most importantly, their unrelenting focus on their family values.

Amit Burman and Agastya Dalmia both faced harsh challenges in their first business ventures but they refused to be cowed down by them. Harsh Mariwala had conviction in his own belief of how a business should be run and he followed his heart to make it happen. Tara Singh Vachani focused on her innermost bhavna to create a path-breaking business. Motilal Oswal, Raamdeo Agrawal and Arjun Sharma were outsiders in tightly held industries and they first made a place for themselves and then changed the rules for everyone. Rishabh Shroff and Pooja Jain did not let the heavy burden of their illustrious legacy come in the way of their work. Kuldip Singh Dhingra and Gurbachan Singh Dhingra built a large business without sacrificing an iota of their family values.

The stories in The Inheritors are about real people and real businesses. These are stories of real challenges, real fights in the marketplace and real achievements. Each story celebrates the spirit of entrepreneurship and this spirit is played out by each protagonist in a unique manner. Thus, whether the stories are about success or even failure on the way to success, you are likely to identify with the characters and the stories. You can then decide, individually, of course, what you take away from each story.

My key learning after spending time with the heroes (of both genders) of The Inheritors has been the following: while entrepreneurship may or may not lead to success, there is no success possible without the spirit of entrepreneurship.

Over to the inheritors for their own stories.

Happy reading!
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Dabur Group and Lite Bite Foods

Amit Burman

I am confused. Did I not have an appointment with Amit Burman, vice chairman of Dabur India—the 133-year-old company known for iconic products like Hajmola, Dabur Chyawanprash and Dabur Amla Hair Oil? Amit had asked me to come to his office for the meeting. As I walk into the building, I see posters of well-known brands. But to my knowledge, none of these are Dabur’s. I walk up the stairs with posters of Café Delhi Heights, Zambar, Fres Co, Punjab Grill, Street Foods and Baker Street accompanying me. Am I in the wrong office? I begin to wonder. I turn back and ask the guard at the gate, ‘Yeh Amit Burman sa’ab ka office hai? Sa’ab hain kya office mein? (Is this Amit Burman’s office? Is he in the office?)’ The guard merely nods in a bored manner. Shaking my head in confusion I go back up the stairs to the office. The receptionist, with a bright smile, confirms that I am expected and guides me to Amit’s office. Phew! At least I am in the right place.

Amit laughs out loud when I ask him why no Dabur brands are displayed in the office of the company’s vice chairman. ‘This is my personal business, with my own money, and Dabur has nothing to do with it,’ explains Amit. He is certainly the vice chairman of Dabur India Limited, but that role is a quasi-non-executive one.

‘Dabur is in the hands of professional management, so my role is to guide them to follow the Burman family’s vision for the business,’ says Amit. As a person who finds it difficult to sit at home even on a weekend, Amit certainly needed something to keep himself occupied once he moved into the non-executive role at Dabur. ‘Food has always been a passion with me,’ he says. With time on his hands and unwilling to lead a life only of leisure, he decided to follow his passion and set up a food business in the mid-2000s. Today, his real passion and real business, no pun intended, is Lite Bite Foods, the food company set up by him. His business has the dine-out brands that I saw on my way to his office. Punjab Grill, Fres Co, Zambar, Asia Seven and Hahn’s Kitchen have very quickly become the restaurants of choice for the customer segment targeted by Amit. ‘But running a restaurant business is extremely hard work, and people don’t realize it,’ says Amit.

Hard work is something Amit has never shied away from. In fact, it energizes him. He comes from a family that has worked for more than a hundred years to get Dabur placed among the largest fast-moving consumer goods (FMCG) companies in India. ‘I grew up in Delhi. I was used to seeing my dad come back home from work and talk about his day, while we had dinner,’ remembers Amit. The business of Dabur, hence, was very much a part of his growing-up years. His father, Gyan Chand Burman, was the head of Dabur. G.C. Burman was a pharmacist but he had transformed into an operating businessman when he took charge of the family business. Amit was born in Calcutta, where his family, along with four other Burman families across three generations, lived in their ancestral home. The mansion was called Dabur House and the business at Garia was just a stone’s throw away. The families had their own living quarters, but they shared a common kitchen and dining area. G.C. Burman used to go to the factory every day. During a labour unrest in the city, he was gherao-ed by his own workers at the factory and the situation turned unpleasant. This prompted Burman’s decision to move to Delhi. He set up a factory in Sahibabad. Over time, G.C. Burman’s brothers relocated to Delhi with their families as well. The new factory, along with the business, thrived and Dabur became a company headquartered in Delhi. Calcutta’s loss was Delhi’s gain.

Early years in Delhi and the US

Amit studied at St Columba’s School in Delhi while his cousins went to other schools in India and abroad. While he did not go to the factory during his schooldays, he soaked in details about the business at the dining table. These discussions also helped him understand his father’s decision-making processes. For any young boy finishing high school in the mid-eighties, the norm was to become either a doctor or an engineer. Amit’s father also wanted him to study engineering as he believed that it was the future. Amit chose to study industrial engineering in the US. ‘My dad was very happy when he heard about it,’ he says. The days spent at Lehigh University in America gave him an opportunity to understand the theory behind the manufacturing business—his trusted dinner-table companion during his childhood and adolescence.

Keen to see the theory in action, he came back to Delhi after graduating and started to work with his father at Dabur. ‘My father had a routine where, each morning, he spent an hour on the factory shop floor,’ Amit recalls. He would accompany his father during the daily rounds and could then understand the practical aspects of the business better, thanks to his four years of engineering study. However, his learning was not restricted to the manufacturing process. ‘I picked up a lot of things during that time,’ says Amit. ‘I learnt about things like manpower and inventory control as a result of my daily walks with my dad.’

Having seen work within the family business, young Amit wanted to learn about business outside of Dabur. He went back to the US and started working with Colgate Palmolive in New York. ‘I worked with them in the manufacturing strategy department and spent time in Kansas as well,’ says Amit. What he enjoyed most, however, was the fact that his colleagues were a diverse lot—accountants, engineers, business management graduates and finance experts, among others. He also enjoyed working on different projects that came to their department, which operated as an in-house consultancy unit for Colgate. It meant that the team had to travel to Colgate’s various offices and factories and find resolutions to problems that had cropped up. ‘It meant a lot of travel, but I was single and happy to travel to various places,’ says Amit with a smile. ‘Working abroad was like a stepping stone in the journey to excel. I learnt a lot through this and value the experience a lot,’ he continues.

Apart from working at Colgate, Amit also spent time at Columbia University for his master’s degree. Colgate had a scheme where the company would send some of their chosen employees for study programmes and Amit took advantage of this. Perhaps spurred by his experience at Columbia, he decided to continue his studies at Cambridge University. The MBA at Cambridge had a work–study plan, in which after six months of study, the students had to intern for six months with a company. Amit, naturally, chose Dabur as the company to work in. He worked on the Vatika hair oil and shampoo projects as part of his internship.

Once he finished his MBA, he was told to come back to Dabur to work full-time. Amit smiles wryly as he recalls the time after his postgraduation. ‘I was not asked but had to join Dabur as such,’ he says. He was among the older lot of the fifth generation. His younger cousins did not face too much pressure to work in Dabur, as by the late nineties, the professionalization of the company had already begun. Even though he was among the older cousins, Amit was still young and did not have his work life mapped out quite yet. ‘I was young and confused and did not know what to do with my life back then,’ says Amit, scrunching up his face. He wandered from one department to another in the first year of his stay with Dabur. He moved from production to marketing to human resources to engineering to finance, before finally realizing that this big set-up was not for him. But even as he moved from one department to the other, he left his mark in the food business of Dabur.

Back in 1992, when he worked with the candy department of Dabur, he used his engineering knowledge to get the company to invest in better machinery for the product. He helped cut down the wastage in laminates used in pouches by 4 per cent, saving lakhs of rupees annually for the company. He also worked with Kartik Raina, who was his boss at Dabur then, to relaunch Capsico and add more flavours to the product.

Starting up

Amit was passionate about doing something of his own and felt shackled within the large company set-up. An entrepreneur at heart, he felt stifled by the measured growth of Dabur. The structured environment at Colgate and the various projects that he had worked on, as part of the strategy team, had left an indelible mark on him. Having seen, from up close, the huge organization, with its variety of products, Amit compared the working of Colgate with that of Dabur. Somewhere, he felt that he could do better. He also realized that he would be considered far too young to be taken seriously by anyone at Dabur. This made him decide that the only way he could continue working was to start something of his own. ‘I realized that I did not fit in at such a large organization. And I thought that either I do something of my own or . . . ,’ he says, squirming in his chair, as if trying to break the invisible shackles from those days.

Luck came to his aid at that time. Amit had gone to visit a Dabur plant in Nepal. While at the factory, he learnt about a fruit juice plant that was up for sale. ‘It was a juice-packing plant, but the owner was not able to make it work. I think, in the mid-1990s, it was too early for packed juices in Nepal,’ says Amit. He went to inspect the plant and called up his father to say that he wanted to buy the plant and start a fruit juice business for Dabur. It was a small investment for Dabur and they were happy to make that investment for a member of the younger generation. Amit, however, set up the new company, Dabur Foods, outside of the parent company, as he wanted to have his autonomy.

In the mid-1990s, the fruit juice market in India was an underdeveloped one. For the young Amit, coming back to India after having spent almost ten years overseas, the market looked just ready for fruit juice. While waiting for the completion of the transaction of buying the plant, Amit got a small consumer survey carried out to test the market for fruit juices in India. ‘I realized that drinking fruit juice was a habit that almost every Indian had. But people normally went out to the local juicewala for that,’ he says. The survey also pointed out that the fresh juices available in the market were neither very clean nor hygienic. And then there were tinned juices! The most popular brand was Horticulture Produce Marketing and Processing Corporation (HPMC). But these tins would get rusted at times and they had to be cut open. As Amit talks, I go back to my childhood and remember the many struggles I have had with the said juice tins. They had a mind of their own and many a time my hand had been the casualty. Memories of a nick here and a sharp cut there, followed by much hand-wringing, come rushing back, as I nod in agreement with Amit. The sharp tins apart, the juice had added sugar and preservatives, which overpowered the taste of the fruit.

‘Looking at the market, I felt sure that India was going to be a big market for my brand of fruit juices,’ says Amit. ‘In the West, everyone had fruit juice for breakfast, so I assumed that India could develop into a big market as well,’ he adds. ‘Developing the product of fresh fruit juice with no preservatives and no added sugar seemed just what India needed at that time. I thought to myself: ‘‘This is crazy. Why has no one launched fresh fruit juices yet?”’ he says.

Amit found out the reason pretty soon! He launched Real Fruit Juice with no added sugar and no preservatives. To his great disbelief, no one liked it. ‘We found that Indians pretty much liked their juices with sugar and colour!’ says Amit, incredulous. Real had launched their fruit juice with European packaging, complete with the cap on top. The fruit juice concentrate was sourced from Brazil, as Nepal did not levy any duty on the import of raw material. Brazilian orange juice was yellow in colour, similar to what is drunk in the West. ‘But in India, when people opened the pack and saw the juice, they did not believe it was orange juice. They thought it was mango juice!’, laughs Amit. Since there was no colour added, the orange juice was more yellow than reddish orange in colour. ‘It was very much like the juice you get in the US or Europe with no added sugar,’ explains Amit. The Indian customer rejected it completely!

However, even before the juice could reach the customer, the young team was faced with a number of challenges, especially with regard to transportation and stocking.

‘Everything that could go wrong went wrong,’ says Amit. ‘We had no idea, initially, about packaging and transporting the product, so there were problems of puffing,’ he adds. Puffing happens when the carton develops microscopic holes and air rushes in, spoiling the juice. As the gases are released, the carton puffs up like an angry penguin. The cartons were being transported from Nepal to India in trucks and the team did not know how to stack the cartons without damaging them. And then there was the problem of the distribution chain. Amit, naturally, started by using the Dabur distribution system, which was a well-oiled machine. However, Dabur sold products that had a two-year shelf life. Real fruit juices had a shelf life of one-fourth of that—only six months. ‘We realized soon enough that the Dabur distribution system was not capable of handling my product,’ says Amit. The juice cartons would sit on the shelf, in many cases in non-air-conditioned stores and the juice would get spoilt. The cartons would start puffing up again. To add to the problems, within a year of the launch, the clamping jaws of the machine, which vacuum-sealed the juice carton tops, broke down. The new jaws were fabricated locally, but they were not calibrated properly. Instead of sealing the carton airtight, the machine left gaps in the seal. Once again, the cartons began puffing up, but this time it was worse because of the juice actually leaking out of the cartons and spoiling other merchandise in the shops.

While Amit, along with his team, battled all these business problems on one side, he had to face questions from the Burman family on the other. Dabur Foods, the company that Amit set up to manufacture Real fruit juice, was not part of the parent Dabur company, but a fully owned subsidiary. Therefore, the financials of Dabur Foods were added back to the parent Dabur company. The 133-year-old Dabur was not accustomed to seeing losses in any of its new products. ‘What would happen is that Dabur would launch a new version of hair oil, say, almond. If it did well, it continued. But if it tanked, it would be quietly withdrawn from the market. Since hair oil within Dabur was a big category, the losses were taken as part of the overall business,’ explains Amit patiently. The employee costs, distribution costs, depreciation and many other costs would get hidden among the costs of other products. Dabur Foods, on the other hand, had a separate balance sheet. Therefore, all costs were visible as they were stand-alone and in plain sight for all to see. There was no place to hide the losses.

It certainly was not a pleasant picture, especially for a company not used to seeing losses. ‘I remember there were many Dabur board directors who wanted this business to be shut down. They kept asking, ‘‘What the hell are we doing in this business?’’’ says Amit. The financial losses of Real were bringing down the overall profitability of the parent company. As it affected the share price and the dividends, the family kept asking Amit to shut down the loss-making venture. However, there was another reason that the board of Dabur was wary of keeping Real alive. They were worried about a reputational loss in the market and an erosion of the Dabur brand. Amit had launched Real fruit juices, highlighting the parentage of Dabur to leverage its brand equity. The brand of Dabur was a trusted one in the market and any product with the Dabur brand benefited from the halo effect. Since the new product itself was suffering from quality issues, the board was apprehensive about the impact the negative press would have on the larger portfolio of Dabur products. To add to the discomfort of the Burman family, there was a competitor, Onjus, that had declared war on Real by slashing its own prices.

The pressure on the young team was immense and Amit is convinced that if his last name had not been Burman, he would have been fired in the blink of an eye. ‘But because I was who I was, they said, ‘‘Let’s give him another chance. The poor boy is trying very hard!’’ he laughs self-deprecatingly. When the fruit juice business was started, it was a small side bet for Dabur, primarily to let Amit do something that was of interest to him. ‘It was like, let him buy the machine—it was at a depreciated cost anyway—and let him use the Dabur machinery for distribution and marketing,’ laughs Amit. Fortunately for him, his father and his uncle had faith in the product and in the ability of young Amit. While he faced the hard questions from the board, Amit had to be the perfect shock-absorber for his young team. He had hired seasoned professionals from the industry who had joined him to build a new business from scratch. The boardroom tensions do not stay hidden from anyone and insecurities have a habit of percolating down to the last member of the team. ‘Therefore, whatever went on in the boardroom, I had to walk out with confidence and tell my team that all was well,’ he says. None of this is taught in any business school and Amit learnt it on the job.

The head of marketing, Sanjay Sharma, had come from Colgate Palmolive. The other two key senior managers were K.G. Raman, head of sales, and Jyotirup Barua, head of institutional sales. I ask Amit the secret behind his ability to build this team for a new business, especially as he himself was a youngster with no track record in the field. ‘Sanjay was the first one to come on board, after my cousin Anand Burman and I interviewed him,’ says Amit. One of the attractions was that it was an opportunity to build a business and work directly with the promoter. The other was that Real had the backing of Dabur. ‘So, they had thought, “Ki agar yahan nahin chala to Dabur mein to adjust ho hi jayega (if it does not work, we will surely get employed by Dabur)!”’ chuckles Amit. However, the same team did not want to work in Dabur once the merger happened. The professionals found working in the larger company a bit claustrophobic—much like their boss had!

At Real, the professional team worked tirelessly with Amit and, very quickly, addressed each of the problems facing the business. The distribution system of Dabur made way for a new distribution system built by Dabur Foods. The new distribution chain was more food-related and took into account the issue of the six-month shelf life. Next came the advertising. Dabur had used traditional advertising channels such as television and print. Going back to the 1880s, Dabur had used the direct-mailing route to reach out to its customers. The company would send postcards with details about its various Ayurvedic medications to customers. A hundred years later, Dabur used television and press, no doubt, but continued its below-the-line marketing activities, given the profile of its customers. Some of the marketing activities carried out were quite innovative.

One such activity targeted rural customers through the local fairs which are big attractions in villages and towns. Dabur had bought a Beechcraft aircraft and had the underbelly of the airplane painted with ‘Dabur’. The aircraft was used to air-drop pamphlets about Dabur products at local fairs typically attended by thousands of people. To stir up excitement, Dabur would release special advertisements in local newspapers announcing the time of the air-drop. People would wait eagerly at the venue, keeping their ears open for the distant drone of the aircraft. As the pamphlets would rain down from the sky, there would be a mad scramble on the ground to collect them. To add to all this, there was the Dabur elephant. The company would get elephants, draped in banners advertising the digestive tablets and Lal Dant Manjan, to walk around in areas of the hinterland. The company also used, rather effectively, wall paintings to advertise its products in the villages.

However, Amit knew that he was selling a new concept and the traditional methods of advertising that Dabur used would not work for him. He had to get the customer to actually taste the product. To do this he started to divert the marketing budget more towards promotions and sampling. Much like Tupperware parties, there were agencies that targeted the ‘kitty party’ circuit in cities. The Real juice promoters would be at the kitty party with samples of Real fruit juice and the ladies would be invited to sample them. This brought the product directly in contact with the end consumer. Since women were usually the decision-makers for this category of food, the sampling activity hit bullseye.

The product itself, meanwhile, had also undergone a change. ‘Instead of using only the original Brazilian orange juice, we used a blend to give it that orange-ish colour,’ says Amit. Much as he was against adding sugar, he was left with no choice and had to give in to the demands of his customers. Thus, sugar was also added to the juice and the ‘New Real with sugar-added’ was launched in orange, mango and pineapple flavours. The consumer gave it her approval and the cartons went flying off the shelves.

The new Real may have been doing well but the Burman family was still not convinced. The business was still in the red due to accumulated losses and high spends on advertising and promotions. Amit wanted to continue to build excitement around the product by launching new flavours, but kept running into the wall that was the Burman family. ‘They still kept saying, “Why do you want to add more flavours? Why do you want to increase the number of variants when we can’t sell the one we have already? We are still making losses,”’ says Amit. The market that had finally accepted the fruit juice needed to be kept alive. The team wanted to launch litchi and pink guava flavours to keep the leadership position, as no other competitor, Onjus included, offered these choices to customers.

‘Those were tense years. There were numerous fights in the boardroom and I was hammered again and again,’ says Amit. But each time, he had to walk out with a smile on his face and his shoulders pulled back with confidence, so he could shield his team from unpleasantness. The Burman family had appointed Ninu Khanna as the CEO of Dabur and had also given him the responsibility of mentoring the young inheritor. As a professional, Ninu had to keep his eyes firmly on the balance sheet of the parent company. Dabur Foods was a drag on the consolidated accounts. Ninu, most likely, did not want to be seen by the Street as a CEO who could not manage the profitability of the listed company. The classic mismatch between the deliverables of a professional and the aspirations of a family business owner was played out in this case. Ninu would not allow any new product variants to be launched, in order to contain losses which might reflect badly on him. To complicate matters, family members, who were shareholders but not necessarily part of the business, were also against further expansion as losses in the parent company would negatively affect the dividends paid out to them.

To give credit to Amit and his team, they kept their eyes focused and persevered to make Real a success. It was a long road, but slowly, the company started showing signs of recovery. Luck played its part again, in giving the young team a hand. The main competitor of Real was Onjus, a brand of Enkay Texofood Industries. While Real was battling teething problems, Onjus had taken the lead and had become a household name in India. However, the main business of the promoters of Onjus was textiles. Tulsi Goyal, the managing director of Enkay, had not even registered the brand of Onjus with the trademark department. Further, the profits from Onjus were channelled back into the textile business which was seeing a downturn in the early 2000s. The financial institutions did not take kindly to this and withdrew their support from both the textile and the food businesses. Both companies became Board of Industrial and Financial Reconstruction (BIFR) cases, which meant that they were recognized by the authorities as bankrupt. This gave the companies time to get back on their feet and during that time, they had protection from creditors. Tulsi Goyal had said, ‘We never registered the Onjus brand and are not planning to do anything against any new company which wants to launch the brand. Our company has become a BIFR case and is already under liquidation.’ Onjus literally lost its juice.

Meanwhile, the tortoise in the race remained focused and went on taking steady steps towards profitability. ‘Slowly, but steadily, we started making profits,’ says Amit in a measured, slow tone, reflecting the nature of his company’s journey towards profitability. The steady growth continued and today it is a Rs 1000-crore brand. There is an immense satisfaction in Amit’s voice as he tells me this. ‘Real is 10 per cent of Dabur’s top line today and it is the best business that we have. It is growing at 20–25 per cent each year. It is the number one brand in the market with more than 60 per cent market share,’ he adds. There is, however, no smugness in his voice as he talks of the success that he has achieved. Just a quiet sense of confidence, of I-always-knew-that-it-would-succeed.

The success of Dabur juices brought some other problems—that of profits. As a stand-alone company, Dabur Foods could not plan its taxes optimally. Therefore, a collective decision was taken to merge the smaller company with the parent. It is ironic that the same set of people who wanted to shut down the juice business due to losses now wanted the company to be part of the parent, as it was making huge amount of profits! Thus, Dabur Foods became a division of Dabur India Limited and the entire team became employees of the parent company. It also meant that Amit Burman was no longer the CEO of Dabur Foods and he was technically out of a job.

Around the same time, there were other developments within the Burman family. Amit’s cousin Dr Anand Burman used to run a pharmaceutical business under Dabur and his company had been demerged from the parent company in 2003. Dabur Pharma focused on cancer research and had one of the biggest anti-cancer drug portfolios by the year 2007. The promoters were required to pump in large amounts of funds into Dabur Pharma as research and development was a long and arduous process. Further, there was no guarantee about the number of products that would see the light of day. Dabur India, on the other hand, was clearly gaining market share in the FMCG space and there was an identified growth path ahead. This required funds as well. Therefore, a collective decision was taken to sell off the promoter stake in the pharma company, and Anand sold it to Fresenius Kabi for a reported amount of Rs 880 crore.

Meanwhile, the leadership of Dabur India was set to transition, with Amit’s father G.C. Burman to take on the role of chairman from his cousin V.C. Burman in 2001. Unfortunately, a few weeks before that change, G.C. Burman had a heart attack and passed away and V.C. Burman continued as the head of the company. In 2007, the family decided to hand the chairmanship over to Anand Burman. ‘He was older and the family made him the chairman, and I became the vice chairman of Dabur India,’ says Amit. This leadership team has been in place since 2007.

Lite Bite Foods—entering the competitive Indian food market

After Amit and his cousin Anand moved into non-executive roles within Dabur, they both had to find other areas to focus on. Anand followed his passion and started dabbling in areas of healthcare. Within a couple of years, he had set up the Asian Healthcare Fund and was looking at investments within the space he was familiar with. Amit, on the other hand, was, and continues to be, passionate about food. He is also an entrepreneur at heart. ‘I can’t sit at home doing nothing,’ he says. Given his legacy and role within Dabur, Amit could have made food and food-related businesses his hobby. He, however, chose to make it his career.

‘My upbringing was such that I always saw my dad working hard. And even when I joined Dabur, I had to be up and ready by 8.30 a.m. to go to the factory with my father,’ he remembers. As a young man in his early twenties, there were times that he missed his ride to work. But he soon learnt that he needed to be ready at 8.30 a.m. to go to the factory on time. ‘So, even after my business merged with Dabur, it never crossed my mind that I could just sit idle, do nothing else, so to speak,’ says Amit. He was clear that he was an operating manager and wanted to build something in an area that was different.

‘The retail market in India was opening up around that time,’ says Amit. It was in 2007–08 that new shopping malls were being built and the culture of ‘eating out’ had started gaining traction. ‘My area of expertise was food and I said, “Let me try something in that,”’ Amit says simply. The mainstay of each shopping mall was the food court which drew the maximum footfall. Amit viewed it as an opportunity and shifted his focus to that area. He had already made a foray into the food business in the early 2000s when he had become a franchisee of Subway, the sandwich chain.

‘I had always been fascinated by Subway,’ says Amit. His many years in the US had made him familiar with the brand and he liked the food sold by the chain. It was happenchance that, in 2000, he was in Saket with friends Ajay Bijli and Rohit Aggarwal, and the three of them walked into a Subway outlet. ‘Amit was familiar with Subway, but for me it was new and I was blown away by the quality,’ recalls Rohit. He and Amit talked about it and within a matter of months they formed a company, Lite Bite Foods, and became a franchisee of Subway.

Amit was among the first few Subway franchisees in India. ‘I was told to spend two weeks in the US with Subway and it was challenging,’ remembers Amit. As part of the induction, the franchisee had to work across all areas of operations—from cutting vegetables in the kitchen to managing the store, from cleaning up the floors to opening the store in the morning. ‘But it was a great learning experience and I got many insights into the business,’ says Amit. ‘I learnt about employee cost and food cost, how the rent cost works in the overall profitability,’ he continues. Back in India after the training, he opened their first Subway outlet in Delhi.

The learning process continued even after the first outlet of Subway was opened in Delhi’s Rajouri Garden, a predominantly Punjabi area. The Punjabis did not quite take to the ‘thanda sandwiches’ even though the filling was that of chicken. Within months, the outlet had to be closed and another one was opened, again in West Delhi. This too did not do well and had to be shut down. It was only when the third outlet was opened in Chanakyapuri that Amit and team saw their first success. Chanakyapuri has a higher concentration of expats and they warmed up to the ‘thanda sandwiches’.

Amit says he learnt two valuable lessons about the food business due to his early experiences as a Subway franchisee. One, that the location of the outlet is of prime importance and two, the rentals of the outlet have to be kept reasonable. Armed with these learnings, he went forth to build his food business after 2007. Lite Bite Foods was already in existence and Rohit Aggarwal was his partner in this venture. Amit had well understood the importance of branding ever since his stint at selling food under the Subway brand. ‘I realized that Subway was a great brand but the royalty and marketing fee was almost at 12 per cent,’ he says. ‘Therefore, rather than keep paying royalty and marketing fee to other brands, I decided to build my own.’

The Real fruit juice brand was a successful example of one that was built from scratch. Amit had grown up surrounded by decade-old brands for company. Dabur Chyawanprash, Dabur Amla Hair Oil, Dabur Lal Dant Manjan are some of Dabur’s successful brands that he had seen during his childhood. Therefore, the decision to launch brands of his own under Lite Bite Foods seemed logical to him. But he could not use the Dabur brand as the company had nothing to do with the business. It was Amit’s personal money and business. If he had been able to use the Dabur name, he would have benefited from the brand equity of the parent brand, which had taken over 100 years to make.

The brand Dabur had humble beginnings. In the mid-nineteenth century Dr S.K. Burman, a qualified physician, went selling his Ayurvedic medicines on a bicycle in the villages and cities of Bengal. His patients started referring to him and his medications as Dabur as a combination of daktar, the colloquial way of saying ‘doctor’, and Burman, the name of the good physician. Dr Burman formulated and sold Ayurvedic medication for diseases like malaria and cholera. Buoyed by the success of the medications, a formal company was set up in 1884, the same year in which the international conference in Washington adopted Greenwich Mean Time as the standard time zone. The company was set up in Calcutta and production started after a few years from the factory in Garia. The company focused on its core strength of Ayurvedic products and continued to market them. However, with foresight, a research and development facility was set up in 1919. Here, formal research was carried out by trained scientists in the area of personal products. Dabur Amla Hair Oil was the result of this extensive research and, once launched in the 1940s, went on to become the largest-selling hair oil in the country. Dabur Chyawanprash followed soon after and became the first branded chyawanprash in the country. Such was its success that the brand became the generic name for the product. The brand Dabur came to be known for trusted Ayurvedic products. A new product launched and backed by the Dabur brand was almost certain to be successful. It is said that almost three crore Hajmola tablets are consumed daily in India; the amount of Dabur Chyawanprash consumed each year is roughly the weight of three Eiffel Towers; and the number of users of Dabur Amla Hair Oil is more than the population of Italy!

Amit was undaunted by the fact that his new brands at Lite Bite Foods did not have the backing of Dabur. Learning from his experience of Real juices, he initially spent time in scoping out the market. ‘In India, when people eat out, they tend to eat Indian food—north Indian and south Indian, Chinese and Italian,’ says Amit. His target audience was the mid-market segment, and research after research showed that among Indian, Chinese and Italian, more than 80 per cent of the dining-out market was covered. ‘Yes, there is a market for Japanese or Lebanese food, but that is at the higher end,’ explains Amit. Since he was clear about his focus segment, he kept his eyes glued on the four cuisines.

The focus on the mid-market segment was a result of his understanding of consumer behaviour. ‘Customers tend to flirt in the higher segment of the dine-out market. But in the mid-market segment, the customers are very loyal,’ says Amit. I nod in agreement as I look back on the number of new fine-dining restaurants I have been to. And I realize that I have not gone back to them, if at all, more than twice. However, when it comes to eating at food courts or ordering in, there is consistency in my choices. While my own experience was anecdotal, Amit had empirical data to prove this behaviour. ‘Young India was eating out more often. The big corporate houses were going for major retail ventures. I saw a vacuum in the niche, organized food retail,’ says Amit. He decided to fill in the gap with his brands.

Meanwhile, Zoravar Kalra, son of the celebrity chef Jiggs Kalra, had set up two dine-out brands—Street Foods of India and Punjab Grill. After establishing their initial success, the young chef needed funds to expand the brands. Amit saw an opportunity and decided to collaborate with Zoravar Kalra to run the two brands. Along with these Indian food brands, Amit set up Zambar for south Indian food, Pan Asian for Chinese and Asian, and Fres Co for Italian.

‘Our first big break came from Ambience Mall in Gurgaon,’ remembers Amit. His friend Ajay Bijli had bought the entire third floor of the mall from the developer, Raj Singh Gehlot. Ajay had wanted to set up a multiplex in the mall and wanted to subsidize the real estate cost by letting out the excess space to a food court. It was a match made in Gurgaon. Amit agreed to develop the food court next to the multiplex, and his brands had a home when Ambience Mall opened in 2007. Today all of Amit’s brands are housed in Ambience Mall. Gehlot was happy too, as he had said at that time, ‘Right now, there are a few organized players that have a mix of small and large format restaurants like Lite Bite does. Unless you have good food, it is tough to retain footfall in a mall.’ At the Ambience food court, footfall was not a problem and this big break gave the young team the confidence to look at expanding the business. As with Real, the team went about slowly, but steadily, increasing the footprint of their brands. The response from their customers proved their initial hypothesis that the four cuisines they had focused on indeed covered 80–85 per cent of the mid-market dine-out customer segment.

The brands and the outlets did well and were able to overtake the more established brands in the market. I ask Amit what the recipe of this success is. Amit measures out his reasoning and says, ‘True, there were international brands like McDonald’s, KFC and the like. But they were not catering to any of the four cuisines we were offering the customer. Burgers and sandwiches and pizzas are not staple food for mid-market Indians.’ Thus, Lite Bite Foods was able to spot the rather large gap in the market and was among the first organized players to attempt filling it. The customers gave the food their approval by coming back, again and again, for the same type of food.

While Amit did cover the larger segment of customers, he found that the food business at malls was not constant. ‘For example, the weekends are good but then Mondays and Tuesdays see less footfall. If the movies are good, then the footfall is good all days of the week, but if the movies are not good the footfall at the food outlets also take a dip,’ says Amit. Clearly, the success or failure of Bollywood products affects other businesses too! While footfall at the malls is not predictable, the travel segment was seeing increasing traffic each day. Terminal one at the Delhi airport was seeking bids for F&B (food and beverages) outlets. Since it was a small airport, the qualification criteria allowed Lite Bite Foods to bid and they were successful. ‘Fortunately,’ adds Amit, with a smile.

Lite Bite Foods started with their initial brands at the Delhi airport and very quickly realized that the footfall was considerably regular and business could be planned better. ‘We got a taste of the travel business and realized that it was an exciting one, as there is a surer predictability of footfall,’ says Amit. Indian travellers, all research has shown, spend considerable time and money on food at airports. Thus, when the larger terminals of airports invited bids for F&B, Amit and his team were aggressive in their bids. The aggression paid off and the new terminal at Mumbai opened with thirty Lite Bite Foods outlets. By now the brands started by Amit had also grown. Brands like Baker Street and Café Delhi Heights had joined the stable. With over four crore visitors in a year at the Mumbai airport, business was rocking. ‘Getting almost 60 per cent of F&B at the Mumbai airport really turned the corner for us,’ remembers Amit.

‘But my foray into the restaurant business was rocky and dates back to before all this,’ laughs Amit. Did his stint in the restaurant business not start with Subway? ‘Well, Subway was more like a hobby for me. Everyone wants to be in the restaurant business,’ he says with a laugh. He says everyone sees the glamour but no one sees the hard work that goes into the making of a good restaurant.

The initial setbacks of Amit’s Subway outlets proved to be minor bumps for Amit’s larger ambition within the food business. Today, along with his partner, Rohit Aggarwal, Amit has built a name for himself as a hard-nosed restaurateur. The learnings have all been put to good use. For example, the rentals in the malls can cost any F&B provider up to 20 per cent of the operating costs. However, Amit has managed to keep it at 8 per cent. It is not just because he has managed to get the real estate at a cheaper rate than others, but because he buys in bulk. The savings are compounded by Lite Bite Foods managing to use the space better by managing their logistics better. Rohit Aggarwal has learnt the business on the job as he comes from a family involved in textiles. However, the business genes enabled him to be a quick learner.

‘We save space by having a common place for receiving and storing our ingredients,’ says Rohit. The food courts usually have more than a couple of brands of Lite Bite Foods. Each outlet may need to have a separate kitchen at the serving counter but the back-end space is a shared one. Thus, the preparation work, like cutting vegetables and making sauces, is all done together for all outlets. Even the staff area is a shared space. This model has catapulted Amit as the owner of one of the fastest-growing food businesses in India.

While the Lite Bite Foods business was growing non-linearly, the Dabur business, where Amit is the vice chairman, kept growing consistently. One is a new business with constant excitement while the other is a 133-year-old steady one. How does Amit manage the different energies needed for the two businesses, I wonder aloud. Amit shrugs nonchalantly and says that Dabur does not take up much of his time. The management and ownership at Dabur are clearly defined and each has a clear role. ‘The family is separate from the management of the company. We have professionals running the company,’ says Amit.

Professional management—guardians of a 133-year-old brand

It is a fact that Dabur is cited by both professionals and family business owners as an example of separated ownership and management of the family business. When I tell Amit this, he is almost embarrassed at the thought of being a role model for anyone. ‘Well, it was the most practical thing to do,’ he says. The process, however, was anything but simple.

It started in the fourth generation of the Burman family. Amit is the fifth generation. The process was initiated as a way to get insights into how to grow the business exponentially. In the nineties, Dabur was a Rs 100-crore company and McKinsey was brought in by the family to give them a roadmap for the future regarding two main matters. One was how to attract professional talent to grow the business non-linearly. The other was how to avoid conflict within the family as the business continued to grow. The second matter had to be addressed before the first matter could be strategized, the McKinsey team had said.

The reality of life is that conflict in any family cannot be avoided. The case of a business family compounds the conflict. Emotional and business matters get intertwined to create disagreements which get extremely difficult to resolve. The seasoned professionals from the consulting firm knew this and their suggestion was to separate the family from the business. It meant that the family would still continue to be ‘owners’ of the business but only select members of the family, if any, would be part of managing it. ‘We told them to interview each one of us and tell us who should stay in the business and who should not,’ remembers Amit.

Easier said than done! It was one thing to ask McKinsey to interview the Burman men for a job within their own company; but it was a completely different matter getting the men to see it as beneficial to them and the company. There were many apprehensions within the family about how all this would pan out. The main question in every Burman man’s mind was, how will the company run without the Burman men involved? How will the ‘owners’ keep track of the company’s developments? What happens if the professionals run the company by themselves? Is it not likely that the professionals will think of themselves first and not the business? What happens if the business starts to fail? To all of this the McKinsey boys had a simple question: ‘Just because your last name is Burman, does that make you the most qualified to run the business? ’

It was an extremely uncomfortable question and it was probably the first time that anyone within or outside of the family had asked it of the Burman men. At that time, Dabur had eight members of the family—fourth and fifth generations—working in the company. They had all grown up seeing the business being led by members of the family and it was difficult for them to envisage a life without being an active part of Dabur. The consulting firm helped the Burman family look at the practical side of it as well. The family realized that as more Burmans joined the business, in each successive generation, it would get difficult to provide meaningful jobs to each member. McKinsey also pointed out that firing a family member for non-performance was going to be even more difficult!

What happened thereafter was unheard of in any family-owned business. Overnight, all eight Burmans quit their executive posts within Dabur. It was not easy as everyone was worried about the future. ‘But we realized that if you want to create a lasting institution and if you want to create wealth, you must have the right people in the right place,’ says Dr Anand Burman, the non-executive chairman of Dabur. The maturity shown by the Burman family was exemplary. So was their understanding of reality.

‘Dabur—the company—was part of all of us. But we were all different as we had been brought up differently,’ explains Amit. ‘As cousins, we liked each other and had a great time when we met. But the elders thought ahead to a time when all of us would join the business. They realized that relations could get sour and no one wanted that,’ he continues.

The decision made by the Burman family, with active assistance from McKinsey, was that going forward, professional managers would run Dabur. Further, no Burman would draw a salary from the company. Instead members would collect the dividends based on their shareholding and build businesses outside of the parent company. The chairman and vice chairman, both non-executive positions, would represent the family as would two other family-nominated members on the board. As the majority shareholders, the family would provide the vision and the direction to the company but would leave the day-to-day matters to the professionals. ‘We paid Rs 10 crore to the consultants to tell us that we must quit,’ Ashok Burman was quoted to have said back then!

It was difficult to hand over the running of the company to outsiders, but over the years, it has paid rich dividends both to the family and to the business. From a Rs 100-crore company in the late nineties, today it is a nearly Rs 9000-crore company. ‘I am sure that if the family had been running the business, we’d never have come up to this level,’ said Vivek Burman. The family members are happy as more than two-thirds of the declared dividends came back to the family as per their shareholding. The professionals are happy as they work in an environment where the promoters do not interfere on a day-to-day basis.

A little-told story is about the time when a new flavour—mint—of Hajmola was about to be launched. It was a quarterly review meeting in 2009 and Dr Anand Burman was in the chair. A young manager of Dabur went up to the chairman and offered him a mint-flavoured Hajmola. Eager to try the yet-to-be-launched product, Anand opened the wrapper and popped the candy into his mouth. Within seconds he screwed up his face, spat out the candy and snapped, ‘It is awful. No one can eat this stuff.’ There was pin-drop silence in the room and the young manager stood transfixed, unable to decide whether to walk away or look at his chairman. He knew that all plans for the launch of the candy were ready and the launch itself was just a month away.

Sunil Duggal was, and continues to be, the CEO of Dabur. He was the only one in the room who was not tense. In a calm voice he asked the manager, ‘What do the research results show?’ The manager grabbed the question as his lifeline and, in a relieved tone, told his CEO that the research had been positive about the flavour. Sunil told the room that they would go ahead with the launch as planned. Once launched, the mint Hajmola went on to sell a record Rs 8 crore worth within the first year itself. ‘The cornerstone of our growth is the empowerment of employees,’ says Sunil. ‘We are allowed to take risks, innovate and sometimes even fail,’ he continues.

While the family keeps away from the executive roles within the company, it does keep tight tabs on the business of Dabur through the family council. This council, set up in the early 2000s, has ten seats occupied by members of the fourth, fifth and sixth generations of Burmans. As soon as a Burman son turns twenty-five, he is eligible to be part of the council. After every board meeting of the company, the council meets in the evening. The family members on the board of Dabur take the others through the results of the past quarter. The broader business strategy and the long-term vision of Dabur are also discussed with the council periodically. The council also looks at the business ventures outside of Dabur, of various family members. Family members can invest in each other’s ventures. Since it is not the company’s money, but their own individual wealth, they are free to invest in as many family ventures as they like. ‘There’s healthy competition among all of us—it gives the other family members an impetus to grow,’ says Mohit Burman, a cousin of Amit’s. ‘I can’t be sitting in the south of France all year round when my brother and my cousins are growing their businesses.’

There may be a healthy competitive spirit among the Burmans now, but it has taken them time to get to this stage. ‘When the council had first started, there were personal issues to be discussed. But once we removed ourselves from Dabur, there was no talk about salaries, perquisites, drivers and cars,’ says Amit. ‘The bickering will happen only if someone gets something extra from Dabur. When that is not the case, what am I going to bicker with anyone about?’ he asks. The council guidelines also lay down specifically that no young Burman can work in the company for more than one year. The positions on the board, including that of the chairman and vice chairman, represent the two branches of the Burman family—descendants of the two grandsons of the founder—and are decided by consensus. Thus, the extended family gets along well and meets on occasions like milestone birthdays, festivals, anniversaries and engagements. Aditya Burman, the eldest in the sixth generation, sums it up when he says, ‘We need to spend more time with each other because we have so much fun when we get together as a family. We are a mad lot and we enjoy being that way. ’

As Amit speaks about the family council the fact that stands out most is that there are no women in the council. I ask Amit about this and he grins a little sheepishly at the woman sitting in front of him. ‘Yes, there are only men in the council. The women are kept away from the business,’ he says. I probe a little more and ask him if the women have any shareholding in the business. ‘While it is up to the individual to decide what to do with the shares, the unwritten rule is to keep the shareholding within the male members of the family,’ he says. ‘Women get married and then, in times of need, they might pledge their Dabur shares. And that sometimes causes a problem,’ he explains further. The family gives the women cash or property equivalent to the shareholding. ‘The Burman family does not want a Priyamvada Birla type of situation,’ I comment tongue-in-cheek. Amit gives a startled laugh and agrees, nodding vigorously.

Priyamvada Birla was the wife of M.P. Birla, nephew of G.D. Birla. She was the sole owner of all assets after her husband’s death. However, it was after she passed away that the larger Birla family found that Priyamvada Birla had willed her entire wealth and shareholding to an outsider, her trusted chartered accountant R.S. Lodha. The Birla family was appalled, as the holding company, Pilani Investments, had only family members as shareholders. With Priyamvada Birla’s will, a non-Birla acquired 25 per cent shareholding in Pilani Investments.

Amit is the vice chairman of Dabur by the nomination of the family council. I ask him whether there are any council roles and expectations that he has to keep in mind when he wears his vice chairman hat at Dabur. He thinks for a while and says, ‘I am an entrepreneur at heart, but Dabur is a 133-year-old company.’ As an entrepreneur, he would want to see the company grow at over 30 per cent. However, higher growth comes along with higher risk. ‘If it were my business, I would take that risk without a second thought. But since it is the collective family money, I have to be more measured,’ he says. ‘For the sake of family harmony, I am willing to compromise on the growth as the risk is not worth it,’ continues Amit. Harmony in the family is more important than that the company’s extra 8–10 per cent growth.

Since Dabur is managed by professionals, they too are measured in their projections. ‘No professional will take risks to grow beyond 10–15 per cent,’ Amit says. However, as an entrepreneur Amit is happy only when a new business grows at over 35 per cent. So is the case with Lite Bite Foods. He wants his food business to grow at over 50 per cent each year! To grow the business and move beyond food outlets at malls and stand-alone restaurants, he has identified the retail traveller segment. ‘While the footfall at malls and high streets can be fickle, there is more certainty at airports and railway stations,’ says Amit. The success of the outlets at Delhi and Mumbai airports has whetted his appetite to look at this segment with more focus. Going forward, he wants 50 per cent of his business to come from the travel segment.

‘Every day we have a rough idea about how many people are likely to pass through the airports. The airlines have the numbers,’ he says. There are twelve more airports coming up for F&B bidding and Amit is bidding for all of them. ‘Hopefully, we will be successful,’ he says, looking up as if seeking divine help for his bids. An even bigger market, however, lies at railway stations. Having travelled in trains in India, I am aware of the condition of our stations. I wonder how Lite Bite Foods will manage to deliver clean, hygienic food in smelly surroundings and whether railway travellers will pay for such food.

‘Yeah, I know the conditions of railway stations today,’ he says. People prefer to wait in their cars or taxis till the train comes to the platform. It is only then that they go to the platform and into the train. The government is working to change this. ‘I am confident that all stations will become like those in the UK—like Paddington or Waterloo—where the dwell time is more,’ he explains. People will be able to go to the station, read the newspaper and have a cup of coffee before going to the platform five minutes before the train arrives. Amit is quite sure that while it may take some time, this is the way of the future and he wants to make his presence felt at railway stations as well.

With the food business now growing as per his strategy, Amit has time to explore other business ventures too. In keeping with his track record of identifying hitherto unexplored areas, he has zeroed in on the sport of poker. To the Indian mind, poker, as a game, is identified closely with gambling. The traditional card parties at Diwali are moving away from teen patti (flush) and towards poker these days. Amit, however, sees it differently. ‘Poker is a popular mind sport across the globe and has gained tremendous traction within India,’ he says. He sees poker as a card game which has an element of luck, no doubt, but the game depends on pure skill, mathematics, the theory of probability and decision-making strategies. Along with Pranav Bagai, Amit will be at the forefront of the Poker Sports League when it commences in 2017. Amit is hopeful that the game will get increasingly popular and will be seen as a mind sport, much like chess, bridge and draughts are.

As Amit builds yet another business, there is one thing that he does not have to worry about this time. Making more profits will not get him fired from his current job!

Conclusion

A trained pilot, a barman who can mix fifteen drinks in a minute, a regular page-three person and a snappy dresser—reports in the media say Amit Burman is all these and more. The person I have met, however, is a grounded but hard-nosed businessman. A serial entrepreneur who gets his businesses growing at an exciting 50 per cent, he is rather calm and measured in his demeanour. It is almost as if he wants to downplay the legacy of Dabur.

It is a heavy legacy to carry indeed. The company today churns out revenues in excess of Rs 9000 crore annually and is seen by consumers as one of the most trusted brands in India. Along with the success on the ground, the company is keeping the Street happy as well. Equity analysts are bullish on the Dabur stock. A report by Prabhudas Lilladher says that Dabur remains a compelling play in the herbal and natural products FMCG market. This is a $100 billion (Rs 7 lakh crore) market and, despite its large size, is growing at a healthy 15 per cent year on year. Dabur, which is a $1.4 billion company, is growing faster than the industry and will continue to do so in keeping with its business plans. Analysts say that the focus that Dabur has on expanding its distribution will enable it to grow faster. Dabur has products that cut across the rural–urban divide. Further, there are some products that are medical in nature. Dabur does not want to take its eyes off any of the segments and therefore has revamped its distribution to increase coverage of chemists, to reach the rural customer directly and to focus on key urban centres. All of this will boost sales further.

Within Dabur, Real—the business that Amit grew from scratch—is the top grosser. From a fledging brand in the late nineties, it is now a Rs 1000-crore brand. It is the market leader with more than 50 per cent market share. While the world looks at Real with respect today, the company and the team were admired by their competitors even in their early years. A senior industry professional, who was part of PepsiCo, parent of Tropicana, is candid in her assessment of her competition and says, ‘Dabur had got its act together and it was a well-oiled machine.’ The ability of Amit’s team to innovate fast and manage their costs and taxes was seen by the market as a key reason for their success. ‘They were willing to fail fast and move on,’ says the senior professional. Real was able to learn from its mistakes and move the product up the aspiration list of the consumer. ‘When the consumer starts paying for the brand rather than the product, you know that you’ve made it,’ she adds.

Today, for some products of Dabur, the consumer does pay for the brand. In fact, for products like Hajmola and Chyawanprash, the brand has become the generic term for the product! In all of this, Amit, as the non-executive vice chairman, is assisted by an able professional team that manages the business. ‘The talent that Dabur has today is no different from any of the other fine companies in India,’ says Pankaj Raj, director, Search Value. ‘It is even more commendable as the Burman family itself is much larger than say that of Marico or Bharti. With so many family members, Dabur has managed to attract and retain such talent. It is unique.’ One of the reasons that Dabur has top talent staying with them for years is Amit’s understanding that, while as the owner of the business his vision is for the long term, his team of professionals may need to watch each quarter keenly. Amit has taken steps to enable the professionals to move away from the quarter-on-quarter race. To, bridge this gap, Dabur works on a four-year business plan, and the incentives, including employee stock ownership plans (ESOP) of the management team, are linked to the achievements of this four-year plan. ‘Dabur has been very generous in sharing the wealth with their top talent,’ says Pankaj. The ESOPs given out every four years have created many millionaire professionals at Dabur. No wonder Dabur has had a great success in nurturing talent within itself. The career paths of P.D. Narang, Sunil Duggal and Mohit Malhotra shine like beacons for young professionals in the company.

Keeping the professionals motivated and engaged is a win-win for Dabur and Amit, who can then focus on his own businesses. Lite Bite Foods is part of an industry that is growing even faster than the FMCG sector. ‘The total market for eating out in India is over $90 billion but the branded food and beverage industry comprises only 2 per cent of the total market,’ says Niren Chaudhary, president and COO, Krispy Kreme. Within the organized eating-out market, quick service restaurants (QSR) and casual dining restaurants (CDR) are expected to grow at a compound annual growth rate (CAGR) of plus 25 per cent. Amit has astutely honed his understanding of the cuisines and market segments that constitute the majority market share and loyalty within the QSR and CDR spaces. Building brands from scratch within north and south Indian, Asian and Italian cuisines was hard work but the team succeeded as they knew their customers well and gave them exactly what they wanted.

‘However, brands need to focus on being distinctive and then on sustaining that point of difference,’ says Niren, as he talks of the challenges that may be faced by Amit and his team, going forward. He adds, ‘Growth should be disciplined and companies should not grow for the sake of growth—profitable growth is more important. For which one needs to go in the following sequence: at first prove proposition, then prove model, and only then scale up.’

Amit had grown up surrounded by the traditional products in herbal and Ayurvedic segments. However, over the last twenty years, he has successfully built businesses which are more in line with the new age. In the mid-nineties he was the first one to launch the ‘international’ type of fruit juices. It is true he had to add colour and sugar to suit Indian senses, but the ‘style’ of packaging was copied by all others in the market. Ten years later, having established market supremacy in juices, Amit focused on Indian brands of QSR and CDR in the mid-2000s. Again, he has been able to capture the ‘mood’ of the Indian customer, and Amit’s F&B brands are capturing the imagination of the market.

Another ten years have passed. In the mid-2010s, the entrepreneurship bug bit Amit again. In keeping with his track record of being a pioneer, Amit launched the Poker Sports League. While he had looked at other sports like kabaddi, soccer and IPL, among others, what drew him to Poker was the fact that it is a mind game. It is a sport that does not require any special athletic ability. It is also a game that can be played by people of all ages, and guys and girls can play together.

‘Universities in the US—Berkeley and MIT—look at it as a sport and look at student applicants who play this sport favourably,’ says Amit. He is serious when he says this, as admission officers look at the ability to play poker as an ability to understand game theory, maths, human behaviour and the concept of probability. Such students, contrary to popular belief, are actually welcomed by universities.

Targeting youngsters this time, Amit has yet again identified a business opportunity that existed but was not seen as one by others. He may have a full hand, but he does give the impression that he also has at least a couple of aces up his sleeve.
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Marico

Harsh Mariwala

‘My office was not always like this,’ says Harsh Mariwala, chairman of Marico Limited. The company has well-known consumer brands like Saffola oil, Parachute hair oil, Kaya Skin Clinics, Revive Set Wet and Nihar. Harsh leans back in his chair and spreads his arms as he speaks. We are in his office on the eighth floor of the building. The chairman’s office is spartan, in black, chrome and white. A floor-to-ceiling glass wall looks out on to a lush green terrace garden, right outside the room. In the distance is terminal two of Mumbai airport. I can see the aircrafts, with aerobridges plugged into them. It is too far away to see passengers embarking or disembarking, but I am sure a powerful set of binoculars would do the job perfectly. As I look out, I can see an aircraft start its lumbering journey and pick up speed almost immediately, before rising into the sky. The double-glazed glass keeps the boom of the aircrafts away but lets in the sounds of birds frolicking, delightedly, in the bird bath in the middle of the terrace garden. It is hot outside and the greenery provides a soothing contrast to the bright sunlight.

‘I can see a plane land or take off every two minutes from here,’ says Harsh, also the founder of Marico Industries. ‘But when I started my business, we were at Masjid Bunder and no one wanted to come to my office,’ he says with a laugh. Harsh started his work life in the family business of the Bombay Oil Industries, which was run by his father and three uncles. The company headquarters, Kanmoor House, was a nondescript building in a narrow bylane of Masjid Bunder, Mumbai. To reach the building, one had to make way between rows of small shops selling spices, cereals and fruit. The rich aroma of spices was offset by the fumes of the trucks honking past, as they made slow progress through the crowds. It was in this building that young Harsh spent the initial twenty-odd years of his work life.

‘I used to interview professionals at the Willingdon Club and would tell them that our offices were in Masjid Bunder,’ he remembers. ‘Of course, I would also tell them that we were looking for a better location and would move soon,’ he laughs, as he remembers those conversations. ‘But wait, I am jumping ahead,’ he says. ‘Let me take you even further back—to my life before Bombay Oil.’

The family business was set up by Harsh’s grandfather Vallabhdas Vasanji for his four sons, the eldest of whom was Harsh’s father, Charandas Mariwala. Vallabhdas had come to Bombay in 1862 and joined his uncle Kanji Moorarji who used to trade in spices and agri commodities. Young Vallabhdas became an expert in trading black pepper, which is known as mari in the Gujarati language. People started calling him mariwala and the name stuck. His sons, the Mariwala boys, formed the Bombay Oil Industries Limited in 1948.

Three years after the company was formed, Harsh was born. ‘I was not born in a hospital but in our family home at Haji Ali,’ says Harsh. It was a large family as his father was the eldest of ten children. Harsh’s grandfather was so happy when the first boy of the next generation was born that he distributed gold coins to family and friends. The entire Mariwala family lived together in the same house and Harsh grew up with his grandfather, his three uncles and their families, and six aunts. ‘My married aunts would visit often and we would all be together,’ remembers Harsh. As the family grew with more children being born, additional floors were bought by the Mariwalas in the same building. The family may have lived on different floors but they all ate together as the kitchen and the dining room were common.

‘While there was a lot of bonding and family time, as the eldest, I also had to do a lot of other things. There were many duties and obligations,’ Harsh says. In the seventies, going overseas used to be important and people had to be seen off at the airport. Harsh had to make trips to the airport, even late at night, to see off or welcome back family members. ‘I think it made me more tolerant as a person. I learnt to adjust to the needs of others and not be rigid,’ says Harsh.

Growing up within the joint family, Harsh graduated from Sydenham College in Bombay. Though he was a commerce and economics student, he was clear that he did not want to become a chartered accountant. ‘I wanted to do my MBA,’ says Harsh. He sat for the exams of the MBA colleges in India. ‘But I could not get through any of them. It was not as if I was a poor student, not at all . . . but I was not among the top lot,’ he says with disarming honesty. He went to his father and asked his permission to go overseas for his MBA. The senior Mariwala refused. He was apprehensive that his son, the eldest of the next generation, may decide never to come back to India. ‘Maybe he was worried that I will marry a gori-mem,’ says Harsh, with a naughty chuckle. He was disappointed at his father’s decision but, as he says, ‘We were far more obedient in those days than our children today. So I accepted his decision.’

Harsh’s father wanted him to join the family business right away, and in 1971, Harsh started work at Bombay Oil, immediately after he graduated. The company had started as a trading business. But Harsh’s father led the transition from trading into manufacturing. ‘The manufacturing was related to the items we were trading,’ says Harsh. The family used to trade in commodities sourced from India and overseas. These included spices sourced from Kerala, and some, like copra, which are dried coconut kernels, were imported.

Since the family was trading in copra they started a crushing unit to make coconut oil. They also traded in edible oils, so a unit was started for this as well. From oils, the company ventured into chemicals based on oils such as castor oil and rice bran oil.

Bombay Oil—the hands-on MBA for Harsh

When Harsh joined Bombay Oil, it was owned by his father and uncles and run by them—a family business, in the truest sense of the word. ‘Actually, it was completely run by family, extended family and acquaintances,’ says Harsh. A confidant of the family was inducted to run a part of the business while a teacher of one of the brothers was made a general manager. Various cousins and nephews also found their way into Bombay Oil. ‘There were few systems and processes, and no structure,’ remembers Harsh, with a slight shudder. Thus, the young man was left to fend for himself in the business, as there was no one to train him. With some time on his hands, Harsh started to read business books and attended short business courses. Along with that he moved across departments and businesses to acquaint himself with the business and learn from the people. ‘It helped that I was family and therefore could move anywhere without a problem,’ says Harsh.

As he moved across business units, Harsh realized that the oil business, the mainstay of Bombay Oil, was a commodity business with low margins. Parachute and Saffola had already been launched but they were not getting the required attention through a brand lens. Parachute was sold in bulk, in tins of 15 litres to wholesalers, and Saffola was a niche business, selling in south Bombay and the posh localities of New Delhi. Harsh had heard his uncles talk of a company in Calcutta which was selling coconut oil in smaller packages under the brand of Shalimar and making a higher margin than Bombay Oil. ‘He also heard of distributors in Nagpur and Vidarbha region who were selling smaller packages of Parachute coconut oil. Harsh wanted to see the success of the smaller packs himself. Since Nagpur was closer than Calcutta, he first went to the Nagpur market. ‘It was an eye-opener for me. Since I was the first member of the family to go on a market visit, it was a revelation for the family as well,’ says Harsh. The Nagpur visit was followed by a visit to Calcutta and here, too, Harsh was fascinated at the retail opportunity that existed in the market for Parachute.

Parachute oil was seen by the traders and consumers as a superior product. It had a rich coconut aroma that set it apart from other products in the market at that time. In terms of clarity and purity too it was better than the other oils being sold. However, Bombay Oil had put all its efforts into pushing the 15-litre tins. The wily wholesalers of Nagpur and Vidarbha, on the other hand, knew the power of the Parachute brand. They pushed smaller packs of the coconut oil and sold it to their customers.

The success of the Shalimar brand and the offtake in smaller packs in Vidarbha ignited in Harsh a passion to go retail with Parachute oil. He started touring more extensively and started appointing distributors in the interior markets of western India. The products given to these distributors to sell were the retail packs of Parachute oil. After its successes in western India, the model was taken to other parts of the country as well. It was exhilarating for the young man to see the manifestation of his strategy on the ground, but the diverse nature of the Indian market threw at him unforeseen challenges. The first hurdle before Harsh was building a marketing campaign which would work all over India. With some customer insights and smart marketing inputs, the brand identity chosen for Parachute was built around four values—purity, clarity, aroma and tradition—chosen for their universal appeal. The strategy worked, and Parachute was soon the number one brand in its category.

Marketing campaigns alone, however, do not sell products. One other key reason for Parachute’s success was the packaging used by Harsh and his team. In the seventies, oil was sold in tins. Harsh wanted Parachute to be a premium brand and wanted the packaging to reflect it. He told the team that he wanted to move away from tins to plastic bottles. Plastic was cheaper than tins and plastic bottles would look more attractive on the shelves. But before making the changeover, he got a market survey carried out. The results were shocking. Traders had overwhelmingly given a thumbs down to the plastic packaging. Harsh was crestfallen but delved deeper into the reasons for the traders’ apprehensions. Interestingly, he found that the culprits were rats!

Rats love coconut oil. Unknown to Harsh, in the late sixties, someone had launched coconut oil in plastic bottles. Traders had found that the rats had feasted on the bottles and the oil had oozed out, spoiling other products kept near the oil bottles. The traders, understandably, were not keen on having a repeat of this in their shops. Harsh’s team looked at the details and found that the earlier bottles were square in shape. The rats, therefore, were able to get a grip on the bottles and then would gnaw at them.

Harsh had hired R.V. Bindumadhavan, a professional working at Ranbaxy. Bindumadhavan and the rest of the team got to work on the problem and their solution was simple—round bottles made of superior plastic. The rats would not be able to get a grip on the bottles, and therefore, would not be able to sink their teeth into the plastic. Harsh also told his team to make sure that the packaging was leakproof.

But sellers were still apprehensive. Harsh and his team were in a fix. Unless the traders tried stocking the plastic Parachute bottles, they would not be able to see for themselves whether the bottles were rat-proof. But they did not want to risk any oil leak.

Desperate times call for desperate measures. The team conducted an experiment where they put eight to ten bottles of Parachute in a cage, along with some rats. They left the cage locked for two days and the bottles came out unscathed. This experiment was recorded on camera and the sales teams were told to use this evidence as part of their objection-handling. The traders’ curiosity was aroused and they each agreed to keep half a dozen bottles to see for themselves. Slowly, the word spread and the plastic bottles of Parachute were on every shelf, and within a few years, the brand became the market leader.

Harsh was delighted at Parachute’s success as the margins in the retail business were higher than in the trade. Retail also mitigated the risk of business concentration. However, Harsh was not able to grow as fast as he would have liked to. ‘People were still seen as a cost by the family,’ says Harsh. He needed the right talent as he was expanding the distribution network. The entire sales structure needed to be strengthened. ‘I needed more sales reps and supervisors for them. But I had to go slow,’ says Harsh. The early days of living in the joint family had taught him patience and tolerance and he put it to good use in his business. He grew the business state by state. ‘I had to set up one state, prove the success there, and then move on to another state,’ says Harsh in a measured tone. It was a laborious process, no doubt, but prevented conflict within the family. ‘It took me eight to ten years to grow my distribution all over India,’ Harsh says with a wry smile. It took him almost that many years to hire talented professionals as well.

‘Our office was at Masjid Bunder at that time and professionals did not want to even visit there, forget about working out of there,’ he recollects. Masjid Bunder was, and continues to be, a congested area with narrow streets and small shops. Large wholesale businesses run out of these small shops. During the day, the area resounds with the constant honking of trucks and lorries and labourers’ chatter. It is difficult to walk in the narrow lanes without running into another person or vehicle.

Then there was the bit about dual or multiple reporting! ‘Professionals would ask me about the reporting structure. Would they report to me or my father or my uncles,’ says Harsh. With sheer patience and perseverance Harsh was able to induct some talent into the business. The focus area was, of course, sales and distribution, as people in these departments brought revenue into the company. The money, in fact, was coming in truckloads. When Harsh had started his focus on the consumer business, the total turnover of the oil business was Rs 50 lakh. However, by the late eighties the business had grown to Rs 80 crore.

By then, Harsh’s business of consumer products had overtaken all other businesses of Bombay Oil. But the overall business was still run by the family. He had little say in channelling the profits brought in by his business. By this time, his cousins had grown up and four of them had joined the family business. ‘From five we became nine Mariwalas in the business,’ says Harsh. This compounded the problem—with so many family members in the business it became difficult to attract talent. ‘I felt totally frustrated and not in control of my future,’ says Harsh exasperatedly. The main problem was that while there was authority for each Mariwala in the business, there was no accountability in the absence of laid-down guidelines. The family wanted the consumer business to continue to grow, but were not keen to let Harsh invest in building a big brand. They were also apprehensive about getting good talent if it came at the market price. The fact that the generation of Harsh’s father and uncles were in their sixties added to the complexities.

Marico—the birth of a new company

Harsh decided to take the lead in addressing the complex issues. He got together his cousins who were part of Bombay Oil and discussed the matter threadbare. ‘At the end of the discussions, we all agreed that we did not see eye-to-eye in the matters of running the business,’ says Harsh. ‘Plus, there were no synergies in the three businesses of Bombay Oil, so we wondered about the point of being together.’ Instead of a possible public conflict, the matter was resolved by creating three subsidiaries of Bombay Oil. The firm and its three divisions, thus, became four companies, with each being headed by one branch of the family. Bombay Oil remained the holding company with equal ownership between the family’s four branches. Each subsidiary company had four owners, with each branch of the Mariwala family owning 25 per cent. The consumer products division of Bombay Oil was headed by Harsh and it became Marico Industries in 1990.

At this time, a family charter was prepared. This laid down the roles and responsibilities of the Mariwala family. Each CEO, a member of Harsh’s generation, would be accountable for profitability and the return on investment to Bombay Oil and its shareholders. The cousins also agreed that every quarter each CEO would present the business details, including financials, to the rest of the family. It was also agreed that the older generation of the family would move out of executive roles and would become mentors and guides for their sons. Guidelines were laid down for the roles of younger cousins who were not yet old enough to join the business. The rules in the family charter were all-encompassing and also included lifestyle rules, including which car should be bought by all members of the family!

Harsh, thus, became the managing director of Marico in 1990 and his father, the chairman. As he had autonomy for Marico and its businesses, he now had the freedom to recruit talent and build a network of distributors. ‘You see, we had separated the management of each company, but the ownership had remained the same—25 per cent to each branch of the family,’ explains Harsh. Thus, even at Marico, Harsh and his father were owners of only a quarter of the company. The decisions to deploy capital into the company still had to be a joint decision of the extended family.

Harsh, however, looks back at those years with excitement. ‘When I look back, I think this was the best decision that I took in my life—to move away from the rest of the family to manage business under Marico,’ says Harsh. ‘If I had not done that, I would have spent all my time managing family issues.’

‘I suddenly felt that I was in control of my own future. I could plan what I want to do and what I want my company to become,’ says Harsh. But life is not that simple. With the limited financial resources available, he had to choose between launching new products in the market or building a strong organizational culture. He decided to focus on building the right team.

‘One of the first people I hired at Marico was the head of HR,’ remembers Harsh. He recruited Jeswant Nair, who had worked at Asian Paints, another family-owned business, but one which was run professionally. ‘Just the fact that he came on board changed the perception in the job market,’ chuckles Harsh. Marico was also able to grab people’s attention with some bold and innovative recruitment advertisements with catchy headlines. ‘In less than three months we were able to hire thirty to forty managers from the market,’ remembers Harsh. Getting professionals in also meant that there had to be an organizational structure. Harsh got a well-known HR consultant—Homi Lulla—to work with him and prepare the structure. The focus in the new structure was on professionals—their roles, responsibilities and decisional powers. While the professionals found the Marico story attractive, the office at Masjid Bunder continued to put them off. The solution was simple: shift to another location. The new office was at Bandra at the Rang Sharda Hotel building. ‘The entire office was an open office. I think it was the first office in India at that time to be a fully open-plan one,’ says Harsh.

South Bombay had expensive real estate and the managers found it difficult to find decent and affordable accommodation in the area. They had to resort to commuting long distances to work as they lived mostly in the suburbs. The trains were crowded and the roads were not any better. With his focus on innovation and talent, Harsh worked out the perfect solution. With the corporate office in Bandra, the managers at Marico were given company-leased accommodation twenty to thirty minutes away from the office. Prospective managers, and their families, found it a great attraction as the length of the commute directly affected the quality of their family lives.

With that taken care of, Harsh then got down to work on the quality of work life. He was clear that he wanted to build an organization which would be far removed from the chaotic and opaque system of ‘management by family’ he had grown up with. He did not want to promote nepotism or ad hocism. Ethics and values were as important to him as professional talent. ‘I spent the first two years of Marico building the culture,’ says Harsh. The task was made difficult by the fact that talent had been recruited from various companies—each with its own way of working. ‘There was a mishmash of cultures at Marico. Everybody was going in a different direction!’ laughs Harsh. While he had a clear idea about what the organizational culture should be like, Harsh also realized that he could not thrust culture or values on to employees. With the help of his consultants, he worked with the team, in groups large and small, at the office and at off-site events. Over the next two years, a document defining the culture at Marico was painstakingly drafted. ‘The best part was that since everyone was involved in the creation of the document, they felt a sense of ownership with it,’ says Harsh in a satisfied voice.

Marico then focused on attracting the right talent from the market. Harsh, as a young graduate, had wanted to study business management but had joined the family business instead. Now, he was recruiting MBAs into his organization. While he had more experience-based learning, at some level, he wanted to be able to ‘talk the same language’ as his managers. He did what Queen Elizabeth had done in the early part of her reign. She had not been educated formally and felt handicapped when dealing with senior ministers and foreign delegates. As she could not go to study outside of Buckingham Palace, she engaged the services of a private tutor who would come to the palace to tutor her in relevant subjects. Much like the queen, Harsh too engaged consultants, such as his marketing consultant Labdhi Bhandari, who was a professor of marketing at IIM Ahmedabad. The professor used to be busy during the day with his academic work. The only time he had available for the managing director of Marico was at night. Harsh, eager to learn, would take a late evening flight to Ahmedabad, discuss brand building with Bhandari all through the night, and take an early morning flight back to Bombay. It was an unusual guru–shishya relationship!

While the business was growing, so was the number of people at Marico. Potential candidates were attracted by the fact that it was a flat organizational structure with only five levels. Everyone, including Harsh, was addressed by his or her first name. ‘I wanted to build a culture of trust so we did away with the signing of the muster,’ says Harsh, referring to the attendance register. Additionally, the company did not require employees to get signed permission from their boss to travel. ‘There was no sick leave or casual leave. If you fell sick you took the day off or stayed at home for whatever time it took you to get better. We trust you—that was the message I wanted to send out,’ says Harsh. No wonder Marico soon became an employer of choice among graduating MBAs across campuses in India.

Whether it was his inherent business sense or the additional knowledge acquired through various consultants, Harsh’s business continued to grow. Parachute grew at 28 per cent CAGR after 1990. Since the original brand belonged to Bombay Oil, they wanted a royalty to be paid to them for the use of the brand. Marico had agreed to pay 0.75 per cent of the net ex-factory sale price of Parachute and Saffola. The rest of the Mariwala family was extremely happy as the Marico business kept growing! When Harsh separated his business from Bombay Oil in 1990, it had annual revenue of Rs 80 crore. In six years, he had grown it to Rs 350 crore.

Meanwhile, however, differences in opinion about how various businesses in the group were being operated led to a separation of ownership. Harsh and his youngest uncle bought out the other two uncles’ stake in Marico in 1994. The existing branches of the family wanted to be paid immediately and going public was difficult, since the capital market was going through its own sets of problems after the Harshad Mehta scam. ‘I had to borrow enormous sums of money in my personal name at interest rates as high as 20 per cent to pay off the family. But I did it,’ says Harsh in a soft voice. He speaks in a low tone as he talks of his early days at Marico. It is as if the memory of that time is tucked away at the back of his mind. Bringing it out and looking at the time gone by is not something that he likes.

The financial separation took a couple of years and those times were rather challenging for Harsh. ‘But then finally I said, “Let’s go public, let’s take the risk”,’ he says in a crisp voice, with a shake of his head. Marico went public in 1996 at a high premium. ‘And everything changed after that and now it is very different,’ says Harsh, his eyes lighting up and his voice becoming confident again. ‘Please remember that it was a difficult market at that time,’ Harsh says, emphasizing the fact that the Marico issue was subscribed twice in a depressed market. The public was offered 20 per cent of the shareholders’ equity. By this time Harsh had increased his shareholding to 50 per cent, as he had bought out shares from the extended Mariwala family over the past years. Kishore Mariwala, Harsh’s uncle, and his two sons were with Harsh and his father at Marico at that time. ‘We are together today too and there is a great degree of trust among us,’ says Harsh. Marico is guided by Harsh, while his two cousins manage the perfumery chemicals and water treatment businesses, with Harsh as the chairman of these companies.

Harsh found the new-found freedom liberating and exciting. The family pressures had been shaken off and he had financial freedom after the public issue. He felt he was the master of his destiny and he went to work to shape it with his own hands. Parachute was already a market leader, with a 56 per cent market share, and Saffola had gained traction in the intervening years. ‘I am amazed that my forefathers had the foresight to spot the potential of safflower oil,’ says Harsh. I do a quick mental note to remember that safflower is different from sunflower! His forefathers had indeed spotted the health benefits of the safflower oil but it was Harsh who had made the Saffola brand a success. The initial research had shown that the polyunsaturated fats in safflower oil helped fight increased blood cholesterol. Harsh used this fact to brand Saffola as a ‘good for heart’ brand.

The fact that Saffola was good for the heart had to be understood by the end consumer. Harsh realized that the plain in-your-face kind of advertising was not going to cut ice with the consumer. She had to be convinced that Saffola was good for her family. Marico organized heart health camps and worked with the medical fraternity—and of course, there was advertising. The other edible oils in the market at that time did not use ‘health’ as a product feature benefit. Thus, Marico had a clear first-mover advantage and Saffola’s brand equity shot up. However, there were challenges for Saffola as, following its success, there were more competitors coming into the market. Further, the needs of a consumer are not static. Saffola had to keep track of the emerging needs of the consumer and address them. Harsh chose to focus on one product benefit and consistently positioned Saffola as a brand which is ‘good for the heart’. It worked, as over time the brand proposition set itself firmly in the minds of the consumer and she truly started believing that if she bought Saffola she was doing the right thing for her family. Saffola joined Parachute as the leading brand in its category.

‘In FMCG you create brands out of nothing,’ says Harsh. I have trouble understanding this. Are brands not about products and their benefits? About perceptions? Harsh explains patiently that products are created in factories, but you don’t really need factories, as production can be outsourced. ‘But you need to create your own brands,’ he says, ‘And for that, you need talented people.’ His interactions with professionals reiterated his inherent belief that the impact is bigger if there are right professionals behind the effort. His years at Marico have only made this belief stronger. The professionals at Marico have thrived in an environment of meritocracy.

Battle with Hindustan Lever on slippery ground

While Marico grew its talent base from scratch, there was a company called Hindustan Lever Limited, or HLL, that had always been the stomping ground of talented professionals. The talent at HLL, the leading FMCG company, saw Parachute come up on their radar after Marico went public. HLL was interested in Parachute as they had acquired a brand of coconut oil—Tata Hair Oil—which became theirs after their acquisition of Tata Oils Mills Company (TOMCO) in 1995. Since the Tata brand could not be used by HLL, they had decided to launch it under Nihar in 1999. The launch was announced to the trade and the Street in a grand manner.

The team at HLL had noted the success of Parachute, and could not find any other strong competitor in the category. HLL had already acquired a small regional player called Cococare, and it seemed that they held all the cards. A tiny home-grown company like Marico did not seem like a threat to the giant multinational. There was a reason behind this confidence at HLL. The team had already scripted a success story when they dislodged the market leader, Colgate, in the oral care segment in India. Case studies of Pepsodent and Signal—toothpaste brands of HLL—were already being discussed in marketing and media circles. HLL was now ready to go to war, all guns blazing, on the slippery battleground of coconut oil.

Marico had been watching all this from the sidelines. By now, it had a strong team of professionals from the industry. Within professional circles, HLL is a platinum brand and the employees there are looked upon with respect. The team at Marico was apprehensive about taking on the big boys at HLL. ‘There was fear among our distributors and members of our field force about whether Marico can take on HLL,’ admits Harsh. There was also the fear even if Marico managed to hold off HLL, its share of the market would drop sharply. The common expectation was that Marico would fail to protect its market share, suffer losses and then be bought out by HLL for a song. ‘Many approached me—bankers and well-wishers—and they all urged me to sell out to HLL,’ remembers Harsh. The logic was that if the sale were to happen eventually, as everyone believed, it was better to do it sooner!

The management at HLL was so confident of the outcome of the impending battle that a direct overture was made to Harsh to sell out. ‘I got a call from the then chairman of HLL, Keki Dadiseth,’ recalls Harsh. It was late evening, and Harsh was in his office when he took the call. Dadiseth was polite but to the point. HLL wanted to buy Parachute from Marico. ‘Mr Mariwala, I will give you enough resources to take care of you and all your future generations,’ Dadiseth had said from his office in Mumbai’s Back Bay Reclamation. He had waited for Harsh to negotiate the price upwards. When there was only silence at the other end of the phone, Dadiseth was perplexed. Surely Mariwala was not contemplating competing with HLL? Then came the threat. ‘If I did not sell, then I would be the loser, as HLL would make sure that there would be nothing left of Parachute in the market,’ smiles Harsh, as he remembers that conversation. However, Harsh was clear that he had not set up Marico to sell out at the first inkling of competition. ‘Though he did not say it, I think Dadiseth implied that I would have to be totally nuts to reject his offer,’ says Harsh.

His mind made up, Harsh sat up with a smile on his face. He was tickled that the giant multinational even considered him a threat! In a firm voice, he said, ‘Mr Dadiseth, you may think I am a nut but you will find out that I am a tough nut to crack. Thanks, but no thanks.’

It was not an emotional call that Harsh had made then. It was a hard business decision, and to Harsh, it was a no-brainer. In 1999, Parachute was the main revenue and profit generator for Marico. Parachute was also the main identity of the company and its people. Harsh had built his team of professionals based on his inherent belief in the abilities of professionals, despite the lack of support from much of his family. Now that his team was in place, it was the time to put it to test.

The decision to fight it out with HLL on the ground prompted the Marico team to huddle with Harsh to assess their strengths and weaknesses. The strengths were clear—HLL could not create a unique product superior to Parachute. Marico had already taken pole positions in terms of aroma, colour and clarity, and HLL could not dislodge that perception from the mind of the consumer. ‘But they definitely had superiority in areas of distribution network and their ability to invest,’ Harsh says sombrely. HLL had a great communications team and the fear at Marico was that the multinational would come out with very effective marketing regarding Nihar. However, the team also believed that Nihar would be just one of the many brands at HLL.

The professionals at the corporate office were confident in their ability to take on HLL. It was the field force that needed a dose of motivation and self-belief. After all, the real battles in FMCG are fought not through advertising but on the ground, in the retail shops. Harsh realized that Marico’s distribution system in rural markets was rather weak. To overcome this, the company appointed super-distributors—distributors who would appoint smaller distributors to reach out to the end consumer. But still, the field workers remained apprehensive.

‘We had to take steps to motivate them and give them the confidence to believe that we would win,’ Harsh says in a firm voice. The corporate team came up with an evocative theme for the launch. It was called Parachute Ki Kasam (In the Name of Parachute). The launch event was prepared like a battlefield. The entrance to the main hall was through a tunnel and the hall itself was decorated like a war room. A motivational film on Parachute Ki Kasam was played for the field force. And it worked. Leaving the event that day was a fully charged team of salespeople, each prepared to protect the Parachute brand from the enemy. The sales teams went back to their territories with more support from their head office. ‘We had set up exclusive telephone lines to get information from the field and react quickly to competitive initiatives,’ says Harsh.

The bugles really sounded for battle when HLL launched Nihar with huge fanfare and an aggressive campaign. The advertising certainly made TV channels and ad agencies extremely happy! However, the Marico sales teams on the ground were ready to fight for their market share as they had all taken the Parachute Ki Kasam. The battle for Parachute was fought on the slippery grounds of the marketplace and the giant multinational was surprised at the intensity of the smaller company’s fightback. HLL had to increase their investment in Nihar to keep the battle going. HLL did manage a market share of 12 per cent, but it was not at Marico’s expense. Most of HLL’s gains came from the smaller, regional and unbranded players. HLL continued their large investments for three years, but their share stagnated. In fact, after some years the brand started losing its market share and fell to less than 8 per cent. At that level, the top team at HLL was not interested in investing in that brand any more and lost interest in the product. There were great jubilations within Marico as the oath taken by the Marico sales teams in the name of Parachute had worked.

‘For HLL, coconut oil was just one of many products. But for us it was our lifeline,’ Harsh says matter-of-factly. Further, the category was restricted to only a few countries in the Indian subcontinent. Therefore, with the market share dwindling, the Unilever office in the UK lost interest in the product. Still hurting from that late evening call from Dadiseth, Harsh started to discreetly inquire if Nihar was up for sale. Harsh used the same set of bankers and well-wishers who had urged him to sell out to indicate his willingness to buy the brand from HLL. At the multinational, there were changes in management and strategy too. Harish Manwani came on board as the non-executive chairman of HLL in mid-2005. From a strategy point of view, the Indian business started aligning itself to the global headquarters, where no one really understood this category.

Life turned a full circle for Harsh when HLL finally decided to offload the coconut oil business and called for bids. Harsh and his team of trusted lieutenants got into their war room once again, but this time with far more vigour and boosted morale. They had already vanquished the enemy. They gathered to ensure that the final nail in the coffin was driven by Marico and not by anyone else. Parachute Ki Kasam part two was launched, but this time only a small team of strategists was in the know. The board, of course, approved the bid. The Street was apprehensive, fearing that Harsh may get carried away by his emotions and overbid. Notwithstanding these concerns, Marico finally acquired the business of coconut oil from HLL in early 2006 for a reported amount of Rs 216 crore. At that time, Harsh had said publicly, ‘Nihar elegantly complements Marico’s strengths in both coconut oil and perfumed hair oils categories.’

Genesis of new brands: Mediker and Kaya

The adrenaline-filled Parachute–Nihar battle also gave an opportunity to Harsh to examine his products and profitability more minutely. Parachute was responsible for the bulk of revenue and profits for the company. Even before the fight with Nihar, Harsh had realized that he had to widen his product portfolio. He needed to reduce Marico’s dependence on Parachute. While he had been confident of his team’s ability to take on Nihar in the market, he had wanted to cover his bases as well. He scouted the market and discovered that Procter and Gamble was looking for a buyer for their anti-lice shampoo, Mediker.

‘For the sake of corporate trivia lovers, Mediker was the first acquisition by Marico,’ says Harsh. Mediker became part of Marico in June 1999 and started selling within a month. In the first two months, sales of Mediker grew 30 per cent over the same period in the previous year. It was the multinational versus an Indian company syndrome all over again. Procter and Gamble, a multinational, did not give Mediker the focus it needed. It was a small brand, no doubt, but as Marico showed in later years, it indeed had the potential to become bigger.

With his keen understanding of the Indian market, Harsh wanted his team to use a desi approach to make Mediker grow. They got down to work and found that people used to oil their hair more than they shampoo it. Mediker, however, was available only in the shampoo variant. Harsh was told that rural customers, who suffered from lice, did not use shampoos. Therefore, there was a large chunk of customers who needed the anti-lice product but would be unlikely to buy it. Marico, with enthusiastic pushing from Harsh, worked on a solution in an oil form. Mediker anti-lice oil was launched within two years and voila! The market share became almost 100 per cent. More importantly, the product gave Marico’s distribution a foothold at chemist shops.

Mediker’s growth continued during the years of the Parachute-Nihar battle. During this time, Harsh launched Kaya Clinics—a pioneering concept. ‘Most big ideas have somewhat innocuous beginnings,’ says Harsh, in a measured tone. Kaya is such an example. It began with a proposal to install laser machines at parlours for permanent removal of unwanted body hair. But the team at Marico did not find it appealing. ‘But the spirit of innovation runs strong in Marico,’ says Harsh. While the team did not find the idea of selling laser machines to dermatologists and beauty clinics exciting, they started to look at the skincare market in further detail. Beauty parlours, weight-loss centres and salons had started mushrooming across the country. But these were not regulated. There was no standardization in treatments and other procedures. The team at Marico began to visualize a skincare service which would give clients a trusted place to go.

Skincare consultants were called in from the US and they trained a small batch of Indian technicians. The prototype clinic then experimented on friends who were invited for free treatment procedures. Over time, the service model was fine-tuned and the launch of Kaya Clinic took place in December 2002. The clinics had minimalist, almost zen-like decor. Service rooms provided privacy to clients. Members of the staff were hand-picked and trained, so they could offer refined client service. The number of Kaya clinics grew to over 100 and the concept was taken to the Middle East as well. However, the challenges at Kaya were different from those of the FMCG business. It was a large opportunity but would require continued investments for a while. Based on their perspectives different investors had varying degrees of bullishness on the businesses of Kaya and Marico. Keeping these factors in mind, Harsh decided to demerge Kaya, which was a subsidiary of Marico, to list it separately on the stock exchanges in 2013, eleven years after it was launched. Upon listing, the shareholding of Kaya mirrored the shareholding of Marico.

Professionals take over from the family

Meanwhile, six years after Kaya had been launched in India, Harsh’s son, Rishabh, had joined the business. Armed with a fresh management degree from the US, Rishabh started work in 2008 in the business development division of Kaya Clinic. Harsh’s daughter, Rajvi, a year older than Rishabh, was already working at Marico as part of the brand building team. However, Harsh had made it clear, publicly, that he was not running a lala company and that family members were not automatically entitled to succeed him at Marico. He was also keen that his son gain the valuable experience of setting up an organization from scratch. In a moment of reflection, Harsh reiterates that the best decision of his life was to move away from the family business and that he wanted his son to emulate him.

The young son followed the footsteps of his father. After working with Kaya for three years, Rishabh decided to move out and set up his own venture. From the business of his father, he moved to the business of his mother! Archana Mariwala, Rishabh’s mother, had started a small unit of premium handcrafted soaps. Rishabh found the business attractive and scalable and decided to focus on growing this business. He named it Soap Opera and More.

Rishabh’s business may have been called a soap opera but there was no soap opera-esque drama at Marico over this development. Harsh continued to lead the businesses without a break. Along with this, he also oversaw his son’s new business and mentored him. At Marico, the flagship company, a professional team was in place and individual businesses were run by professional CEOs. Harsh felt it was time to transition Marico towards being a family-owned but professionally managed company.

In 2014, Harsh announced that he was stepping down from the role of managing director of Marico. It was a company that he had created after breaking away from the shackles of his family and its involvement in the business. One of the reasons he had done so was the reluctance of the extended Mariwala family to induct talented professionals into the business. Harsh, since the days when he had wanted to study business management, had believed that talented professionals held the key to any business growth. Thus, within his own company, he walked the talk. He handed over the running of Marico to Saugata Gupta, a professional who had joined the firm in 2004 as the marketing head. Ten years later, Gupta was given the responsibility of managing the entire company. Harsh is very clear about the roles and responsibilities of the managing director and himself. ‘I will manage the stakeholders’ interests and the day-to-day operations will be looked after by Gupta,’ says Harsh.

For a man who started work straight after college and did not stop for more than forty years, I ask him whether he finds his free time a void that he is unable to fill. ‘What free time?’ counters Harsh. As he talks about life as a non-executive chairman of Marico, it is clear that there is indeed not much free time. ‘I was clear that if I have to keep myself active, I want to work in areas of my passion,’ says Harsh. The areas of passion he identified for himself are innovation, entrepreneurship and preventive healthcare. Focus on innovation has been close to his heart from his early days. These days this is channelled through Marico’s corporate social responsibility (CSR) operations. He concentrated on the other two areas as part of his ‘personal social responsibility’, or PSR, obligations.

‘So, there is corporate social responsibility and then, there is personal social responsibility. I think that everyone of us needs to determine the purpose of life and this purpose can change over a period of time. For me, for my personal social responsibility, I believe that giving money or donations is not enough. I have to be actively involved in it,’ says Harsh animatedly. For entrepreneurship and preventive healthcare—his personal areas of responsibility—he wants to work as a catalyst. Investments in hardware is not something that he focuses on, as he believes that it is the software that will bring about the change. For example, he would rather train teachers who will deliver superior education than spend money in building schools. Within preventive healthcare, Harsh focuses mainly on the area of mental health.

‘People don’t realize that there are huge issues around mental health, even in slums,’ says Harsh. One of the organizations he has chosen to work with is the Tata Institute of Social Sciences (TISS). They have set up helplines for people to call or email. ‘People call or write and get advice and it is doing well,’ says Harsh in a satisfied tone. His daughter, Rajvi, manages this initiative while Harsh focuses on the other area of interest—entrepreneurship.

Harsh believes that more than funds, entrepreneurs need to learn about business. The best teachers, according to him, are other entrepreneurs. As part of his PSR, Harsh has set up the ASCENT Foundation. ASCENT stands for Accelerating the Scaling up of Enterprises and is a platform for growth-stage entrepreneurs to meet and share their experiences. ‘We have about 300 entrepreneurs in Mumbai alone and they learn from each other,’ says Harsh. ASCENT provides inputs on conducting facilitative conversations, content from a network of professionals volunteering time, huddle sessions with experts and also helps connect participants with the right guides. His aim is to have at least 10,000 entrepreneurs under ASCENT within India.

The target does not seem daunting to someone who has grown Marico from scratch and has taken on giant multinationals along the way to becoming a leading FMCG company. Harsh may have moved offices from Masjid Bunder to Bandra to Kalina, but his heart still beats as an entrepreneur.

Conclusion

Innovation and talent are the two words that are used very often by Harsh Mariwala. However, they are not just words for him; he walks the talk too. Marico is an employer of choice for young and not-so-young professionals. Innovation is a way of life at Marico.

In the twenty-seven years of its existence, Marico has built a diversified product portfolio across twenty-five countries. Today, it is a leading company in the areas of wellness and beauty. The core business of FMCG is still a strong foundation for the firm. It is present in the categories of haircare, skincare, edible oils, health foods, male grooming and fabric care. All these segments are among the fastest growing ones within the consumer goods space in India. The beauty and wellness market is scheduled to double in the next five years to Rs 80,000 crore, with an expected growth of 15 per cent. The edible oils market in India is a whopping 12 per cent of the global market. Though it is fragmented due to the many varieties of oils available, the key to Marico’s success remains its focus on ‘Healthy for the Heart’ message. Marico’s first successful brand, Parachute, dominates a category that is worth almost Rs 4000 crore. Harsh and Marico have stayed the course in not only maintaining their market share, but also growing it through constant innovation.

‘I remember that Harsh had a child-like enthusiasm about innovation,’ says Vikas Verma, a former Marico employee and now transition management consultant. Vikas was among the first set of professionals recruited in 1991 when Marico was formed. ‘Harsh would come back from his travels and throw at us a new product idea that he found in the stores,’ he remembers. Once such product was a fabric starch spray. Vikas says that the team got down to serious thinking and brainstorming, and eventually, Revive was born. Vikas also remembers the ‘brand new swanky office’ of Marico at Bandra. ‘It was the best office in town,’ he says with pride.

Almost all professionals who have worked at Marico still talk about their former employer with great pride and fondness. Says Pankaj Raj, director of Search Value, ‘There are companies like Marico, Dabur and Godrej who recognize the importance of talent to help build their organization. Further, they give professionals the environment that helps them take the right decisions, which are in the long-term interests of the organizations.’ This naturally attracts professionals to these companies. ‘Harsh also gives huge respect to professionals and this, then, flows down the line and becomes a culture,’ adds Pankaj. ‘Marico was a great place to work in. I learnt so much there,’ says Vikas. Harsh Mariwala, thus, has walked the talk even in the twilight of his career. Keeping nepotism and the ‘family-first’ attitude away from business, he has grown assiduously and then handed over the management to professionals. However, it remains to be seen, in the coming years, if professionals continue to be in the pole position at Marico. There have been instances in the past when family business owners have handed over the business to professionals but have brought back their sons as heads of companies after a few years. Eicher is cited as an example by management consultants. Vikram Lall, owner and chairman of Eicher Motors, had handed it over to professionals and moved to a non-executive role. ‘Lall had said that he would let the company be run by professionals, but today his son is firmly in the saddle,’ says a senior management consultant. Thus, only time will tell whether Marico too stays in the hands of professionals or whether a young Rishabh takes over, after having earned his stripes.

While it is difficult to predict the future, the indications are that Marico has built a strong foundation which can weather internal and external storms. The route to success may be slippery but Marico has learned to tread that path well. Parachute Ki Kasam—yeh sach hai!
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Berger Paints

Kuldip Singh Dhingra and Gurbachan Singh Dhingra

‘This is where it all started’, says Kuldip Singh Dhingra, pointing to a black-and-white photograph on the wall of his study. It is a photograph of a well-to-do Sikh family, gathered in the front courtyard of their haveli (mansion), clearly in their Sunday best. The patriarch sits in the middle with a look of pride on his face. He is surrounded by men and women of various ages—men standing with their chests out and smiling, women sitting meekly, some with their heads covered and looking, hesitatingly, into the camera. Children of all ages are sitting at the feet of the elders. One can imagine the photographer, with his head and part of the camera covered with the black cloth, looking into the lens of the camera on a tripod. One can also imagine the photographer ordering the family to say ‘cheese’ so his photo would have smiling faces. It is difficult to determine whether the family complied. But the photograph certainly shows a family that looks happy.

Kuldip represents the fourth generation of the family in the photograph. He is the owner of Berger Paints, one of India’s largest paint companies. The co-owner of the company is his younger brother, Gurbachan Singh Dhingra, and together their holding of the company is 75 per cent. And when Kuldip says, ‘This is where it all started,’ he is speaking of the year 1898 when their great-grandfather and grandfather set up a paint shop in Amritsar. Though he and his brother had five uncles and four aunts and more than twenty cousins, Kuldip says they are the true inheritors of the original business. ‘My father inherited the 1898 shop and he continued the business. So we are the direct descendants of the family business,’ explains Kuldip.

Today, Berger Paints calls itself a chemicals company that is engaged in the manufacturing of architectural coating systems, performance coatings, industrial coatings, construction chemicals and allied products. The genesis of the business, however, was quite different. ‘My great-grandfather, Bhai Uttam Singh, was an orchard owner and a wholesaler of fruits,’ says Kuldip. When Uttam Singh’s son, Bhai Kesar Singh, grew up, he wanted to diversify into some other business. ‘So how did your grandfather, Kesar Singh, decide to start a business in paints? What was the connection between paints and fruits and orchards?’ I ask Kuldip. ‘No one knows for sure,’ says Kuldip. ‘Those times were very different.’

They must have been! It was the late 1800s and all paint in India had to be imported. ‘The first factory to produce paints in India was started only in 1902 in Calcutta. It was the Shalimar Paints factory,’ says Kuldip as an aside. But back in 1898, to the young Kesar Singh and his father, Uttam Singh, trading in paints and sundry other hardware items seemed as interesting a business as any other. ‘So, our shop was started in 1898 in Amritsar and was called Bhai Uttam Singh Kesar Singh,’ says Kuldip. ‘The company was later called UK Paints.’ I ask Kuldip whether UK Paints had a British connection like British Paints even back then. He takes a sip of his green tea, closes his eyes for a bit, savours the taste and says, ‘No, no, no, UK has nothing to do with Britain. It is Uttam Singh Kesar Singh!’ The shop in Amritsar was named after Kuldip and Gurbachan’s great-grandfather and grandfather. The British Paints connection came much later when they bought Berger Paints, which was earlier called British Paints India. Incidentally, British Paints is now a division within Berger Paints.

B. Uttam Singh Kesar Singh was a big shop in Amritsar. The family was wealthy and could invest in a large shop, which had three levels, to kick-start Kesar Singh’s business. A premium must have been paid for the location of the shop as it was in the old part of the city—right at the entrance (Darshani Deori) of Harmandir Sahib, the Golden Temple. As the business took off, Kesar Singh realized that paints were the fastest-selling items in the shop and, therefore, decided to specialize only in the distribution and sales of the same. The paint business continued to do well and the family soon became known as the ‘rangwala family’.

The rangwala business prospered and in 1928, Kesar Singh bought his second shop, B. Kesar Singh and Sons, located in Hall Bazar, Amritsar. However, it is clear that the first shop is closer to Kuldip’s heart as he says, with pride, ‘When I joined the business, I used to sit occasionally in the first shop and sell paints.’ He is also proud of the fact that their grandfather built a successful business starting with just one shop. Though Kuldip and Gurbachan’s family inherited only the first shop, the second shop was also bought by their family much later from their uncles, who were not keen on the business. Their uncles had their paint shops in Mumbai and Delhi and were busy with their paintbrush-manufacturing business in Mumbai.

Kuldip and Gurbachan had five uncles, who, along with their father, were inducted into the family business by their grandfather, Kesar Singh. As and when each son grew up and showed the capability of managing a business by himself, Kesar Singh sent him off to a different city to expand the business. Mayer Rothschild had done the same in the 1760 when he sent his five sons to different cities in Europe to expand his financial business. Closer home, in undivided India, Kesar Singh sent his six sons to Karachi, Lahore, Mumbai, London and Delhi to expand the paint business. The three older sons, Harbhajan, Harcharan and Kartar, were sent to Karachi, from where Harcharan and Kartar went off to London and Mumbai respectively. Kuldip’s father, Niranjan Singh, looked after the Amritsar shop but also spent time in Lahore. He later shifted to Delhi. Kesar Singh’s two younger sons, Chattar and Dalip Singh, were sent to Delhi. ‘But since they were much younger, my father was also given Delhi as part of his business and was made the bigger shareholder,’ says Kuldip. The fact that Niranjan Singh had a share in Amritsar and Delhi besides the Lahore experience proved fortuitous for him after 1947, when Lahore went to Pakistan.

The sons of Kesar Singh worked hard to grow their business of paint distribution and trading in their respective cities. Each of the sons had trusted professionals by his side to help him with the business. ‘My grandfather had always employed professionals in the business,’ says Kuldip, and adds that it was this group of professionals that was significantly responsible for the sustained growth of the business. The business model was set by Kesar Singh and followed by each of his sons. ‘Our family culture was that the word of the eldest was the law,’ says Kuldip. This culture was present at Uttam Singh’s time and was passed on to each successive generation. ‘There was no way any of us could question the word of the elders,’ asserts Kuldip. Thus, when Kesar Singh decided that each business had to employ professionals, all his sons followed his advice.

The professionals inducted into the business were called ‘working partners’ and were given a share in the profit. The working partners did not invest any money in the business but worked as de facto CEOs to manage and grow the business. Over the years, the shareholding of each working partner reached as high as 20 per cent to 50 per cent in his respective business. It seems to me that this was one of the earliest models of profit-sharing, set up in the early 1900s for professional managers!

While the professionals were called working partners, Kesar Singh and his sons were known as owner partners. All investment into the business, by way of purchase of shops, warehouses and other assets, was done by the owner partners. Rent was paid to them by the business for the properties used. The working capital required for day-to-day operations, including stock and inventory, was also provided by the owner partners and interest was paid to them for the funds loaned to the business. The profits, after netting off all the costs, were shared between the working and the owner partners, in the ratio of their pre-determined shares. It was an arrangement that worked well and suited both parties. The better the business did, the higher the profit was. This meant that the profits that came to the working partners were also higher. The working partners understood this model well and worked hard to grow the business. In hindsight, Kesar Singh had worked with great foresight!

‘The working partners formed the backbone of the family business,’ says Kuldip. The owner partners depended on their working partners not only for the growth of the business, but also for their own work–life balance. ‘The sons of Kesar Singh would come to their shops each day, work till the afternoon. After lunch, they would go to the club and play tennis, squash or cards,’ says Kuldip Singh with a delighted laugh. ‘The running of the day-to-day business was left largely to the professionals and it prospered, thanks mostly to them,’ he says.

‘Your father had worked in the Lahore business and your older uncles owned the Lahore and Karachi businesses. So, what happened after Partition?’ I ask Kuldip, as I accept a glass of juice from freshly squeezed keenus from their farm. He says that the Lahore shop and one of the Amritsar shops were burnt during Partition. The Karachi business was sold off. Karachi had grown to be the largest business and, again with foresight, Kesar Singh had hived off that chunk of the business from the family and had given it to his three older sons. ‘All shops, warehouses and houses were given to the three sons. There was a big house called Dhingra Mansion in Karachi. That was also given to the sons,’ says Kuldip. It is another matter that eventually the Dhingras from Pakistan moved back to India. They chose Mumbai and Delhi to set up home. Back then, that is after Partition, only Delhi, Mumbai and Amritsar remained as part of Kesar Singh’s business, and Niranjan Singh, Kuldip and Gurbachan’s father, had a significant share in both the Delhi and Amritsar businesses.

The legacy of Niranjan Singh

Niranjan Singh was an ambitious man and at the time of Partition, he was only twenty-seven years old. In the new India, he saw an opportunity and expanded the business in Delhi, where he was the majority partner. His two younger brothers had smaller shareholding in the business. The brothers, under the leadership of Niranjan Singh, worked hard and set up a factory—Dhingra Paints and Colour Varnish Private Limited—at Najafgarh Road in Delhi to manufacture paints. Since business was booming, the brothers bought another shop in Delhi for their trading activities. Niranjan Singh was not content even after expanding the business. He believed that the import and export of paints had potential and explored countries that he could do business with. He had even travelled to Japan when he was nineteen years old to explore business opportunities! Niranjan Singh had his eyes set on becoming a leading businessman.

While the business was growing well, his younger brothers, Chattar and Dalip Singh, felt that they were getting the short end of the stick. They wanted to separate from their older brother. In keeping with the family culture, the split took place without much acrimony. The word of the eldest was law in the Dhingra family and the brothers looked towards their father, Kesar Singh, who was still alive, for guidance. Kesar Singh was a pragmatic man. He had already divided his own business by giving the Karachi, London and Mumbai arms to his three older sons. He had seen that even though the business was split, the families of the sons had maintained cordial relationships with one another. So, in the same way, he helped his three younger sons to work out a division of their business as well. The business was divided and Niranjan Singh was left with the 1898 shop and the paint factory at Najafgarh Road in Delhi. The families of the brothers remained cordial to a large extent. ‘Even today, all of us meet as a family,’ says Kuldip. After the split, free from the shackles of the other two brothers, Niranjan Singh worked harder to grow the paint business, not only in India but also in Russia and Japan. He had, by then, set up a second shop in Delhi and called it B. Kesar Singh Niranjan Singh.

The love and respect that Kuldip has for his father is evident from his voice when he talks of him. What comes through, clearly, is also the regret that he lost his father at a very early age. Kuldip was only ten years old when his father died. Kuldip was not even in Delhi at that time. He was away at military school. ‘I had always wanted to join the army,’ remembers Kuldip. He was sent off, at the age of nine, to King George’s Royal Indian Military College, Ajmer. ‘It is known as the Rashtriya Military School today,’ says Kuldip. ‘Did your mother agree to send you away at this very young age?’ I ask, as I look at the black-and-white photograph of his parents. It was the family culture to obey the husband and Niranjan was clear that his elder son was to become an engineer and Kuldip, an army man. But Niranjan Singh was not an autocratic father. ‘He used to indulge me a lot,’ says Gurbachan with a fond smile. ‘Once I wanted a monkey as a pet and he got me one!’

The school at Ajmer had just a couple of non-army children, but Kuldip loved it there. ‘It was fantastic and I was loving it,’ he says, his eyes twinkling. If fate had not intervened, Kuldip might have gone on to become a general in the army, commanding troops. Instead, one day, he was suddenly called home.

‘I was told to pack my bags one day,’ says Kuldip. He was sent to Delhi, accompanied by a staff member from the school. He had no clue why he was being called home. ‘When I reached the gate of our house in Golf Links, my cousin told me, “Your father is dead,”’ he remembers. The shock that the ten-year-old Kuldip must have felt is still clear in his voice.

Niranjan Singh was only thirty-seven years old when he died. As Kuldip describes the events leading up to his father’s death, he still gets goosebumps. Niranjan and his brothers lived in Golf Links in 1953. They had bought land there to build their respective bungalows. Niranjan acquired one plot, while, his eldest brother, Harbhajan, who had come back from Karachi, bought another plot, and the two younger brothers—Chattar and Dalip Singh—together bought a third plot. ‘We all lived together in Golf Links in three separate bungalows,’ says Kuldip. One of their neighbours was a famous surgeon of that time. The good doctor and Niranjan Singh used to go for their morning walks together. During one such walk, Niranjan Singh told his doctor friend that he occasionally felt some pain in his stomach.

‘My father had earlier travelled to Japan and was planning to go to Russia next,’ says Kuldip. Niranjan Singh was very excited about the upcoming trip to Russia, as he believed that business with Russia would go well. The slight worry he had was around the occasional mild ache he had in his abdominal area. The doctor listened to his friend and said that the pain could be due to problems with his appendix. ‘He told my dad that the appendix is basically a useless organ. If he went to Russia and developed pain there, he would be in trouble as doctors in Russia were not good,’ says Kuldip, with an incredulous look.

Niranjan Singh took his friend’s advice seriously and agreed to have the appendix surgery done, without taking a second opinion or undergoing any other test. ‘There was no need for him to go in for that operation,’ says Kuldip agitatedly. The surgery went all wrong. A blood vessel ruptured during the procedure. Niranjan Singh died on the operating table. ‘My mother did not know what happened. There was blood all over,’ Kuldip’s voice chokes with emotion as he says, ‘He killed my father on the table.’ The pain, hurt, anger and bewilderment is evident as Kuldip wonders how a person the family considered a friend could do this to their father. Taking control of his emotions, he rationalizes it today and says, ‘But it was fate.’

It was indeed fate that brought the booming business to a grinding halt. Niranjan Singh was survived by his wife, Surjit Kaur, and their four children. At the time of the unfortunate death, the eldest son, Sohan Singh Dhingra, was in his first year at IIT Kharagpur, studying civil engineering. Kuldip was next, followed by Gurbachan and then their sister Ashi. ‘My mother was in a state of total shock and business was the last thing on her mind,’ says Kuldip. The young widow had been left with the responsibility of four children and this was the primary worry clouding her mind. Among the first things that their mother did was to recall both her sons from Kharagpur and Ajmer. She needed her entire family around her. Sohan and Kuldip came back without a murmur. The Dhingra family culture and values rose to the occasion and Kuldip’s uncles helped their sister-in-law unequivocally in both personal and business matters. While the family was deciding the future of the business, Surjit Kaur decided to send her eldest son back to IIT. ‘Mom realized that her eldest son needed to complete his education at IIT and so he was sent back,’ says Kuldip. Kuldip, on the other hand, was not sent back to Ajmer. He was admitted into Delhi Public School in Delhi where Gurbachan was already studying.

Continuing the story, Kuldip says that after their brother went back to IIT, their mother dismantled the Delhi business. ‘She had no idea about running the business,’ he says. The uncles helped her sell their factory at Najafgarh to National Chemicals, shut the Delhi shop, and also close down the import and export business. To earn interest for the family, the proceeds from the sale of business was invested in companies like Prem Nath Motors which had a good reputation. Prem Nath Motors is a well-known company (no connection with the Dhingras) which took deposits from people who invested money and let them earn an interest rate better than what banks provided at the time.

Kuldip and Gurbachan’s uncles rallied around the young widow and helped her to manage the financials, legalities and other matters. They helped her rent out one floor to the Romanian Embassy. The rent added to the family income. The family was not wanting financially, but the business that Niranjan had so assiduously built had come to an end.

While Surjit Kaur sold off the Delhi business, the Amritsar shop continued to be close to the family’s heart. They could not, and did not want to, sell that piece of inheritance. Two managers were running the Amritsar shop.

‘These were not working partners with profit-sharing. They were just managers,’ explains Kuldip. The question before the family was how would Surjit Kaur manage the business in Amritsar as well as her young children in Delhi. To add to the problem was that she had no experience of running either the shop or the business. The family fell back on their ‘culture and values’ to solve this problem.

‘My mother went to Amritsar and took the managers with her to the Golden Temple. There, in front of Babaji, she made them swear that they will work honestly and not cheat,’ says Kuldip. The two managers bowed before the Granth Sahib and took an oath that they would work hard with honesty and not cheat the family. The two managers were made profit-sharing partners after they swore to work in the interest of the family. ‘Each of them were formally given 25 per cent share of the profit,’ says Kuldip. The rent continued to be paid to Kuldip’s mother for the shop and the warehouses, as well as the interest on the working capital provided, and the balance 50 per cent of the profit from the Amritsar shop was now added to her income.

‘The two managers worked honestly all through the years,’ says Kuldip. Once a year, the two working partners would come to Delhi to meet Surjit Kaur. ‘They would present the books of account to her and hand over the cheques for the 50 per cent profit,’ remembers Kuldip. This can happen only in a family business! It would be unthinkable for a professional CEO to take a couple of his senior people to the temple and make them take an oath of honesty. But it worked for the Dhingra family and the new working partners kept the business going and growing.

Thus, the matter of the Amritsar shop was settled and Surjit Kaur and her younger children got back to the routine of their lives in Delhi. Sohan Singh went back to IIT Kharagpur and completed his graduation. ‘He was a star,’ says Kuldip with pride in his voice and adds, ‘He was a national-level basketball player and a swimmer. He played water polo and was a hammer/javelin thrower.’ Kuldip stands up and excitedly pulls out his mobile phone to show me some photos of his brother, who passed away in 2002.

‘My nephews found these old photos and sent them to me,’ he says with enthusiasm. The black-and-white photos show a tall and muscular boy and Kuldip says, ‘He was over six feet tall, had light greenish eyes and was extremely handsome.’ I too get up to take a look at the photos and we both laugh delightedly, like smitten kids, stare at the biceps of Sohan Singh in the photo and say, ‘Dole-shole to dekho (Just look at those muscular arms)!’

The IIT Kharagpur best-all-rounder Bhandarkar Cup awardee had many job offers at the campus but Sohan Singh decided not to turn a professional. ‘His logic was simple,’ says Kuldip. Sohan Singh told his mother that while he was an engineer and could get a job, he was worried about his younger siblings as he was not sure about their career prospects. ‘But I was very good in studies,’ says Kuldip a bit indignantly, and adds, ‘Had I wanted to, I could have joined the IAS.’ Anyway, Sohan Singh came back to Delhi and was asked by the younger two uncles, Chattar and Dalip Singh, to start a new business with them.

‘My two uncles, who had separated from my father, had a very big shop in Delhi. They were doing extremely good business,’ says Kuldip. The uncles saw in Sohan a young, intelligent engineer who could be an asset to their own business. They also saw in Sohan a fatherless boy who had no family business to fall back on. ‘The Delhi business had been shut down and the factory had been sold by my mother after my father died. The Amritsar shop was self-sustaining as well,’ says Kuldip. So, if Sohan Singh wanted to get into business, he had to start something afresh. Instead, the option before him was to join hands with his uncles. They wanted him to start a new line of business of getting and executing painting contracts. Any large building that needed to be painted could be handled by Sohan Singh and the team. Thus, Sohan Singh started sourcing and executing painting contracts.

Back from the dead with Rajdoot Paints

Fate, which had played its hand in bringing the curtains down on the thriving business of Niranjan Dhingra, now saw an opportunity to correct its mistake. The uncles in Karachi, London and Mumbai had inherited the 1928 shop in Amritsar. They also owned a shop in Delhi. They had decided to settle down in Delhi and Mumbai. They wanted to sell the Amritsar shop, operating under the name of B. Kesar Singh & Sons, since they were not able to manage it. The younger uncles in Delhi—Sohan Singh’s partners in the paint execution business—wanted to get hold of that shop. They were powerful dealers and distributors of popular brands of paints, including Jenson and Nicolson, Nerolac, Snowcem and others. They did not have a distribution outlet in Amritsar and saw it as a god-sent opportunity to expand their geographical reach. However, the two working partners in Amritsar, who now worked for Surjit Kaur, Kuldip’s mother, saw the situation differently.

‘They came to my mother and told her that if Chattar and Dalip Singh acquired that shop in Amritsar, it would affect the business of the 1898 paints shop very badly,’ says Kuldip. The working partners were sure that, as one of the largest distributors, Chattar and Dalip Singh would use their influence over the paint companies and edge the old shop’s business out. The solution, according to the working partners, was simple—the Niranjan Singh Dhingra family should buy the shop.

‘The idea was good but a difficult one, as we did not have enough money,’ remembers Kuldip. The family saw merit in the advice of the working partners. The idea resonated with Sohan Singh too, as he was not happy working with his uncles. An intelligent man, he wanted to break out on his own and restart the business that their father had left midway. The family decided to speak to the uncles in Mumbai and Delhi and ask them if there was a way they could buy the shop. Chattar and Dalip Singh were not happy and immediately offered a cash-upfront deal to their older brothers. ‘But the elder uncles wanted to help us. They saw that we had no father and we were young boys,’ says Kuldip. The uncles finally agreed to sell the shop to them. There must have been some emotional blackmailing as well by Surjit Kaur and Sohan Singh, but all is fair in business! ‘We paid upfront whatever money we could, and paid the rest over the next seven–eight years,’ says Kuldip. He adds that full interest was also paid to the uncles. While Chattar and Dalip Singh were not happy with this, it was the family culture that came to the forefront. Since Harbhajan and Kartar were older, everyone had to obey them and there was no question of disagreement. ‘Even today, all of us are close as a family—all uncles, cousins, everyone,’ says Kuldip proudly. It was the family culture during Uttam Singh’s time and it continues even today.

With two shops in Amritsar, Sohan Singh decided to quit working for his uncles and manage his own business. Surjit Kaur decided that it would be better to move her family to Amritsar. ‘It was sometime around 1961 or so that we moved back to our roots,’ says Kuldip. The Romanian Embassy was happy to rent the entire house in Golf Links, instead of just the one floor they had already, and the Dhingra family went to Amritsar.

Young Kuldip was in the middle of his tenth standard and had to change school mid-session. But it did not matter as the important part was that Sohan Singh was starting from scratch to resurrect the business that had been allowed to fold up. The two working partners were given new terms for profit-sharing as there were now two shops instead of just one. ‘They were told that their share in the profit from both the shops would be 15 per cent each, instead of 25 per cent each from the single shop,’ says Kuldip. There was a minimum guarantee given as well.

‘They were told that whatever profit they were earning at that time would be protected, should the 15 per cent be lower,’ Kuldip says. Thus, it was either the base amount of their then-current earnings or 15 per cent of the profit of the two shops, whichever was higher. ‘The 15 per cent was much higher than the 25 per cent from the one shop,’ says Kuldip and adds that the working partners had gotten a ‘damn good deal’!

The working partners continued to work in tandem with Sohan Singh and the retail and distribution business grew. However, Sohan Singh, the fourth generation of the Uttam Singh family, had a deep desire to revive the family business. Sohan’s father had set up and run a factory and now, Sohan wanted to start one too. ‘But we had no money to buy land,’ says Gurbachan very matter-of-factly. Unlike their grandfather, who started with a big shop in a prime area in Amritsar, in 1962, Sohan Singh rented a shed on the outskirts of the city and set up a mini paint factory.

‘It was a small shed—only 15 ft by 30 ft,’ says Gurbachan. The legacy of their grandfather was kept alive as the factory was named UK Paints. Sohan Singh produced paint in his shed-factory and also sat at the shop to sell it. The two shops, which used to sell paints of other companies, started pushing their own paint, under the brand of Rajdoot Paints, to customers. Business ramped up nicely. One of the working partners was a good travelling salesman. He was given the responsibility of getting orders for Rajdoot Paints from Jammu and Kashmir, Himachal Pradesh, Punjab and other parts of north India. This was also the time that young Kuldip finished his ISC examinations in Amritsar. ‘It was December 1963 when my exams got over and my brother said, “Aajaa hun baith dukan tey (Come and sit at the shop now),”’ laughs Kuldip and adds, ‘My brother was waiting for me to finish school.’ But Kuldip did not want to join the business just then. He was a young boy, who had just finished high school. He wanted to experience a bit of life before getting into the daily grind of the factory and shop. He told his brother that he wanted to graduate before joining the business.

Sohan Singh, an IIT merit holder graduate, told his brother, ‘Look at me. I went to IIT, par main wee tey dukaan teyr hi baitha nah? (I went to IIT, but I am sitting at the shop, right?) What is all this padai-shadhai (studying)? It is all useless.’ But Kuldip persisted and asked for three years’ time from his brother. Sohan Singh relented and said, ‘I need you very badly, but go and study. Magar jaldi jaldi aa jaana (But come back soon).’ While he waited for Kuldip to come back to Amritsar, Sohan Singh initiated his youngest brother into the business. ‘I remember studying and then, during the holidays, going on cycle to our mini paint factory at Batala Road in Amritsar,’ says Gurbachan. ‘Kuldip bhapa went off to study,’ he adds.

Kuldip went to Chandigarh armed with his mark sheet and sports certificates. Like his elder brother, he too was an athlete and had won high jump, shotput and other competitions. He had also represented Punjab and Delhi in table tennis. Chandigarh Government College gave him a seat in their BSc degree course, with honours in chemistry. ‘I thought that we have a paint business, so chemistry would be good,’ he says. But before the session started, there was a gap of a couple of months and Kuldip took that time off to go to Delhi to visit his cousins.

‘As soon I reached Delhi, all my cousins together said, “Oye Kuldip, tu Chandigarh kyun jaa raha hai? Othe tu kinnu jaanda hai? Dilli aaja asi saare aithe hagein aan (Kuldip, why are you going to Chandigarh? You don’t know anyone there. Come to Delhi and we are all here),”’ says Kuldip. It made complete sense to the young boy. He did not know anyone in Chandigarh, and in Delhi, he had his cousins and their friends. But there was only one problem—the admission process for Delhi University was over. The only option was to try to get admission under the sports quota. An appointment was fixed at Hindu College for Kuldip. Impressed by his sports certificates, Hindu College agreed to admit him in BSc (general). When Kuldip insisted on joining the BSc course with honours in chemistry, he was told that once he was in, and there was a vacancy, he would be given what he wanted. ‘There was one sports master, Mr Sondhi. He had said, “Join kar le, chap, phir dekhi jayegi! (First join, then we will see!),”’ laughs Kuldip, clearly finding being called a ‘chap’ quite funny, even today.

The ‘chap’, however, went across to St Stephen’s College. There also they said that he could join, but only in the BSc (general) course. The college told him that moving to chemistry, even after he joined college, would not be possible. Kuldip preferred Hindu College as there was a sliver of hope of his getting into the honours course for the subject of his choice later. ‘But what nailed it for me was that I saw some friends from DPS walking around in Hindu College. They yelled out, “Oye, Kuldip, we are here. We are in the hostel and you will be in the hostel too. Why are you looking at Stephen’s?”’ laughs Kuldip. The matter of choosing the college was sorted out that afternoon. That done, he joined Hindu College but never went back to the principal to ask to be moved to chemistry honours. And Sohan Singh kept up the pressure to say the subject was not important; what was important was that Kuldip finished his graduation and joined him at Amritsar.

Kuldip graduated in 1967 and went back to Amritsar. Once there, he told his brother, ‘I have seen your life and I know that once I join, I will spend all my time at the factory and the shop.’ He asked for a few more months for himself. ‘I wanted to travel and see the world,’ says Kuldip. Once Sohan Singh agreed to let him go, he went off and spent six months hitchhiking across Asia and Europe.

‘I had a sleeping bag and a few dollars in my pocket,’ remembers Kuldip. He went from Mumbai to Khorramshahr on a cargo ship that was also carrying pilgrims to Iran. From there, he hitchhiked his way across the whole of Iran and then Turkey, before crossing over to Europe. Those were the days of the Iron Curtain, but it did not stop him from travelling through Bulgaria, Yugoslavia, Austria, Germany and France. He made good friends during his backpacking trip and one of them came in useful years later. As a backpacker, even though he was living frugally, he was running out of money. To earn money, he took up a job in Paris and then Holland. ‘I did not want to ask my family for any money,’ explains Kuldip. It is a matter of happenchance that Kuldip did not stay on in Europe.

‘Sohan bhapa got a letter from Kuldip bhapa in which Kuldip bhapa had written that he wanted to stay on in Holland,’ reminisces Gurbachan, as he looks out at the lawns of his farmhouse, where his grandson plays on the swings. Kuldip was working in Holland and, as a young man, was enjoying the freedom away from home. But family values prevented him from staying on without the required permission from the eldest in the family—his brother, Sohan Singh.

Kuldip wrote and waited for a reply. But there was no reply for two months. Kuldip took that silence as a ‘no’ from his brother and decided to return home. Working his way back home, he reached Afghanistan and found that he could not travel on land any more. Pakistan was out of bounds for Indians, so Kuldip had to take a flight back home.

‘Actually Sohan bhapa did not get the letter for more than a month for some reason,’ laughs Gurbachan. ‘And he did write back to Kuldip bhapa giving him permission to stay on in Holland. But Kuldip bhapa never got that letter.’ It was as if fate was calling Kuldip back to Amritsar.

‘Once I reached Amritsar, I joined the business and there was no looking back for me,’ says Kuldip crisply.

Stephen’s jayega to mere jaisa sirf padhakoo ban kar rah jayega

Kuldip joined his brother and started working in the shops. Since the working partners had been running and managing the old 1898 shop, Kuldip started managing the newer shop. ‘And business at this shop doubled. Everyone liked me,’ says Kuldip delightedly, as he remembers those early years. While Sohan Singh was brilliant in intellect, he was a simple man when it came to his dealings with other people. Kuldip, on the other hand, was a natural people person. He endeared himself to the customers who were happy to deal with a youngster. They all told him that he was a good salesman.

Kuldip thrived in his new role and continued to create loyal customers and grow the business. ‘One of our customers was a very rich fellow, Mr Virmani,’ says Kuldip with awe in his voice. ‘Mr Virmani used to deal only with me and kept telling me that he had never met a better salesman than me.’ I find it extremely ironical that the twenty-fourth richest man in India today—part of the top fifty Asian business families—still speaks of Mr Virmani as a ‘very rich fellow’ and with awe in his voice!

While Kuldip loved his hands-on sales training in the shop, Sohan Singh ensured that he spent time at the factory as well. After two years, Sohan Singh believed that his younger brother was ready to expand the business on his own. ‘I was sent to Delhi to start the business from scratch,’ says Kuldip. He came to Delhi and requested the Romanian Embassy to give the ground floor back to him. ‘I needed the garage and the backyard to store the paints,’ explains Kuldip. He worked from the house and did not need an office. Working from home was also a way to save money.

‘We were the poorest in the family at that time,’ says Kuldip simply. Gurbachan agrees and says, ‘There were times when there was no money even to pay my college fees. Sohan bhapa used to tell me to wait for a day so he could take money out from the sales proceeds of the shop the next day.’ Looking up at the ceiling as he remembers those days Gurbachan adds, ‘He used to say, “Ke factory khu wakan hondi hai, edeh wich jinne paise paye jayo oh lagi jan ge (A factory is a bottomless well. Any and every bit of money you put in it will disappear!)” This is true even today.’

In spite of the closeness of family relations at a personal level, Kuldip’s family felt they were looked down upon as the poor cousins by the rest of the Dhingras. When they wanted to rent an office in Ajmeri Gate after Kuldip started business in Delhi, ‘The relatives did not even want to lend us any money for the pugree (an upfront payment for the rent),’ Kuldip remembers. In fact, the uncles and their families actively dissuaded the two youngsters, Sohan Singh and Kuldip Singh, from expanding their business. ‘They said, “Inna rent aa raha hai . . . ki zaroorat hai khaali karvane ki (Why do you want to stop the rental income from the house)?”’ says Kuldip with a laugh. The relatives also asked Kuldip and Sohan to rethink their decision to start business in Delhi.

The not-so-gentle admonitions of the relatives notwithstanding, Sohan Singh and Kuldip Singh were determined to succeed. ‘My brother told me, “So what if we have nothing? We will work hard and set up our own business,”’ says Kuldip. The spirit of their father was truly alive in them. Sohan Singh, however, knew that he was a simple man with academic leanings and he needed his younger brother by his side to make the business work. ‘He was thrilled when I joined the business. He always said that people take advantage of his kind nature and that he wanted me to be more street-smart,’ remembers Kuldip with brotherly pride.

It was also one of the reasons that Sohan Singh wanted his brother to go to Hindu College instead of St Stephen’s. ‘He told me, “Hindu goondaon da college hai. Tu othhe hi jaa. Stephen’s jayega to mere jaisa sirf padhakoo ban kar rah jayega (Go to Hindu College as it will teach you to be street-smart. If you go to Stephen’s, you will become an academic like me),”’ remembers Kuldip. The two brothers, complementing each other’s strengths, were determined to set up a business that had been their father’s dream.

Kuldip took charge in Delhi and the upcountry market. He would meet customers and sign up new dealerships for Rajdoot Paints. ‘I used to work from Golf Links and I would drive in my car with the stock of paint in the back to make deliveries to customers,’ says Kuldip. The hard work and enthusiasm paid rich dividends and the business in Delhi boomed. ‘I made Rs 10 lakh sales in the first year itself and that too, for only the Delhi territory,’ says Kuldip with deep pride. The pride is well deserved as the two shops in Amritsar, after many years of operation, were making just over Rs 6 lakh of annual turnover and it included the factory production as well!

While the Rajdoot business was growing, the children of the working partners were also getting older. The second generation of the working partners had their own ideas about the business and there were rumblings of discontent. ‘Working with them was becoming cumbersome, but my brother did not want to take any action as he was still unsure of me,’ says Kuldip. Sohan Singh waited for a couple of years before precipitating matters with the working partners. In those years, the partners did not help matters as they bought land in secret, to set up their own paint factory for their children. This, to the Dhingra brothers, was a clear case of conflict of interest and betrayal of trust. ‘As soon as my brother saw that Delhi was doing well, he decided to split from the partners,’ says Kuldip. It was history repeating itself as Niranjan Singh had split from his two brothers in 1954, and in 1972 his sons had decided to split from the two working partners.

While the parting was not dirty, it was not easy either. The partners had a 15 per cent share each, in all of the Singh brothers’ businesses, making them collectively a 30 per cent shareholder of the business. They demanded their pound of flesh from the brothers, they asked for the 1898 shop, along with its inventory, customers and workers. ‘It was very painful,’ remembers Kuldip and adds, ‘We were also very angry. How dare they demand our heritage?’ Kuldip says. Sohan Singh, the elder brother, calmed the raised emotions and agreed to give the partners the original shop with the permission to use the name for a period of five years. In return, he ensured that the partners relinquished their claims to the rest of the business.

Now that it was a Dhingra family business once again, the brothers charted out the division of work between themselves. Sohan Singh concentrated on producing the paints in Amritsar and Kuldip Singh focused on selling. His younger brother, Gurbachan, an economics graduate from Punjab University, managed the Amritsar shop, production and the formulations at the factory. ‘This experience of paint sales at our shop has been very valuable in my life as I would manufacture what the customer wanted and kept improving the quality,’ says Gurbachan, as he looks back at his early years. With Sohan Singh as his guru, it had not taken young Gurbachan long to learn the intricacies of chemical engineering. With Kuldip as the salesman, the factory could not produce enough to keep up with the demand. Competitors in the market could not understand how a newcomer and novice like Kuldip could ramp up the business so fast. ‘He identified the segment for Rajdoot and focused on it relentlessly,’ says Sushil Luniya, building industry expert of thirty years. He adds, ‘They were the organized ones in the unorganized sector.’

‘It was not easy, but it was not difficult either,’ says Kuldip. He used his keen understanding of people’s behaviour, something that he must have picked up on his long hitchhiking trip, in the business. He realized that selling goods on credit to dealers was part of the business. If he wanted to sell more, he would need to extend credit and he would need working capital to continue the business till the money was paid. The credit period could vary between three and six months in the traditional Amritsar business. In the seventies, getting working capital or business loans from the banks was not simple for small businesses. Kuldip was a man in a hurry and kept telling his brother to increase production. However, funds were the constraint here as well. So, Sohan Singh told Kuldip, ‘Yeh aise hi tuk-tuk karke chalega (business will grow slowly).’

Not willing to grow slowly, Kuldip devised an innovative method to get money in advance. He launched a deposit scheme for his dealers. Dealers could give money to the company as a deposit and earn an interest that was two percentage points higher than what was being offered on bank FDs. The same deposit was also deemed as a security and an equivalent amount of credit was extended to the dealer. Further, at the end of the year, Kuldip would give the dealer 1 per cent extra on the net purchases of the dealer. ‘The scheme was a big hit,’ Kuldip laughs delightedly. The dealers saw an opportunity to use the surplus family money in their business while at the same time Kuldip could keep the family happy. ‘It was a win–win for everyone,’ says Kuldip. Money started pouring in as deposits. It enabled Sohan Singh to invest in more plants, machinery and raw materials on the one hand, while on the other hand, the dealers started ordering more as the amount of deposit extended the credit. ‘So if a dealer kept Rs 1 lakh as deposit, he found that he could order more on credit. And then at the end of the year his return on the deposit was significantly higher that what he would have got in the bank FD,’ explains Kuldip. ‘I told my brother to just keep signing cheques for new machines and I would take care of the funds.’

So, funds, in the form of deposits, were pouring in. Dealers even started taking out their fixed deposits from banks to give funds to Kuldip as the net return was significantly higher. Soon, there came a time when Kuldip did not need more deposits from the dealers. The business was set and the banks were open to looking at extending credit. ‘But the dealers refused to take the deposits back,’ laughs Kuldip. They wanted the money to continue to earn above market interest. At the same time, they wanted the extra bonus at the end of the year. Business, by the early seventies, had grown to such an extent that the Amritsar factory alone could not handle the demand. The house in Golf Links was mortgaged for funds to buy land in Delhi’s Sultanpur to set up a huge factory. It was one of the first industrial set-ups in the area and the Sultanpur village grew big and prosperous, thanks to the factory. ‘The workers started to live around the factory and some sort of a mini township started,’ says Kuldip. Sohan Singh continued to manage the production and soon called Gurbachan to Delhi from Amritsar. Production needed to be scaled up as demand was increasing. The Delhi factory would be more cost-effective for the increased production. The family moved back to Delhi and the Golf Links house welcomed them back.

From Russia with love

The brothers were busy with growing the business in north India. ‘Russia or Japan were not even on our radars,’ says Kuldip. But fate, again, played her hand. Kuldip recalls, ‘One day, in 1977, or maybe it was 1978, I got a call from one Mr Galgotia, who was attached to Jyoti Impex, Connaught Place. They were exporters and had an order from the Soviet Union for white enamel paint.’ The Moscow Olympics was to take place in 1980 and the Russians were sprucing up the city in preparation. ‘If we wanted the export order, we had to send him one dozen 1 kg boxes of while enamel paint as samples,’ continued Kuldip. Kuldip was immediately interested because, at the back of his mind, he remembered that Russia was a country Niranjan Singh had wanted to do business with. ‘I looked at the formulations and knew that we could give them the specifications,’ says Gurbachan. Kuldip agreed to send the boxes of paints immediately, but asked for payment. The payment came, he sent the boxes, the Russians liked the samples, and the first order of 50 tonnes was given to UK Paints.

‘I realized what a fantastic business this is,’ says Kuldip excitedly about the export business. The seventies were the heydays of the inspector raj. There were matters of taxes, excise and numerous other controls. Add to that the credit terms of the dealers. ‘Here was a business which had no hassles and no credit!’ says Kuldip. In fact, the Indian government gave incentives to exporters. The first order of 50 tonnes led to sporadic orders from the Russians. All orders to UK Paints came through Jyoti Impex, which was owned by S.K. Jain and his two junior partners, including Galgotia. Kuldip talks of the three partners of Jyoti Impex very fondly. The three partners grew to like young Kuldip, and Jain would take him to meet with the Russian buyers. ‘No one takes a supplier to meet with the buyer as everyone is possessive about their own relationship with buyers,’ says Kuldip. The regular occurrence of such meetings was an indication of the comfort level between Jain and Kuldip.

‘I remember one time when the Russian buyers were coming to Delhi,’ says Kuldip. It was also the time when Jain’s daughter was getting married and he was caught up in family matters. The Russian delegation could not be ignored either. Jain asked Kuldip to act as the host for the dinner that was organized for the Russians. ‘It was at Claridges and everything was already paid for by Mr Jain,’ says Kuldip. Kuldip was happy to act as host and at the dinner, there were a couple of Russians who came up to him and told him that they were willing to give orders directly to UK Paints. Kuldip was very embarrassed and told them politely that he would deal only through S.K. Jain. After that dinner, there were many other occasions when the Russians sidled up to Kuldip and tell him to take orders directly. Kuldip had the same answer each time—he would deal only through Jain. He kept the Jains informed of all such overtures made to him. The orders kept coming sporadically and the export business of UK Paints kept chugging along.

‘And then, one day I got a call from the trade office of the Soviet embassy,’ says Kuldip. The Russian officers told Kuldip that they wanted to meet him without S.K. Jain. ‘I was in a dilemma about whether to go or not, but then told myself that it was the Soviet government officials who wanted to meet me, not the buyers,’ rationalized Kuldip. At the meeting at the Soviet trade office, Kuldip was asked if he had noticed that the export orders had gone down. Kuldip thought back and nodded. The Russians leant back in their chairs with a satisfied look and told him that they had stopped dealing with Jyoti Impex. There were many outstanding matters that needed resolution and the Soviet trade office had decided to discontinue business with Jyoti Impex till the matters were resolved. They then offered to deal directly with UK Paints, if Kuldip wanted to continue with the export business. ‘I was confused,’ says Kuldip. He wanted the export business with Russia, but accepting the offer meant that he would have gone behind Jain’s back. ‘I wasn’t comfortable doing this and asked for some time to think,’ says Kuldip. The Russians, in their trademark style, told Kuldip that he had only till noon the next day.

Kuldip rushed back to his office, called his brother and told him about the meeting. ‘Before anything else my brother told me, “Shabaash bilkul theek kariya hai tu! (Well done! You have done the right thing!),”’ says Kuldip. Both brothers agreed that since they had no exclusivity clause in their dealings with Jyoti Impex they could take orders directly from the Russians. However, they wanted to keep Jain in the loop and also wanted to compensate him for any future loss of business. Kuldip went to Jain’s office, carrying a satchel filled with money. He sat in front of Jain and hesitatingly told him about the meeting at the Soviet trade office and the offer. ‘Mr Jain got up and shouted, “Tu bilkul bewakoof hai, Kuldip! (You are a complete idiot, Kuldip!),”’ says Kuldip, who was completely taken aback. Jain told him that UK Paints was the only supplier that was still dealing through Jyoti Impex. All other suppliers had left and were dealing directly with the Russians. Jain asked Kuldip not to be an idiot and to go to the Soviet trade office and accept the offer immediately. Relieved, Kuldip then offered the satchel to Jain. ‘This time he was very angry,’ remembers Kuldip and adds, ‘He got up and started abusing me in chaste Hindi. He said, “Dafa ho ja tu yahan se! (Get out of here!)”’ Mr Jain was very upset that Kuldip thought that their relationship was only about money. He refused to take the money, but Kuldip slid the satchel into a corner and beat a hasty retreat.

He went back to the trade office the next day, accepted the offer, and life changed once again for the Dhingra family. It was almost as if Niranjan Singh, whose yearning for business with Russia had been rudely cut short, was orchestrating the dealings from heaven. ‘Orders started pouring in,’ says Kuldip with satisfied wonder. The domestic business was also growing, with Kuldip’s dealer deposit scheme being a hit in north India, and Rajdoot focusing on the contractor segment of the market. The Dhingra brothers fell back on the trusted business model of their grandfather: they got in professionals to run their domestic business. There were no working partners, just managers who ran the business of Rajdoot Paints for the Dhingras. The Sultanpur factory had grown bigger and continued to produce more. ‘It had the biggest paint-mixing tank in the entire country—70,000 litres in a single batch. Not even Asian Paints had that,’ says Gurbachan with pride. Putting the learnings from his older engineer brother to use, he worked hard on the formulations, innovative production techniques and cost-effective raw material purchase to meet the specifications of the Russians with optimal costs.

Kuldip was the face of the export business. He dealt with a company called Sojuzchimexport. This organization had the monopoly in the Soviet Union over all imports and exports in the chemical industry. The imports from India included paints, pigments, soaps, shampoos, dyes and textile dyes, among others, and Sojuzchimexport would then supply the material to all factories within the Soviet Union. It was a monolith of an organization that had an insatiable appetite for all chemicals and chemical products. Gurbachan worked hard to meet all scheduled dates of delivery, while keeping the quality promises as well. This differentiated him from some of the others who failed to do so. For Kuldip, dealing with the Russians was no different from dealing with his Rajdoot Paints dealers. Everyone loved a good deal. ‘There was this lady called Madame Gorbenko in Moscow, who was the head of the paints division of Sojuzchimexport,’ recounts Kuldip. Madame Gorbenko was an elegant, redheaded Russian lady—tall and stunningly beautiful. ‘She could speak English very well, had a great presence, and was a thorough professional,’ says Kuldip fondly. She was the one who signed the export orders for the Indian suppliers. Kuldip kept telling her that he was unable to give her better prices and tighter schedules as he was not sure of forthcoming orders from Moscow. He made her an offer: were he to get 70 per cent of the total orders of Sojuzchimexport, he would not only give them better prices and tighter schedules, but also 2 per cent more as bonus at the end of the year. Dealers of Rajdoot Paints had understood and accepted this annual bonus deal immediately, but it took sustained efforts from Kuldip before Madame Gorbenko saw merit in his offer. Ultimately UK Paints got a contract to supply 70 per cent of the total paint orders of Sojuzchimexport. ‘I was not able to get a commitment for 100 per cent of the orders,’ sighs Kuldip regretfully. But as the deliveries continued to be sent out on time and the quality was maintained, UK Paints became the sole paint supplier to Russia. The orders that had started with 50 tonnes in 1978 had grown to beyond 20,000 tonnes a year. ‘And they did not even take the 2 per cent extra at the end of each year. They kept saying, we are keeping it in our books and will ask you for it later,’ says Kuldip.

As it happens in corporate life, a trusted supplier becomes the supplier of choice for everything. The same happened with Kuldip. ‘I was seen as someone they could trust,’ says Kuldip. This trust had started developing from the time when all orders were being given to UK paints through Jyoti Impex. ‘The Russians were impressed that I had kept saying “no” to direct orders,’ says Kuldip. He also says that there had been, in the initial days, always two people in the meetings. One of them clearly knew paints while the other kept quiet and simply observed. ‘I don’t know for sure, but I think he was part of the larger Soviet team and I am sure that they maintained a file on all suppliers,’ says Kuldip. ‘I am sure that my file was the thickest one.’ The file would have helped Kuldip get the initial orders, and his honest work, along with timely delivery, added to his trustworthiness in the eyes of the Russians.

Once Kuldip was cleared by the senior-most officials, the Russians started asking Kuldip to supply other paint products, pigments, chemicals and even textile dyes and colours to them. ‘I told them that I am in the paint business, so what would I know about textiles dyes?’ laughs Kuldip. He was told that textile colour dyes were chemicals too and if Kuldip could supply paints and allied pigments chemicals, he could do textile colour dyes and other chemicals as well. Gurbachan, the alchemist, worked with his technicians and gave the Russians what they wanted. This list of ‘you can do this too’ kept expanding and soon included toilet soaps, detergents, assorted household chemicals, cleaners, shampoos, toothpaste, shaving creams and laundry soaps, even shoe polish. UK Paints, by now, was the largest supplier to the Soviet Union. However, most of the products, other than paints, were outsourced by Kuldip.

Kuldip could not handle all of this on his own. He got his wife, Meeta, and sister, Ashi, involved in the export business. As the list of items for export kept growing, his wife and his sister started signing orders for the newer items. Kuldip came to be known in Russia as the person who could be trusted to procure any material from India. Besides chemicals, the list for procurement now included garments, sewing machines, motors for sewing machines, and other items totally unrelated to chemicals. The Russians made UK Paints an accredited company. ‘UK Paints was just one of the two or three private companies from India that was given accreditation by the Russians. Till then only Indian government companies like SBI, Air India, MMTC had been given accreditation,’ says Kuldip proudly. Accreditation provided many privileges to Kuldip, as it was almost similar to a diplomatic status, with even an office and residence offered in the diplomatic complex!

In Delhi, the crowd of suppliers wanting to export to the Soviet Union through UK Paints kept growing outside Kuldip’s office. Those were the years when import licences were issued only against export receipts. Every company that needed to import material had to export something—whether related to their own business or not. Everyone was looking for export orders. ‘I got a call from Adi Godrej one day,’ says Kuldip. Adi Godrej wanted to export to Russia and wanted the orders for some of the household chemicals. Kuldip told Godrej that he would come the next day to meet him at the Godrej office on Asaf Ali Road. ‘I still remember what Mr Godrej had told me,’ says Kuldip quietly. Adi Godrej said that UK Paints was the client and Godrej was the supplier. Therefore, following protocol, it was Godrej who would come to Kuldip’s office. ‘I thought to myself—he is such a big man but has such good values,’ says Kuldip. Gurbachan, however, has another memory of the same meeting. ‘Godrej wanted the order for detergents. We were already making them for export. So we knew the costs,’ says Gurbachan with a delighted laugh. He broke down the costs presented by Godrej, ingredient by ingredient, and got them to agree to a cost which was 30 per cent lower than the initial one. ‘We knew all the costs down to the last detail as both my brother and I had worked at the ground level,’ says Gurbachan.

Those were heady days for Kuldip and UK Paints. The only cloud in the bright sunshine was the sad incident of Sohan Singh suffering a stroke in 1982. Though the family tried their best, even with the best doctors and medical treatment, Sohan Singh never came back to the business. With his elder brother out of action, Kuldip became the de facto head of the Dhingra family. As Rajdoot Paints was doing well, he inducted more professionals into the domestic business. Gurbachan produced the paints and further expanded the production by building new plants, while the professionals managed the sales and marketing. Kuldip handled the export business himself. Since all the materials were exported under UK Paints, there was a reputational risk, should some orders not be up to the mark. ‘I put the fear of the Russians in all my suppliers,’ says Kuldip simply. He told them that if any order was found wanting in quality or not keeping to the delivery schedule, he would deal with the supplier, if they managed to escape the wrath of the Russians.

Trading with the Soviet Union followed a rupee–rouble trade between governments. The suppliers got the money in their bank account while the respective governments sorted out the barter of goods. There came a time when UK Paints reached the limit of trade set by the government for the rupee–rouble trade. However, the appetite of the Russians was insatiable. They wanted more. ‘They were importing for one-sixth of the landmass of the world,’ says Kuldip. All materials went to the port of Odessa and from there it was sent by trains, road or even airplanes across the vast country. ‘It was such a large country. They had eleven bloody time zones. Wohh khatam hi nahin honda! (The country never seemed to end!)’ laughs Kuldip. Gurbachan remembers those days with a laugh as he says, ‘Kuldip bhapa used to come to the factory with a huge export order and ask me if I would be able to handle it. I would tell him not to worry and that the factory at Sultanpur might be small but we would produce and deliver on time. And we did!’ Unable to export more from India, Kuldip sought, and received, permission from the Indian government to set up a company overseas. Thus, UK Paints Overseas was set up. ‘It was set up with help from my friend Jean Claude. He had given me a lift when I was hitchhiking,’ says Kuldip. The Frenchman started sourcing for UK Paints Overseas from Spain, Portugal, Algeria and other countries to export to Russia.

‘At one time they wanted baby detergent,’ says Kuldip, raising his eyebrows. He adds, ‘I did not even know what a baby detergent was.’ But his resourceful French friend and business partner put together a small product note complete with a brand and logo. Kuldip laughs heartily and says, ‘He called it Bebe Detergent!’ Bebe in French means a baby, while in Punjabi a bebe is an old woman! The name did not matter as the orders kept coming in.

The export business kept growing and the Russians wanted Kuldip to export from Jordan and Syria as well. Kuldip’s trustworthiness grew in the eyes of the Russians as he was able to find a way to help the Russians buy from those countries too. All of this kept the revenue and profit meter ticking well. ‘By 1990, the profits from my export business were more than the profits made by Asian Paints,’ says Kuldip. Asian Paints was and continues to be the largest paint company in India. Besides being the largest, Asian Paints is also among the most respected companies in the country. Kuldip was particularly happy about making more money than the largest paint company! However, the low-key Dhingras kept the financials low-key as well. ‘People would ask me about the Russian business and I would say, “Aisa hi hai, bas theek thaak hai, margin-vargin kuch nahin hai (Business is just about okay, with no margins),”’ laughs Kuldip. He also did not speak about the volumes as he preferred to be under the radar. But with companies like Godrej, Oswal, Karnatak Soap Mills, T-Series, Bakeman and many more producing for him, it was clear to the world that business was indeed doing well.

‘This is how we had the money to buy Berger Paints when Vijay Mallya was looking to sell it,’ says Kuldip.

Buying Berger from Vijay Mallya

Vijay Mallya owned part of the company and the balance was held by a legitimate off-shore company. There were some funds in UK Paints Overseas and the balance was arranged after permission from the Reserve Bank of India. The Indian shares were bought from funds within India. The acquisition of Berger Paints came at an opportune time for Kuldip. The exports were still going great. ‘I was signing orders almost every day. They wanted to deal only with me, so there was a time when I signed two orders a day,’ says Kuldip. As a matter of business protocol, all signings had to be, accompanied by cocktails, lunches and dinners. There were days when Kuldip had an early dinner, signed a contract, then went for another dinner later and signed another contract. Since he was dealing with Russians, he had to keep up with them when it came to drinking. ‘I was leading such a hectic life. Business meetings through the day, then drinking with the Russians, and then dinner and then drinking again, till late,’ says Kuldip with a shudder. He was prone to headaches but could not let his health come in the way of business. He started popping painkillers. Since in most cases he had to host his business partners for cocktails and dinner, the painkillers were chased down by alcohol. ‘I was sure that I would die if I continued with that lifestyle,’ says Kuldip, ‘My body could not take it much longer.’

As luck would have it, just when Kuldip Singh’s mind and body had started protesting against the lifestyle he was leading, the Soviet Union disintegrated. And the booming export business came to a screeching halt. ‘I went to Bangla Sahib and thanked Babaji the day the Soviet Union collapsed,’ says Kuldip. ‘It saved my life,’ he says seriously.

The Dhingra family became the rangwala family once again. The family focused on the paint business and post the acquisition of Berger Paints, there was much work that needed to be done. In 1991, Berger Paints was India’s smallest paint company in the organized sector. It was in a precarious financial condition, employee morale was down, and salaries were not being paid on time. Further, the Dhingras were based in Delhi, while the company headquarters was in Calcutta. So why did he buy Berger Paints, I ask. Kuldip says that he believed that the brand of Berger was good and that professionals ran it. He had grown up following Kesar Singh’s business model—that of having professionals run the businesses. There was great comfort in knowing that Berger already had good professionals managing the company on a day-to-day basis. Therefore, it did not matter that the owners and the managers were in two different locations. It came down to pumping funds into the business. Again, it was the model followed by the family—the owners provided the money for the business while the professionals ran it operationally. The Dhingra brothers did provide the required capital in the early years of the acquisition. ‘At one time, the company asked us for a Rs 10-crore loan. In those days, that was a lot of money. But we made it available at short notice. In addition, we had to agree to a lower interest rate as well as a moratorium on payments for five years,’ remembers Kuldip. It was a tough call but Kuldip says that as owners, they must support the professionals, so they can deliver results. ‘This degree of separation of ownership and management in Berger Paints is rare, compared to other companies,’ says Abhijit Roy, managing director and CEO, Berger Paints. Even the vendors and suppliers compliment this separation of ownership from the management. ‘I have met Mr K.S. Dhingra only once when the foundation stone for the Puducherry factory was being laid,’ says A. Kumar, owner of Gemini Paints, a vendor of more than thirty years with Berger. All his dealings are with the management team, though Kumar knows that Kuldip is fully in the loop. ‘But I have never seen him interfere in the process,’ he says of Kuldip.

Anoop Hoon, national sales manager of Asian Paints in the early 1990s, remembers the main problem at Berger then was the lack of funds. ‘The problem faced by Berger Paints, particularly in the 1980s, was that the owners were not giving enough capital for capacity expansion. The Dhingras understood that Berger needed capacity expansion capability to set up new plants. They also realized the need to be fully supportive of the professional management team,’ he says.

As the new owners, Kuldip and Gurbachan helped the company with the setting-up of manufacturing plants across the country. A senior member of the Berger management team says, ‘Until the early 1990s, we used to suffer because our factory in Howrah was at one end of India and we had to supply products all over the country from there. Moreover, since the demand for paint was very seasonal, this used to further complicate supply-chain issues for us. From 1996 onwards, we started expanding our factories, first in Puducherry, then in Jammu, then Gujarat, all coming up at regular intervals.’ The Dhingras pumped in more and more funds relentlessly, through loans, rights issue and preferential issue, so money was never a constraint for Berger.

Berger Paints soon started to make profits. But in the initial years, the family pumped the dividends back into the business. Even after the financials of the company improved, the Dhingra brothers did not look at investing in any other business. Paints have always remained the focus. ‘It is a very competitive business and we have to focus on paint and grow only in paint,’ says Kuldip. ‘We wait for our competitors to make a mistake, so we can cover the gap against them faster.’

In this fiercely competitive world of paints, Kuldip has brought about differentiation in his trademark style in the process of selling at dealer shops. Putting to use his learnings from selling at the Amritsar shop, he realized that the dealers were not being able to sell to their potential. This was because they could not stock a large number of paint boxes due to a paucity of space in the shops. The customer, on the other hand, needed variety and wanted to choose from a larger number of colours. Jenson and Nicholson had already introduced the tinting machines in the market but had found little traction as the price for each machine, in the mid-nineties, was in excess of Rs 8 lakh. Kuldip remembered his annual 2 per cent bonus scheme that had worked both for the dealers and the Russians. He supported the team to put together a sales incentive scheme for the dealers that was pushed aggressively. Within a couple of years, Berger was able to install 400 machines, one-third of the total machines installed in India in total, and used them to help dealers stock better to sell more.

The other differentiation was around people and the attrition of good people. At each annual budget meeting, the fact that the company was losing good people would come up. Kuldip could not understand why the company was not able to retain good professionals. He told Subir Bose, the CEO of Berger Paints at that time, to work on a stock option plan. Kuldip thought that the professionals would jump at the thought of getting stocks and waited for the scheme to be brought to him for discussion. But Subir did not come back with a draft ESOP policy, despite Kuldip reminding him each year. This went on for three years. ‘I could not understand why. Usually it is the owner who does not want to part with equity as the owner’s share gets diluted,’ says Kuldip. ‘Here I was the owner and I was asking the management to come up with a scheme but no one was forthcoming,’ he adds. At a subsequent annual budget meeting, the subject of high attrition was brought up once again by the management team. Kuldip took this opportunity and asked the reason for the management’s lack of interest in the equity sharing plan. ‘There was total silence around the table. Everyone’s eyebrows went up and they all turned and looked at Subir,’ says Kuldip. It was then that he realized that his one-on-one discussions with Subir had remained just that—between only the two of them. ‘Subir had not discussed it with anyone in the company. Maybe it was the socialist mind-set,’ explains Kuldip. Berger, by virtue of being located in Calcutta, had a culture based on seniority and equitability. ‘Maybe Subir felt people would not like it if only some employees got stock options,’ rationalizes Kuldip.

Kuldip saw that there was interest and keenness in the management towards ESOPs, so he got a consultant for ideas and the company launched the scheme. Berger was the first paint company to have an ESOP scheme and, till today, remains the only company with such a plan. ‘The additional benefit was that everyone started looking at the share price and the market cap of the company,’ laughs Kuldip.

The market cap has only grown over the years and today Berger Paints is the second-largest paint company in the country. Kuldip and Gurbachan are the only grandsons of Bhai Kesar Singh who are in the paint-manufacturing business. All the uncles have passed away and the cousins, except one who is a large paint trader, are not involved in business. This Dhingra family is also the wealthiest. I ask, ‘What differentiated this Dhingra family from the rest such that only you were able to reach this position?’ According to Gurbachan, ‘Our circumstances were very different from the rest of the family. We did not have anything to fall back on.’ The brothers, therefore, fell back on their spirit of enterprise and hard work. On the one hand, Kuldip and Gurbachan look back with deep satisfaction at the business they have grown from scratch, on the other, they are both happy that at least one each of their children has chosen to be part of the family business. Rishma, eldest daughter of Kuldip, and Kanwardip, son of Gurbachan, are part of the board and the management now. They are learning about the business before they too take on the mantle of owner partners.

The Dhingra brothers seem to be in a happy place today. Both of them are outdoor enthusiasts and no family holiday is complete without some adventure activity, much to the chagrin of the wives. Closer home, both brothers get a deep satisfaction by indulging in activities that give them joy. Ever an athlete, Kuldip’s biggest joy at the moment is the temperature-controlled swimming pool that he has installed at his sprawling bungalow. ‘Now I can swim every day of the year,’ says Kuldip in a content voice. His brother Gurbachan, on the other hand, has a waterbody at his farmhouse where he breeds fish. ‘Some of them have grown as heavy as almost 4 kg,’ he says proudly. They may be among the richest in the country and their business among the largest paint companies, but the simple things in life still bring the brothers great joy.

Gurbachan, like his brother Kuldip, has on his wall a black-and-white photo of the rangwala family taken in 1941. It shows a happy family. Below this photo he has a more recent photograph—a colour photograph of the entire Niranjan Singh family. The photo is clearly that of a well-to-do Sikh family gathered to celebrate a wedding. The patriarch, Kuldip Singh, sits in the middle with a look of pride on his face. He is surrounded by men and women of various ages, some men sitting with their chests out, smiling into the camera, while the younger ones stand. The women, dressed in rich colours, look into the camera with confident smiles. Children of all ages are sitting at the feet of the elders.

It is as if nothing has changed in the 120 years that have passed between the black-and-white and the colour photographs, except, of course, more colour has been added to the rangwala family!

Conclusion

Berger Paints is the second-largest paint company in India today. With annual sales in excess of Rs 4800 crore (FY 2016), the company has come a long way from being the smallest and the weakest in the organized sector in the industry in 1990. Today, the Dhingra Group Paints and Allied Products business is spread over eight countries, namely India, Nepal, Russia, Poland, UK, France, Ukraine and Bangladesh, with the annual turnover, as at the end of 31 March 2017, at Rs 6600 crore. Further, Berger Bangladesh, a separate company, is the market leader in that country with more than 60 per cent market share. The industry credits this success to the Dhingra brothers—Kuldip and Gurbachan. However, the industrywalas also take away a bit of the credit from them as it is believed, erroneously, that Kuldip and Gurbachan are the fourth generation, merely taking the inherited family business forward.

Kuldip and Gurbachan indeed are the representatives of the fourth generation of the rangwala family, their grandfather Bhai Kesar Singh had started the paint business in 1898 together with his own father—Bhai Uttam Singh. However, that inherited business was shut down in the late 1950s as Sardar Niranjan Singh died at the young age of thirty-seven. Sohan Singh Dhingra, the oldest son of Niranjan Singh, along with his brothers, Kuldip and Gurbachan, built the business, paint box by paint box, starting from almost nothing. Thus, the Dhingra brothers of Berger Paints are not the fourth generation of family-business owners merely guiding the business gently. They are gritty, hard-working and ambitious first-generation businessmen who have set up and grown their very own business.

The world has also forgotten the progenitor of the business—Sohan Singh Dhingra. Sohan Singh had set up the paint factory in 1962 and built the business, but was struck down by a debilitating stroke in 1982. He withdrew from the business completely and perhaps this is why the world seems to have forgotten him. But his two brothers have not, and are firm when they say the business could not have been built without their eldest brother, Sohan Singh Dhingra.

The paint business in India today is worth Rs 40,000 crore, of which the organized sector is at around Rs 26,500 crore (65 per cent). Berger has been able to carve out an 18 per cent share of the organized market since it was acquired by the Dhingra brothers. Industry experts believe that Kuldip and Gurbachan cut their teeth in the paint industry when they launched Rajdoot Paints in the mid-1960s. Sushil Luniya, a building industry expert of thirty years, has seen the evolution of the Dhingra brothers—from the owners of Rajdoot Paints to the owners of Berger Paints. He attributes their success to the fact that Kuldip had the acumen to identify opportunities in niches which could make money without having to fight the big brands in the market at that time. ‘He never said that Rajdoot is a premium brand. He positioned Rajdoot as a value-for-money brand,’ says Luniya about Kuldip. Further, the value-for-money segment was largely in the unorganized sector. ‘So he said, “I will be the organized one in the unorganized space,”’ says Luniya. This paid rich dividends as the business boomed.

A significant distance has been travelled between a successful position in the unorganized sector to the number two slot in the organized sector. The culture of the Dhingra family has played an important part in this successful journey. There is a clear patriarch in the family and his word is law. While outsiders may call it autocratic, the family sees it as a ‘limited democracy’. During Sohan Singh’s time it was his word that was law, and now it is Kuldip’s. Gurbachan and his family have no misgivings about it; instead, they welcome this. It helps that Kuldip is seen to be fair and equitable in all his decisions. In a family business, a clear line of leadership is an asset. Many fine businesses have failed due to the lack of an accepted patriarch.

The family culture and values seem tangible during my various interactions with the family. In fact, it is not merely tangible, it is all-pervasive, without being in-your-face. There is a pride and easy acceptance in the family, even in the daughters-in-law, in following the family values that were laid down in the late nineteenth century. The values have helped the family in times of trouble as well. Kuldip and Gurbachan’s widowed mother was helped by her brothers-in-law even though they had separated from the larger family business.

Harmony in the family is the key to the success of a family business. With 75 per cent shareholding of the Dhingras in Berger Paints, the business is clearly a family-owned one. The roles of Kuldip and Gurbachan are divided, yet both work together for the growth of the business. The other key to the success of a family business is the division of the roles between the owners and the managers. It is here too that following the family culture has paid dividends.

Working with professionals and giving them respect was a policy laid down by Bhai Kesar Singh. Today, at Berger, it is the same policy, and the market applauds it from the outside as well as inside. Abhijit Roy, managing director and CEO of Berger Paints, says, ‘Our culture has two parts to it. One, there is freedom to innovate and the freedom to make mistakes. You are not berated or scolded. The second part is openness. This open culture helps cultivate an entrepreneurial feeling among our employees. It also encourages people to think differently and innovate.’ The manifestation of this policy is that some innovative products and services that have caught the eyes of the customers have been proposed by employees themselves. ‘Express Painting, or XP, or even Easy Clean have been thought of by our teams,’ says Gurbachan proudly.

With the paint industry slated to grow at 12–14 per cent in the coming years, the bulk of the growth is seen coming from the decorative paints segment. The reason for this is linked to the focus of the government and incentives given to the housing sector. Eighty per cent of Berger’s revenues are from the decorative paints segment. Thus, Berger Paints seems to be at a sweet spot as teams are in place today and the market share is creeping up. However, one of the challenges facing Berger is the perception in the industry of the company being conservative vis-à-vis talent in it. While industry sources compliment the Dhingra brothers for their way of management, they are less appreciative of the quality of people within Berger. Sources from within the industry say that it seems to be a legacy issue. This issue is being addressed by Abhijit Roy, a younger managing director and CEO, but it will take time before Berger is seen at the same level as Asian Paints by potential top talent. The challenge of attracting top talent is compounded by the location of the headquarters—Calcutta.

The other challenge before the family-owned business, however, is the transition from the current generation to the next. Kuldip has three daughters while Gurbachan has two daughters and a son. The daughters were not keen about joining the family business at all. The son studied in the US and was working with a paint company there. He was not too keen on coming back, having worked there for three years already. Gurbachan says he went to America, spent time with his son, and convinced him to come back. His wife, Vinu, went along as well. Kuldip too says that he had to work on his eldest daughter to get her interested in Berger Paints. The two, Kanwardip Singh and Rishma Kaur, are now on the board of the company. One does hope that the reasons for them to be on the board, and to work at Berger to learn, goes beyond pressure from their respective fathers. The business will continue to need the guidance and support from the owners even after Kuldip and Gurbachan detach themselves from the business completely.

It would be a shame if history were to repeat itself—business built assiduously by one generation gets sold off by the next. In a business like this, it’s clear that it will only thrive if the family culture and values that have lasted four generations will keep the fifth one going as well.
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Motilal Oswal Group

Motilal Oswal and Raamdeo Agrawal

I tilt my head to look at the tall glass building in front of me. It is a hot day in Mumbai but the waterfall at the entrance has a cooling effect. The grand lobby of Motilal Oswal Towers has a glass wall on one side that filters the sunlight as it enters the lobby. The air conditioning is on full blast. I ride up the elevator to the top floor to meet with Motilal Oswal, chairman of the Motilal Oswal Group. Motilal Oswal Financial Services is the holding company of the group with businesses of broking and distribution, private equity, institutional equity, private wealth management, mutual funds, portfolio management and housing loans set up as individual companies. As I wait for him in his office, I shiver a little as the air conditioner is set at a very low temperature.

‘It used to get as hot as 45°C in my village and I did not even know what a fan was,’ says Motilal Oswal. His village in Rajasthan, close to the Pakistan border, is called Padru. The village did not have electricity and Motilal, as a child, did not know about fans! It is ironic as I sit shivering in the extremely cold office. I request him to turn down the air conditioning. He does so and continues to talk about his childhood. ‘I did go to school but my school was more like a playground. Just a field with maybe a bench somewhere,’ says Motilal. Padru was connected to the rest of the world by a state transport bus which would stop by at the village once a day. The villagers would wait by the side of the kutcha (unpaved) road for the bus. The bus itself, with the diesel engine protesting at the condition of the road, would announce its arrival a mile away by the mini dust storm it would kick up. Motilal had not taken the bus till he reached the eighth standard. His travels, on foot, had been restricted to a radius of a kilometre or two from his house. He would only go to the water source to have his bath. ‘I had three pairs of shorts and that was the sum total of my worldly possessions,’ says Motilal.

‘It was a simple life in those days,’ remembers Motilal. The big family, comprising his grandparents, parents, uncles, aunts, cousins, three brothers and two sisters, lived in a small three-room village house. His father was a grains trader and operated his business some distance away from Padru. It may have been the sixties but Padru was still stuck in time as it seemed to have been forgotten by the architects of India. As Motilal talks about his childhood, there is no regret in his voice—only the acceptance of reality. While he was one of the children who played together in the dusty playgrounds of the village, it was his sharp brain that separated him from the rest. His mother recognized her son’s capacity of moving away from the family business of trading. It was she who agreed to send him out of the village for higher studies. Usually it is the mother who does not want her son to go far away. But Motilal’s life changed due to his mother’s encouragement.

The world calls out to Motilal

Higher studies meant class nine and ten. It was the late seventies when young Motilal left home and went to Malwara, a larger village almost 100 km away from Padru. He stayed in a community hostel and finished high school. Since Malwara did not have a college, Motilal went to Falna for his bachelor’s degree. Falna was a town about 150 km from Padru. It was here that Motilal was introduced to the wonders of other people and television! ‘Most of my learning happened in the four years that I was at college,’ says Motilal. ‘Electricity, television, a good library and even a good basketball court—I found everything there,’ he says with a smile. The community hostel had students from other parts of the state and Motilal found that he could learn even more from his interactions with others. He continued his star performance at college and was consistently the leader of the class—‘In terms of marks,’ he hastens to add. ‘But I was the president of the college,’ he says with a twinkle in his eyes. ‘You see, the president was nominated by the teachers based purely on merit!’ he says.

After graduation, the future loomed ahead for Motilal. His brothers had set up a trade in the saree business in Ahmedabad. It would have been easy for him to join them but Motilal had other thoughts. ‘I was the first graduate in my entire family,’ he says with pride. Confident about his academic ability, Motilal wanted to study further. ‘But there was no one to guide me or to tell me what I should do next. I had to decide for myself,’ he says.

Motilal spoke to the people around him and was advised that taking the civil services exam was a good option. However, Motilal knew that he had a head for numbers, and civil services did not interest him. The boys around him were speaking of a course called chartered accountancy (CA) and the more Motilal heard about it, the more it appealed to him. But everyone told him that it was very difficult to pass the CA exam. ‘Only 3–4 per cent of examinees cleared their CA,’ he says. This did not trouble Motilal as he was confident of being in the top 3 per cent of the students. His mind made up, he started preparations to go to Jaipur for his CA. ‘It was by chance that I met a relative of mine—my jiyajee’s jiyajee (brother-in-law’s brother-in-law)—and he said that if I was serious about completing CA, then I should forget about Jaipur or any other city. The only city I had to go to was Mumbai,’ says Motilal.

Motilal decided to move to Mumbai. He did not know anyone in the city except one relative—the same one who had told him to move to the Maximum City. Young Motilal availed of his hospitality for a few weeks and for the first time in his life he had a guide. ‘My relative was also a CA and he helped me to draw up a list of good CA firms in Mumbai,’ says Motilal. His guide told him that Motilal needed to work with a good CA firm if he wanted to do something meaningful. ‘But my problem was that no good firm was ready to give me the opportunity of articleship,’ says Motilal matter-of-factly. He had lived in villages and small towns till then and the medium of instruction had been Hindi. Speaking in English was a challenge. ‘Plus, I was not the extrovert kind,’ Motilal adds. He went to about sixty CA firms looking for a job but did not get a single offer. ‘Finally, I requested my relative to refer me to a small CA firm,’ he says. He wanted to work in a firm which would look beyond his communication skills and focus on the skills he had in dealing with numbers. He finally got a job and after that, it was time to look for a hostel.

‘The good thing about our community—Jains—is that they have spent a lot of money in building educational institutes and hostels,’ says Motilal. Once such hostel—Rajasthani Vidyarthi Griha—built by the community, was for students from Rajasthan. ‘Luckily, I got a place in the hostel in Andheri. It was a big hostel for CA students,’ says Motilal. Unknown to him, Raamdeo Agrawal, his business partner at Motilal Oswal Group, was also in the hostel at the same time. The two did not even interact during their years in the hostel, let alone become good friends.

‘Raamdeo was three or four years senior to me and he was also studying for his CA,’ remembers Motilal, ‘But I didn’t know him.’ Raamdeo had come to Bombay to become a chartered accountant and the journey had not been easy for him either. Leaving his village in Chhattisgarh when he finished class five, Raamdeo went to Raipur to complete his schooling. ‘After Raipur, I went to Nagpur for further studies and then I landed up in Mumbai for my CA,’ says Raamdeo.

Unlike Motilal, who was a brilliant scholar and had passed his CA in his first attempt, Raamdeo had to take the exam many times to clear it. ‘It was very challenging, but I finally did it,’ he says. Motilal, however, faced a different challenge. He was not proficient in the English language as his education had been in Hindi. ‘It was very tough to write the CA exam in English,’ he says with a shudder, remembering how he struggled to finish the exam within the stipulated time. It took time as his thoughts came to him only in Hindi and he had to write them down in English.

Raamdeo knew nothing about this challenge faced by Motilal and remembers him from the hostel days only as a brilliant student. The two most important parts of any hostel are the mess and the kitchen areas. ‘In our hostel, the students who cleared their CA in the first attempt used to manage the mess. I remember Moti from that,’ says Raamdeo with a laugh.

Motilal and Raamdeo may not have become friends with each other during their days at the hostel, but the hostel and the people left a lasting impression on both of them. ‘There were about 200 students in the hostel,’ says Motilal. The friendships forged in the hostel have continued and they meet periodically even now. Both Motilal and Raamdeo came from small villages and Mumbai was a new city for them. If it had not been for the community hostel they would have found it difficult to stay on in the city. Today there is an Agrawal Oswal Chhatrawaas added to the hostel and the money for it has been donated by Motilal and Raamdeo. It is home to many aspiring young men from Rajasthan.

Back in 1984, Motilal and Raamdeo cleared their CA exams around the same time and had to leave the hostel. Each went their own, separate ways, still unaware of the other. ‘I had many options—work for a big firm, work for a small firm, go back to the family business or start something on my own,’ remembers Motilal, with a crease in his forehead. His brothers were already in Ahmedabad in the saree trading business. Motilal decided to go to his brothers to take a break and also to figure out what he wanted to do with his life. He knew that he had to take a decision fast because of a recent personal development.

‘After I had cleared my intermediate exam of CA, I got a call from my brother who said, “Tumhari engagement ho gayi hai (Your engagement has taken place),”’ says Motilal with a delighted laugh. He had no clue that his father and grandfather had chosen a girl from their village for him. ‘Those were the days when elders would decide and say chalo boss ab ho gaya (Come on, dude, it is done)!’ he continues. Since he had no job and had yet to clear his finals, he told his family that he would not get married till he finished his education and had settled down. The family had no problem with any of his conditions—all they wanted him to do was to come to the village to get engaged. ‘That’s where I saw my wife for the first time—at my engagement,’ smiles Motilal.

In Ahmedabad, seeing his brothers in the saree trade, there was one decision that Motilal took very easily. He did not want to become a saree trader. To keep himself occupied while he decided about his future, he took up a job at a local CA firm. ‘“Kuch to karte hain (Let me do something at least)!” I thought to myself, “Kuch to paisa kamana hai (I should earn some money at least),”’ says Motilal. But he found the routine audit very boring. What he found interesting, however, was what his trader brothers did on the side. ‘The IPO market was very hot back then. Big companies would come out with IPOs and multinational companies would get listed and delisted,’ says Motilal animatedly. While he found the equity market interesting, he had no wish to become a trader in the IPO market. The boy from a small village, to his surprise, found Ahmedabad not exciting as Bombay! The itch to be back in the big city grew stronger each day and he found himself back in Mumbai within a matter of months of leaving it.

To the market!

‘I went back to the same relative and requested him to give me a job in his own firm,’ says Motilal. While he continued to work in the CA firm, he started visiting the Bombay Stock Exchange (BSE) during his lunch hour to check if he could find a link to a broker. ‘The IPO market was still very hot and after listing, the shares were available to be bought on the spot,’ he says. This was around 1985–86 and there were twenty-three stock exchanges in India. There was neither a centralized computer system nor a central repository for all shares. Each exchange operated in isolation and the brokers of one exchange could not trade in any other exchange. The shares were bought and sold in physical forms. The trading took place only between noon and 2 p.m. ‘Times were really different,’ says Motilal. But the zeal to do something in the equity market was very strong and most importantly, Motilal had clients! His brothers did business for clients in Ahmedabad and would buy stocks on the Chennai exchange. The buyer of the stock had fifteen days to give the money to the exchange. Similarly, the seller had fifteen days to hand over the physical shares to the exchange. This window of two weeks gave the opportunity to equity traders to buy in Chennai and sell in Bombay. Since there was no common market, each stock exchange had a different price for the same stock. Thus, there was money to be made by the traders and their clients by buying the stock for cheaper on one exchange and selling it at a higher price on another one. And if one did this within the two-week period, there was no money to be paid up front. Only the gains or losses were realized after the two transactions took place.

Since Motilal had clients who needed to trade on the BSE, he needed a link to a broker. Only registered brokers could trade in the ring of the BSE. The broker community was very close-knit, with mostly extended family members added on as and when there was a vacancy. Motilal’s only lead was the Chennai broker who traded through a Bombay broker. It was to this broker that Motilal went and requested that he be allowed to use the broker’s landline to receive orders from his brothers.

‘You need to remember that a phone line was a prized item in the mid-eighties,’ says Motilal with a chuckle. There was one phone with the broker and there were many claimants to that instrument. The phone was important in the buy–sell process, as the only way to find out the price of the stock trading on two different exchanges was by phone. ‘The difference between the price of the stock between a small exchange and the BSE used to be almost 20 per cent,’ says Motilal. If a stock was trading at Rs 100, say in Chennai, the same stock could be trading at Rs 120 in Bombay. Simply by buying at Rs 100 and then selling the same stock in Bombay for Rs 120, the broker would make Rs 20. Part of that he would keep as his commission and the balance he would pass back as gains to the client, who would not have spent even one rupee to buy the said stock! The only way to get access to information about stock prices was through the phone.

The broker unfortunately did not allow Motilal to use his phone. So, he had to walk to Mantralaya from the BSE—a distance of 2 km—to make his telephone calls from public call office (PCO) booths. Since the booths needed Re 1 coins to be operated, Motilal’s pockets would be full of these. There, on the phone, he would take orders from his brothers in Ahmedabad who, in turn, had orders from their clients. His order book full, Motilal would rush back to the stock exchange and give those orders to the sub-broker who would then rush into the ring and execute the trades in the last few minutes of the trading hours of the day. This went on day after day and Motilal was able to execute trades worth almost Rs 5 lakh every month for his brothers. He was still working in the CA firm of his relative and was living with some friends in Lokhandwala in the Andheri area of Mumbai.

‘Travelling from town to Lokhandwala was not easy in those days,’ remembers Motilal. He would take the train from Churchgate to Andheri station. ‘And then I would take a bus from the station to Four Bungalows, where I would alight and then wait for another bus that would take me to Lokhandwala,’ says Motilal. Today Lokhandwala is a thriving neighbourhood, but in the mid-1980s it was still in the early stages of development. The roads were unpaved and public transport was unreliable. It used to be a long wait for Motilal each day as the buses were not punctual.

‘One day when I was waiting at the Four Bungalows bus stop, I saw a boy going on a motorbike. He looked familiar,’ says Motilal. Raamdeo used to go back to Lokhandwala from his office in town on his bike and saw someone familiar at the bus stop.

An exciting new partnership

It was a coincidence that both Raamdeo and Motilal were staying at Lokhandwala in the mid-1980s. ‘I had finished my CA and had started work as an equity researcher,’ says Raamdeo. ‘Equity research was a love affair at first sight,’ Raamdeo mentions with a chuckle. He had grown up with a passion to read. Even as a child, Raamdeo would be the first to pick up the newspaper and read it from end to end. And in college he was among the handful of people who would read the Economic Times. ‘It was not the paper you see today. It was only three or four pages then, but I loved reading it,’ says Raamdeo. It was this reading of the financial paper that got Raamdeo his first job.

‘I was in the train reading the Economic Times when I saw in the corner of a page a small advertisement for an equity analyst,’ remembers Raamdeo. He was already doing equity research on his own, so he applied for the job. ‘I found out that I was the only one who had applied for the job!’ says Raamdeo with a laugh. Thus began his daily commute from home to work and back on his Hero Honda motorbike. It was on one such evening when he was on his way back home that he noticed Motilal at the bus stop. Raamdeo looked at him and rode on. But his mind told him that he knew that boy from somewhere. It was only when he reached home that he realized that the boy at the bus stop was the same brilliant boy at the hostel who was also in charge of the mess. The next day he saw the boy waiting at the bus stop again. This time he stopped and offered Motilal a lift.

Big changes in life happen due to small incidents. This small gesture of Raamdeo offering Motilal a lift changed their lives forever! Not only did their lives change but also the lives of many Indians, who now look at broking and investing with respect.

When he sat behind Raamdeo on the motorbike that evening, Motilal could not have anticipated that together they would, one day, form one of the largest financial services firms of India. Neither could Raamdeo. Even he did not have any foresight of their future business as he drove from Four Bungalows to Lokhandwala to drop Motilal home. Motilal thanked Raamdeo for the lift and made a mental note to himself to wait for the ride the following day.

‘The next day I saw Moti waiting for me at the bus stop again, so I stopped to pick him up,’ says Raamdeo. Motilal had a sharp mind. He figured that he could get the ride both ways instead of only in the evenings. So, he started waiting for Raamdeo in the mornings as well. Within a matter of days, it had become a regular arrangement. ‘That’s when Moti started coming home in the morning! He realized that instead of waiting on the road he could come home and help me get ready to leave the house on time,’ chuckles Raamdeo.

Motilal and Raamdeo had time during their ride to talk about what each one was doing. Soon they became good friends. There was already the hostel connection between them. The fact that neither was satisfied with his job was another similarity. Motilal was fascinated by the research that Raamdeo did in equities, and Raamdeo, in turn, was excited about the equity trading that Motilal carried out. The logical question, then, was ‘why not do something together?’ Having asked this question, they looked at what each had to offer. To start with, neither had any capital to bring to the table. What each of them had was their respective abilities. ‘I was supremely confident that I knew everything about the market and stocks,’ says Raamdeo in a strong voice. ‘I knew that no one could beat my knowledge of the stocks.’ Adds Motilal in his trademark soft, but firm, voice: ‘I had connections with the clients through my brothers, so we could trade equities.’ All they needed was access to broking.

‘Broking was very difficult to get into in those days,’ says Raamdeo. Most of the brokers were Gujaratis. ‘The official language of BSE was Gujarati. All circulars and notices were in that language,’ remembers Motilal. Further, broking tables were difficult to get even as a sub-broker. Each broker had a designated area in the stock exchange. There was a table with some phone lines and all business was done from this table.

Each broker had five or six sub-brokers and each of these also commanded a premium. The sub-brokers of each broker were given a place on the table to work and use the telephone lines to book orders. ‘Raamdeo used to go to the trading ring but he went there as an analyst. So, we had to find another broker,’ says Motilal. Sunder Iyer was a broker that Raamdeo used to work with sporadically. ‘He was very fond of me and told me that we could work with him,’ says Raamdeo. The two friends had finally found their trading link. Thus, in 1987, Prudential Portfolio Services was set up with Motilal and Raamdeo as partners and Sunder Iyer as their main broker. ‘My brother had a very small space in Kalbadevi and it became our office,’ says Raamdeo.

Sunder Iyer, unfortunately, did not have a spare sub-broker table. This did not deter the two young men. They were determined to set up their own business of broking and were willing to stand and wait for one of Sunder Iyer’s sub-brokers to leave the table. At that instant, Motilal would run and occupy the spot and get on the phone with Raamdeo, who was in the office at Kalbadevi. Raamdeo would then connect with Motilal’s brothers, who had orders from their clients. These orders would be passed on to Motilal who would execute them through Sunder Iyer. This was not easy work, but both young men had their own reasons driving them to be successful in the business.

Motilal was a married man by now and also a father. He was determined to succeed as he had a family to support. Raamdeo, on the other hand, was driven by the fact that he had been rejected by a girl’s father as being unsuitable. ‘What had happened in 1987 was that I was engaged to a girl. The father of the girl had thought that I was a CA and had good prospects. So, he got his daughter engaged to me. After the engagement, he came to see me in Bombay and, to his horror, found that I was in equity research,’ says Raamdeo with a deep laugh. Broking was a profession that was looked down upon by prospective fathers-in-law. ‘It was considered to be too risky,’ says Raamdeo. The father broke off the engagement of his daughter with Raamdeo. ‘It was funny, you know. He was the one who had got her engaged and now it was he who wanted the engagement to be called off,’ says Raamdeo. While he did not lose any sleep over the broken engagement, Raamdeo made up his mind at that moment that he had to succeed as a businessman. The old saying of ‘Behind every successful man stands a woman’ took on a new meaning in Raamdeo’s case!

The two friends got down to serious work. Motilal already had the Chennai broker as a client. Through references, he added brokers in other stock exchanges as his clients. His brothers too started actively sourcing more direct clients. These clients were tapped for references for still more direct clients. It was a seller’s market, as very few people had access to stocks and even fewer, if any at all, to research-based advice for buying or selling stocks.

‘We decided to differentiate ourselves by giving research-based advice to all our clients, including the brokers,’ says Raamdeo. Motilal agrees and says, ‘Raamdeo was a balance-sheet fanatic and he knew every company he researched inside out.’ In the eighties, the annual reports of companies were not readily available. Raamdeo used to ask everyone he knew for the annual reports and had collected the balance sheets of more than 250 companies, even before he started a business with Motilal. ‘You won’t believe it, but there was a balance sheet library outside the BSE,’ says Raamdeo animatedly. His voice quickens and becomes excited as soon as he starts speaking about balance sheets. The balance sheet library was probably the only one of its kind in India. ‘That’s where you could find me at all times—pre-lunch, post-lunch or even at lunchtime,’ says Raamdeo. He would be the only person sitting in the library and he would use the solitude to devour the financials of companies.

With his deep knowledge of the companies, Raamdeo started giving his clients advice on stocks. ‘The fact that both Moti and I were professionals—CAs—helped matters, as clients saw us as a different kind of brokers,’ says Raamdeo. The jugalbandi between Motilal and Raamdeo worked well. Motilal would trade on the floor through the broker, while Raamdeo would work with the clients and give them advice. ‘No one was giving any advice to clients at that time. And here we were giving them advice for free,’ says Motilal.

Free advice was not the only differentiator between the other brokers and team Motilal–Raamdeo. The fact that they gave their clients the true price of sale or purchase set them apart from the rest of the brokers. ‘We were clear that we wanted to do honest business,’ says Motilal. They brought transparency in the trading of stocks when the business was totally opaque. ‘Since there was no computer or ticker on anyone’s desk, no one, except the broker, knew the exact price of the transaction,’ says Motilal. The brokers rarely called the clients at the end of the day to tell them about the price of the transaction. ‘We promised our clients honesty and transparency, so we would call each one of them at the end of the day to tell them about the cost of transaction,’ says Raamdeo. The clients were pleasantly shocked and the word spread fast that the professional brokers were different from the rest.

The age of professional brokers

Raamdeo and Motilal worked as sub-brokers of Sunder Iyer for a period of three years. During these years they operated from that small office in Kalbadevi. The office belonged to Raamdeo’s brother who was happy to let the young men continue to use it. ‘There was a desk and three chairs, each bought for Rs 110, in the office. One chair for me, one for Moti and one for the client,’ laughs Raamdeo. There was also a computer and an air conditioner. The air conditioner was not for the individuals sitting in the office, but to prevent the computer from overheating! ‘Our biggest investment was getting two phone lines,’ adds Motilal.

Even in the late eighties, landlines were not available on tap. There was a long waiting time to get a phone connection. The government had come out with a scheme called Own Your Telephone (OYT). Under OYT, applicants could get their phone connection quicker than usual. The OYT phones cost Rs 12,000, which had to be paid to MTNL. The unofficial price was double that. Since the phones were the lifelines of the business, the team invested in two OYTs—one for the office and one for the house. ‘We told all our clients that we were available 24X7. They could call us anytime for advice,’ says Raamdeo. The clients were given free advice on their portfolio and the stocks. The only expectation was that they would do part of their broking through Motilal and Raamdeo.

It was hard work for both Motilal and Raamdeo. Trading took place between noon and 2 p.m. By 4 p.m., Motilal had written the trades in his broker’s books. Then he took the sheets to other brokers to check for any discrepancy. This done, he would head to the office, where Raamdeo and he would punch the day’s sauda (trade) into the computer. Raamdeo would also call up each client to tell him about the day’s trades. Motilal would then take the 8.35 p.m. train from Victoria Terminus to Dombivli. ‘The reason I took this train was that it was relatively uncrowded and I could get a place to sit,’ says Motilal. It was important for Motilal to get the seat, as the long journey was used to do the paperwork of the day’s trades. His briefcase would be used as an impromptu desk. Any leftover paperwork was finished in a similar manner the next morning on the train journey back to town. ‘I did not want to start any day with a backlog,’ says Motilal.

The hard work started paying off slowly, but steadily. As business partners, they had both agreed that they would neither do any speculative business nor would they take any loans. Further, they would pay their taxes honestly. ‘I told Moti, since he was doing the accounts for the company, that we would pay our taxes, as I did not want those guys in my office. Ever,’ says Raamdeo with emphasis, his face pulling into a grimace as he says, ‘those guys’.

The business was growing but times were tough. It was a depressed market. The only income was from their share of the commissions. As sub-brokers, the brokerage was shared by the main broker. ‘I remember cajoling Sunder Iyer to make payouts to us on time, as that was the only income we had,’ remembers Motilal. Within the first year, they made an income of almost Rs 50,000. As the business started growing, Raamdeo got married in 1988. ‘Not to that girl!’ he hastens to add. I wonder if that girl or her father regret today that unilateral decision of theirs to break off the engagement!

Raamdeo may have got married but he still remained available to his clients 24/7. ‘I had the phone at home and I had the telephone guys to give me a 30-foot cable with it,’ says Raamdeo. Today it is difficult to imagine life without a mobile phone. But in the late eighties, landlines were the lifeline of those fortunate enough to have a working phone connection. The clients would call Raamdeo at any time and he would walk from one room to the other, even into the kitchen, while speaking with the client. ‘There were times that I took the call from the client in the bathroom, even when I was soaped all over!’ laughs Raamdeo. The advice to all his clients was to invest for the long-term in the equity market. He strongly discouraged short-term speculative gains. Raamdeo told his clients that there were simply no get-rich-overnight kind of stocks that he would recommend to them.

The years between 1987 and 1990 saw a depressed market. The shadow of the Rajiv Gandhi–V.P. Singh government, especially the Bofors scandal, had shaken the confidence of India and the market. But the broking market was a seller’s market as there was a shortage of brokers. Sub-brokers Motilal and Raamdeo were able to do moderate to good broking business and by 1990 had an accumulated savings of more than Rs 12 lakh. ‘All the money we earned, we put back into the market,’ says Motilal. The two walked the talk they gave their clients. Any money earned by them as commissions was put back into their market portfolio. This portfolio, of course, was not speculative but constructed after meticulous research.

The year 1990 was a decision point for the duo. They realized that they were gaining a reputation of being professionals, and of being transparent in the otherwise opaque market. The reputation that the brokers had earned for themselves was based on the opaqueness around their operations. There were no mobile phones that could allow the brokers to be in direct touch with their clients. The common practice of the market was to quote the day’s highest price for the client while buying and the lowest while selling. Raamdeo and Motilal stayed away from this practice. They would scrupulously maintain the details of the actual price they bought or sold at and would report that price to their clients. ‘The fact that we actually called our clients during the day and told them that we had transacted at a price was by itself a big thing for them. No one else was doing it,’ says Motilal animatedly. These were also the days before the Security and Exchange Board of India (SEBI) came into being. Thus, there were no rules and regulations for the market to follow.

‘In the absence of rules, everyone did their own thing,’ says Motilal. While 10–15 per cent brokers, as outliers, were being relatively honest, the bulk of the lot followed their own individual rules. ‘You basically trusted your own broker or sub-broker. If he was honest, you were okay. If he was not, then you lost money,’ says Motilal, with the experience of years behind him. ‘I myself lost money due to dishonest sub-brokers,’ says Motilal. I think brokers in those days were the jewellers of today. Everyone has their ‘trusted’ jeweller and they buy gold and precious stones based on pure trust. It is only in times of need or test that the genuineness of the jeweller is found out. Jewellers, like brokers, largely used to be family-run businesses. Today, there are corporates like Tanishq that have jewellery as their business and similarly, there are corporate institutions that run brokerage businesses. The belief in the minds of the customers is that corporates have no ‘personal’ gains to make by being dishonest.

Back in the 1990s, however, Motilal and Raamdeo were giving their main broker a good deal of business, but the clients were theirs. The thought of becoming brokers themselves cropped up in their heads. Their logic was that the clients were theirs, the research was theirs, the advice was theirs, and they were using the broker only to trade in the ring. What if they too bought a BSE membership? The idea was good, no doubt, but the only problem was that the membership cost Rs 25 lakh in the open market. The duo had only half of that amount as savings. If they decided to go for the BSE membership, they had to bet their entire savings and then take a loan. ‘Taking the loan was the biggest mental obstacle,’ says Raamdeo. But, looking at the pros, they decided to invest their money for long-term gains from their broking business. ‘The speculation was that if we failed, we could sell the BSE membership and get our capital back!’ laughs Raamdeo.

The decision to buy the BSE membership was helped by the fact that BSE had opened its doors for new members under the category of ‘professionals’. ‘You know, BSE at that time was a closed, elite club. The membership was open to relatives of existing members,’ says Motilal. Even when BSE opened for professional members, it was the relatives of the existing brokers who quickly bought up those memberships. ‘BSE was giving the new memberships at a huge discount—they wanted only Rs 8 or 10 lakh,’ remembers Motilal. The problem was that by the time Motilal applied, the quota for professionals had run out. ‘But we had mentally made the decision to become full brokers of the BSE. So we looked in the open market to buy a membership,’ says Motilal.

Membership of the BSE—a dream come true

They found an existing member willing to sell his membership to the duo. The challenge, however, was that BSE allowed only individuals as members. ‘Brokers could not be partnerships or corporates. They had to be individual proprietorships,’ says Motilal. Since he had trading experience—one of the requirements—they decided to buy the membership in Motilal’s name. ‘That is why the company is called Motilal Oswal,’ laughs Motilal.

Once he bought the membership and Motilal Oswal Securities Limited (MOSL) was formed, Raamdeo came on board as a consultant. They had to buy an office near the BSE as was the requirement of the membership. They bought their first office, a small one—180 square feet—in Natwar Chambers. They employed an office boy as their first staff, and the broking business was in operation. Lady Luck gave them her blessing in the shape of Harshad Mehta. ‘It was the defining moment of our lives,’ says Raamdeo. The bull run in the equity market, fuelled by Harshad Mehta, started in 1991 and it took the broking company upward in its own journey. With everyone and their uncle wanting to trade in equities, MOSL had no shortage of business. All income earned as brokerage was put back into the market as their personal portfolio. ‘We had a personal portfolio of Rs 15 lakh to start with and, would you believe it, it touched a high of Rs 15 crore in two years!’ says Raamdeo with pride.

The reason for the pride in his voice is that the portfolio was not a speculative one. The investments were all based on Raamdeo’s research. It was living proof of Raamdeo’s belief. ‘The day we got our commissions, we would invest it back into the market,’ says Raamdeo. During those years, based on the trades they carried out, the company earned Rs 2–3 crore as brokerage income. The entire profit was used to buy stocks for their own portfolio, which saw a gain of twenty or thirty times over. ‘The market itself went up by six or seven times, but the stocks I had chosen did even better. Those were crazy times,’ remembers Raamdeo.

It is indeed a charged atmosphere when the market is in the throes of a bull run. Everyone, including the paanwala round the corner, starts to advise on stocks. In the midst of this madness, Raamdeo and Motilal provided an oasis of calm and measured investing. MOSL continued to do research-based broking. Raamdeo remembers one instance which is indicative of the way MOSL worked. One of their clients, a financial institution, wanted to sell 1,50,000 shares of S.K.F. Pharma. Raamdeo’s research had shown that the company would do well and that the share price would go up in the near future. ‘But if we carried out the order we would make Rs 5 lakh as broking income from this one transaction,’ says Raamdeo. These were the early days of MOSL and every little income was welcome. However, there was no hesitation in either of the two partners in agreeing that the client needed to be advised to hold on and not sell just then. ‘Sure enough, in a few months the price went up by three times!’ says Raamdeo. The client was, of course, delighted and the word on the Street—that MOSL puts client interest first—became stronger.

The sub-brokers and franchisees appointed by MOSL to grow the business were also told to follow the same principle. The sub-brokers had to keep the clients informed of the actual price of transaction. ‘There were many times that the clients would get the price from MOSL for their transaction. The next day when they checked the papers, they would be pleasantly surprised to find that their price was not the highest or the lowest of the day,’ says Raamdeo. While the sub-brokers and franchisees expanded the retail business, the institutional business also went through a change.

‘When foreign institutional investors (FIIs) came into the market, everything changed,’ remembers Motilal. The Harshad Mehta scam was a watershed in the life of the Indian stock market. The market regulator, SEBI, came into being and shortly after that, the National Stock Exchange (NSE) was set up. ‘We, of course, became members of the NSE as well,’ says Motilal. Large institutions like LIC and UTI also started looking for broking services. ‘There were no direct connections to LIC,’ remembers Motilal. LIC was a big institutional client but they had only one phone number in their order room. Not surprisingly, the landline was always engaged. ‘We employed one person whose only job was to sit and keep dialling the LIC order room number,’ says Motilal. ‘Jab bhee number lagega ek bada order to milna hi tha! (Whenever the line got connected, it was for sure that we would get a big order!)’ he laughs.

It may have taken LIC time to set up more telephone lines in their order room but the landscape around was changing rapidly. ‘The coming of the screens was just magic,’ says Motilal. The real-time availability of the stock market movements to anyone who subscribed to the stock market service took away the thick cloak of opacity from the market. Traditionalists say that it also took away the mystique. The customers were not complaining, however, as they had more visibility into their trades. And then came the dematerialization of shares. ‘This was the biggest thing to happen in the Indian stock market,’ says Motilal.

Till the late 1990s, the shares issued by companies were in physical form. It meant that people had to keep the shares, which were pieces of paper, in safe custody. Every time a trade was done, the seller had to sign behind each share certificate, sign the delivery order slip and submit both to the broker. The broker, in turn, would enter it in his books and send it on to the company which had issued the shares, along with the name of the buyer and his or her details. The company’s secretarial department would receive the shares, record the transaction in their ledger, stamp and sign the share certificates and send them off to the buying broker. This broker would enter the details in his book of records and then hand over the physical shares to the buyer. Since all this took place by post, not even couriers, the entire process could take upwards of a month. Phew! Dematerialization of shares and digitalization brought this transaction time down to five days. Dematerialization not only cut down on the share trade time, it also brought down the number of frauds in the market.

The changes in the market were not welcomed by all. The old-timers in the market—the older brokers—looked at all the changes with suspicion. ‘But there was so much business for everyone that no one bothered after a while,’ says Motilal. He and Raamdeo were the first set of professionals who entered the broking business, which, till then, had the reputation of being a ‘murky’ one. The Bollywood movies at that time did nothing to dispel that image. In fact, they fuelled it. In retrospect, however, the duo entered the business at the right time as the nineties was the start of the true retail business within the capital market. The scams had brought in retail investors by the thousands. They had been lured into the market with promises of quick returns. Many lost their money in the stock market crash that followed. The plight of the retail investor brought equity market investments and practices into the spotlight. The finance ministry also realized that they needed to strengthen the system. Add to that the process of liberalization that started in 1991. The cumulative result of all these factors was that the nature of the market changed. ‘Banks like ICICI started their online trading platform and that really increased the penetration in the retail market,’ says Motilal. Mutual funds, buoyed by the overall sentiment, also increased their presence in India. The average investor had burned his fingers rather badly in the scam-ridden market. Therefore, he was looking for the ‘right advice’ before investing. And Raamdeo had the right advice to give.

The right advice was required not only by the retail investor but also by institutional investors. Foreign investors were coming in, as the Indian capital market was seen by the world as a good, steady place to invest. These foreign companies came with their set of processes and governance structures. MOSL, as a company, was attractive to them as their broking company followed laid-down procedures. ‘The fact that Moti and I were chartered accountants gave a lot of comfort to the FIIs,’ says Raamdeo. As the business was growing, the partners realized that they needed more professionals in their fold. ‘We were clear that we did not want “Yes-boss” kind of people in our company,’ says Raamdeo. MOSL wanted the best to work with them to bring about the growth they had in mind. Madhu Kela and Nirmal Jain were part of the early professional team at MOSL. ‘Nirmal was a marketing professional who had not worked in equities at all,’ says Raamdeo. His ability to pick multi-baggers in stocks extended to identifying the right people as well. Raamdeo not only hired Nirmal Jain but also made him the head of research. Today, Nirmal Jain owns and runs the well-known financial services firm India Infoline, and Madhu Kela is a senior and respected professional in the financial services industry.

Life changed for both Motilal and Raamdeo as the business started growing. From Dombivli, Motilal moved to Ville Parle before moving further north to Peddar Road. Raamdeo too moved his family from the suburbs to midtown. Motilal, who would walk an average of 6–10 km a day to avoid conveyance costs, bought a Maruti 800 car. Their personal portfolio was also growing. From the very start of the business, the two had decided that they would not have any individual investment portfolios—only a joint one. Further, the investment portfolio would be the only financial asset they would build together. The journey of their individual investment portfolio can compete easily with the ride on a roller coaster.

‘We started our portfolio with Rs 15 lakh in 1990, which went up to Rs 15 crore in the Harshad Mehta bull run,’ remembers Raamdeo. After the market crash, their Rs 15 crore went down by two-thirds, to a value of Rs 5 crore, within a matter of weeks. ‘However, we persisted with our work and kept growing the company business,’ says Raamdeo. More business meant more income for the partners. And it was all invested back into the portfolio. The latter part of the nineties saw the Y2K and tech bull run in the market. ‘That bull run lifted our portfolio from Rs 5 crore back to Rs 15 crore and then took it all the way up to Rs 75 crore!’ says Raamdeo. This bubble burst too and their joint portfolio went all the way down to Rs 30 crore again. ‘The time after the tech bubble burst was a bad time for us,’ says Motilal. For the first time since they had started working together, the partners saw an actual loss in their business. Not disheartened, they went back to doing what they knew best—investing in the stock market. ‘And then the mother of all bull runs happened in 2005–07,’ says Raamdeo, with awe in his voice even now. The housing credit boom in the US fuelled the world economy and the Indian capital markets were on a roll. The portfolio went from Rs 15 crore all the way up to Rs 350 crore. But then Lehman Brothers crashed and so did the portfolios of millions of investors around the world. Motilal and Raamdeo’s portfolio went down by half to almost Rs 200 crore. There is no regret of losing value nor is there a note of smug satisfaction of having recovered the value of their portfolio in either Motilal or Raamdeo’s voice. ‘The only thing I focused on was to keep on investing in the right stocks for the long term—just like my guru, Warren Buffett,’ says Raamdeo.

Raamdeo heard of Warren Buffett sometime in 1994 or 1995. Sanjoy Bhattacharya of Fortuna Capital gave Raamdeo a copy of The Warren Buffett Way, written by Robert G. Hagstrom. ‘And my life changed after that,’ says Raamdeo. ‘I became a bhakt of Buffet. He had no idea that I was his bhakt but I started almost worshipping him,’ he continues. A successful American investor and philanthropist, Warren Buffet has been the chairman of Berkshire Hathaway since the mid-1970s. His annual letters to the shareholders of Hathaway have a cult following. Today, they are available on the Net, but in the nineties, they were difficult to find. ‘But for a bhakt, nothing is difficult. So I managed to get hold of copies of his letters,’ says Raamdeo with immense pride. What he read in the letters resonated with his own core philosophy. ‘And thus began a love story that is alive even today,’ says Raamdeo, with a loud laugh. In fact, Raamdeo now travels every year to Omaha to hear Buffett speak at the Hathaway shareholders’ meetings.

The milestones in their business have continued to be marked—from having more than 100 FII clients in the year 2003 to entering the Limca Book of Records in 2009 for having the largest dealing room; from featuring as a case study in Harvard Business School in 2007 to crossing $2.50 billion equity assets under management in their mutual fund business in 2017. The two partners continued to put their earnings in their investment portfolio, which had also continued to grow. In 2013, however, Motilal suggested that they move their personal portfolio into the mutual funds run by the group. It was a big decision but it made sense. ‘There was no better way of showing the market and the investors that we believed completely in our own philosophy of investment. There is our own skin in the game. All our savings are invested in our own mutual funds now,’ says Raamdeo.

Their individual wealth may have continued to grow but Motilal and Raamdeo have not changed much as people. ‘My wife, who is a homemaker, has ensured that the children have their feet on the ground,’ says Motilal. Raamdeo agrees as he says, ‘It is only my wife who has brought up our son. I never had any time!’ Motilal is a health enthusiast and therefore has ensured that their new office—2.7 lakh square feet in area—has a well-equipped gym. He also likes to read and his office has a variety of books. Raamdeo shares this love of reading. ‘You love to read and you love to research,’ I say to Raamdeo. ‘Is there another company like yours that you have come across in all your research?’ I ask him. A company like theirs, where the promoters are not family members, and the company and the personal relationships between the promoters is still going strong after thirty years. ‘I think there may be many,’ is the instinctive answer from Raamdeo. I am still sceptical and ask him for names. That sets him thinking. I can almost hear the gears chugging in his mind as he runs over the names of companies in his mind. He takes a couple of names but then rejects them himself. ‘I think we may be the only company of this kind then,’ he says slowly.

It is indeed a company of its own kind, where the original promotors have not brought in any of their family members into the business. ‘In the beginning the temptation may be strong as you need people but have no money to pay,’ says Raamdeo. Many promoters succumb to the easy availability of family members but therein lies the problem. ‘We could have also got mamas, chachas, bhanjaas to the business. But then I could not say anything to Moti’s relatives and he could not say anything to mine,’ says Raamdeo logically.

It was a prudent decision taken in the early years of the business and it has paid rich dividends. The thirty-year-old company is still run by the two founders, who have talented professionals as part of the management team. Both Motilal and Raamdeo are categorical in agreeing that they could not have asked for more when the two decided to work together. Their work is cut out and each knows what he does best. It was just fate one evening at Four Bungalows that brought them together, but it is hard work that has kept the relationship going. It will be a while before the next generation takes control of the business. Motilal’s and Raamdeo’s sons, one son each, have chosen to work outside their fathers’ companies after their graduation. Whether the sons join the business or not, I am convinced about one fact: Fate is waiting in the wings, watching and biding her time to jump in at the right moment. Good luck to that!

Conclusion

Motilal Oswal speaks in a soft, measured voice and Raamdeo Agrawal in a booming one. Thus, on average, the voice decibel of the two partners is all right! The relationship between Motilal and Raamdeo is similar to their voices—different but complementary. Using the language of the capital markets, it can be said that both Motilal and Raamdeo have invested for the long term in their relationship. While others may speculate about the strength of their friendship, the two are clear that the compounding effect over the last thirty years has generated a depth in their friendship that can now be likened to a family.

Prudential Portfolio Services, and then Motilal Oswal Securities, were set up in times when the capital market was only for ‘people like them’ and not for ‘people like us’. The market itself was a different place back in 1987. Today, it is a different story altogether. It may be difficult for millennials to even fathom the pioneering spirit that was required of two youngsters to enter the broking business and then make a name for themselves. The broking community was, it seemed, only for the Gujaratis. Neither Motilal nor Raamdeo was a Gujarati. They were ‘outsiders’ in all senses of the word.

The financial services sector in India consists of the capital markets, insurance sector and the non-banking financial companies. The gross domestic savings as a percentage of the gross domestic product has risen to 30 per cent. While the total savings in India is projected to reach approximately $1.2 trillion by 2019, the bulk of it, 95 per cent, is kept in bank deposits. No wonder the asset management industry in India is among the fastest-growing in the world. With a fraction of the total savings in the capital markets, the opportunity for financial services businesses is immense.

Further, India is in a strong position—irrespective of the trajectory of the global economy, the country is set to cement its strong position at least for the next ten to fifteen years. With the Goods and Services Tax (GST) and other measures being implemented, the growth is expected to be 7.5 per cent. It is the financial services sector that is the engine of growth, with its share at 7 per cent in the GDP of the country in 2010. The other factor is that the growth in the real sector—the sector of economy that deals with actual production of products and services—is also fuelled by the financial services sector. Thus, clearly, the Motilal Oswal Group is in the right place at the right time.

The group also has the right people in the right places. The company has demonstrated over the last decade that they value professionals in the business. ‘An example of what the right person can do is when you look at their asset management business,’ says Rajan Krishnan, former CEO of Baroda Pioneer Mutual Fund. ‘The asset management business took off once they got in Ashish Somaiyya to head it,’ he continues. The focus on getting talented professionals started in the early part of the company’s life. So much so that in 2006, even before they went public, 13 per cent of the stock was kept for employees under the ESOP scheme. The promoters are clear that they want to employ smart people as it is only then that it will be a company of giants.

The Motilal Oswal Group continues to be a family-owned company. ‘The market sees it as a family-owned company, no doubt, but it also respects the fact that professionals are at the helm of affairs,’ says Vibhav Kapoor, group chief investment officer, IL&FS. ‘The boards of the various subsidiary companies also have good people, and that too provides an insight into the minds of the promoters.’

Today the Motilal Oswal Group that started with two men and a dream has diversified into a financial services conglomerate of over 4500 associates across broking and distribution, asset management, housing finance, private wealth management, investment banking and private equity. It is present in over 2200 locations in more than 600 cities with upwards of 1 million customers and assets under management/advisory amounting to more than Rs 1 trillion. The company that started with no capital today has a market capitalization of around Rs 16,000 crore. The fruits of this growth are shared by all—recently the company gave ESOPs in its fast-growing housing finance company to each and every employee, including peons.

The guidance and direction continue to be provided by Motilal and Raamdeo, neither of whom are growing younger. They certainly have a decade or even more of hands-on management left. The question is whether they will take the route of separating the ownership from the management of the business once they decide to quit executive roles. The younger generation is not being corralled into the dealing arena, but both partners desire to see their sons enter the business.

The years ahead are exciting for the capital markets certainly. They are also exciting for the Motilal Oswal Group.
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Keventers

Agastya Dalmia

As I walk up the driveway to meet Agastya Dalmia, I see an enclosure where a cow sits and chews cud serenely. It is almost noon on a hot summer afternoon but the cow seems unaffected by the heat. As I walk down the path, it looks up at me questioningly, shakes its head, and goes back to chewing its cud. I wonder if this cow is a descendant of the same family of cows that, almost fifty years ago, provided the main ingredient for the flavoured milk of Keventers.

Agastya laughs when I ask him about this. ‘I never thought about it actually, but who knows!’ he says.

I am in Agastya’s office—a small, single-level white building located on one side of a sprawling Akbar Road estate. From where I sit, I can see the cow still chewing away without a worry in the world. As I look around, I see more cows in the office—this time on the old labels of Keventers products displayed on the walls.

Keventers is a 100-year-old brand, as is evident from the labels. Keventers products included butter, ghee, condensed milk, ice creams, cassatas and, of course, the iconic flavoured milk. The business was bought, by Agastya’s grandfather Ramkrishna Dalmia, from one Mr Keventer, a Swedish gentleman, in the first half of the twentieth century. The original business was actually set up around 1922. As Keventer grew his enterprise, he set up factories in Aligarh, Darjeeling, Kolkata and Delhi. When Dalmia bought the business, he got the factories in Aligarh and Delhi, along with the Keventers brand. For a long time, Dalmia ran it as a B2B, or an institutional sales model. Their largest client was the Indian Army, who bought milk, milk powder and biscuits.

Dalmia looked at the retail business only when he introduced products like the now-iconic milkshakes, ice creams and cassatas. Today, people who work at Keventers relate stories which are part of the company folklore. This one took place in the 1930s, when the factory at Malcha Marg was producing ice cream, especially cassatas. They were loaded on to local thelas (carts), which finally supplied the goods to the distributors. These horse-driven thelas were the precursors to the modern-day ice cream vans. The ice creams found ready acceptance with customers, but when the company wanted to launch milkshakes, or flavoured milk, they were a bit apprehensive. India was a country where lassi was the most popular milk-based beverage. People at Keventers were unsure whether the average customer would be ready to accept the non-yoghurt-based drink. Current employees remember that the company was surprised and happy at the quick acceptance of their milkshakes. The now-iconic glass bottles with their tin foil covers were snapped up by customers and very soon, there were almost fifty outlets in Delhi selling Keventers milkshakes.

It is this 100-year old brand that young Agastya has relaunched. I wonder aloud if the burden of history sat heavy on his shoulders when he started work on the relaunch. ‘Actually, Keventers was a very small part of our family business,’ he says. ‘My grandfather had all kinds of enterprises. Do you know that he owned a company called Bharat Insurance that later became part of what is today’s LIC? And there was also an airline. I think it was called Dalmia Jain airline. It was also part of his business. And yes, PNB as well,’ he says quite matter-of-factly.

‘You mean Punjab National Bank?’ I asked.

‘Yep, he had a controlling stake in it. So you see, Keventers was just a small part of the overall business.’ And then excitedly he adds, ‘Oh I forgot, there were biscuits as well. Dalmia Biscuits,’ he says with a boyish smile. ‘So, really, it was no big deal relaunching Keventers.’

This attitude of ‘what’s-the-big-deal’ defines Agastya. He is the third generation of the Dalmia family—a family that was once was among the richest and most powerful families in India. Grandfather Dalmia was a very successful businessman with a diversified portfolio of businesses. ‘His story interests me,’ says Agastya and it is indeed a fascinating story.

A real-life rags-to-riches story

R.K. Dalmia was born in an ordinary Marwari household. His great-grandfather was a wealthy businessman but successive generations did not carry that wealth forward. Dalmia spent his early days in Kolkata in poverty. His family had moved in with his maternal uncle. R.K. Dalmia was a young man in his early twenties when his father died and the responsibility of the entire family came to him. It was not a small family that he had to look after either. The family consisted of R.K. Dalmia’s grandmother, mother, three sisters, younger brother and his wife. They all stayed together in a small room in Kolkata. In those days, they used to pay a princely sum of Rs 13 a month as rent. He was given some work by his maternal uncle in the bullion trading market, which enabled him to support the family. While he worked dutifully to keep the family going, Dalmia was ambitious and wanted to move out of his poverty. Even though he was a man of simple tastes, he wanted to go back to the heady days of his great-grandfather, when the family lived a life of luxury.

Dalmia understood basic English and had a good head for numbers. While working in the bullion market, young Dalmia would decipher coded telegrams that his firm would receive from bullion agents in London. Deciphering the telegrams and understanding the buy-sell instructions therein gave him an insight into the bullion market. This learning was invaluable and compensated for the lack of formal education in his life. He started putting his knowledge to the test and began speculating on bullion in the Kolkata stock market. Some small successes in speculative deals in silver made him want to take more risks. In his enthusiasm, he made some initial mistakes and could not pay his dues. This resulted in him being declared persona non grata within the close-knit community of traders. To a Marwari, his reputation is even more valuable than the money he has. Being boycotted by the community made Dalmia even more determined to win back all that he had lost. He found ways to work around the boycott and due to his persistence and a bit of good luck, he was able to earn back not only his money, but also his reputation.

Dalmia was fortunate that some of the risks he took worked out for him. He timed the bullion market well and in the process, he earned well for himself. While his mother told him many times to be happy with what he had earned—‘We can all live a good life on Rs 50 a month,’ she is quoted to have said—Dalmia wanted more. He wanted to set up a business empire that would get the world to recognize him and respect him. The early rejection from the trader community still rankled and he wanted to prove that he could not be ignored. Dalmia went on to become one of the three largest industrialists in India and soon his family’s name was taken in the same breath as the Tatas and the Birlas.

‘I don’t really think that there was any business in which he did not have at least a small stake,’ says Agastya. ‘Our family was right up there,’ he says, gesturing with his hand up.

Agastya is right. The Dalmia business empire was spread across many sectors. After Dalmia made a fortune from speculating, some say gambling, on silver prices especially during the First World War, he went on to set up a sugar mill in 1933. This was in Bihar where the family had access to land. But he was not satisfied with one factory and one business alone and went on to establish, in the same district, factories for cement, asbestos, paper, board, vanaspati and chemicals. All the businesses were flourishing and the Dalmia brand was gaining respect within the country and abroad. After setting himself up in the manufacturing industries, Dalmia wanted to move into the financial world. With this in mind, the second stage of expansion of the Dalmia business took place and Dalmia marched forth confidently. He promoted a bank called Bharat Bank, which went on to open 300 branches in less than five years and functioned as a full-service commercial bank. He also had interests in the insurance sector as he acquired Bharat Insurance Company and then Bharat Fire and General Insurance Company. Besides these, he also set up a national safe deposit company that had strong rooms and large iron vaults in various cities of India.

The breakneck expansion happened in the last years of the 1930s and in the early years of the 1940s. It was evident then that India would soon gain independence. The British were not very confident of their businesses doing well after India became independent. They were looking to sell off their businesses and Dalmia saw this as an opportunity to grow his empire even further. Companies like Govan Brothers, Andrew Yule, Allen Berry and Co., and Bennett, Coleman & Co. were only too happy to sell their businesses to Dalmia.

Agastya comes back to his history. ‘Even though my grandfather had vision, some of the next generation could not carry it forward,’ he says with shrug.

The next generation certainly had many inheritors who could have taken the Dalmia business even further. His grandfather had six wives and seventeen children. The Hindu personal law, banning polygamy, was not yet in force, so Dalmia did not break any law by marrying six times. The first two wives were village women but the next four were well educated. While his first wife died early, he separated from his third wife. His fourth wife, Saraswati, was a well-educated and scholarly lady and it was with her that he spent most of his life. Saraswati is Agastya’s grandmother.

One of the reasons that the numerous inheritors of the Dalmia empire could not take the business forward is that R.K. Dalmia and his business partners ran into problems that all family businesses run into—they tried to get along after seeing success. Dalmia had grown his holdings by creating partnerships with other business families. One of the main partnerships was with the Jain family of Najibabad. Such was the relationship that the group was called Dalmia–Jain Group. Just when all seemed to be going well for the group, the partners decided to part ways. While it was done amicably and in the safe sanctuary of the Jain house in Mussoorie, the division did hurt the business.

It is said that a good businessman keeps on the right side of the government and politicians. And while Dalmia shared a cordial relationship with most politicians, he was closest to Muhammed Ali Jinnah. Dalmia and Jinnah were such close friends that Jinnah sold his house, 10 Aurangzeb Road, to Dalmia at the time of the Partition. Whether due to his closeness to Jinnah or his inherent convictions, Dalmia publicly criticized Nehru’s policies and even used the front pages of his newspaper to express his antipathy. He was vocal in his opposition to Partition and then the plight of the refugees. After India got independence, Nehru set up an enquiry commission to look into Dalmia using public money to fund the acquisition of his private companies. The Bose Commission found Dalmia guilty of using funds, collected as premiums in his insurance companies, as the seed capital for the acquisition of businesses, one of which was Bennett and Coleman. This resulted in a legal battle which found R.K. Dalmia guilty and sentenced him to a two-year term in Tihar Jail. Naturally, the companies that were at the centre of the legal problems suffered, but the other businesses lost their momentum too, as the owner was in jail. The one loss that hurt Dalmia the most was the loss of his most prized possession, Bennett, Coleman & Co. He lost the company to his son-in-law.

The son-in-law was Shanti Prasad Jain, whose grandsons Samir and Vineet Jain now run the Times of India Group. I failed to hide my surprise as Agastya told me about this. This fact is not as well-known as it should be, I thought to myself.

Agastya must be used to this response because he wore an almost indulgent smile as he explained, ‘Yup! Shanti Prasad Jain was my grandfather’s right-hand man. My grandfather got his eldest daughter, Rama, married to S.P. Jain. When my grandfather went to jail, he had his son-in-law keep the newspaper business going. He spent about two years away from the business.’ Add to that that R.K. Dalmia had to pay back the capital he had taken out of his financial companies. To raise the monies, he pledged Bennett, Coleman & Co. to Shanti Prasad Jain. ‘And then the business was sold to S.P. Jain. Look at what it has become today,’ Agastya says a bit wistfully. And I think to myself that this young man claims Vineet and Samir Jain as his nephews!

The Times of India Group was just one of the businesses that the Dalmia family, even with seventeen inheritors, was not able to hold on to in the next generation. But maybe that was the problem—too many inheritors fighting among themselves. Add to that the problems with the government and tax authorities and the business went the way that most family businesses do in the second generation—southwards.

Banking on a retro legacy

The Keventers and the biscuits business were part of the second generation’s inheritance and Agastya’s father got his share in it. But from all accounts, his father, Gun Nidhi Dalmia, was more keen on running the biscuit factory, as the product had built a loyal customer base under the brand of Dalmia Biscuits. The factory was in Punjab but the family decided to sell it during the 1980s. Militancy in the state was at its peak at that time and it was getting difficult to run the factory. It was not safe for the employees, the management or even the owners. So, the factory was sold and shut down. Back in Delhi, the Keventers factory had also been shut down a little earlier, but it was for a completely different reason.

Edward Keventer had established his diary factory in Malcha Marg and when Dalmia bought the business, the factory continued to supply dairy products. ‘Back in the 1940s, Malcha Marg was on the outskirts of Delhi,’ says Agastya. ‘So, you can imagine that after the 1960s it became a little difficult to operate a factory there,’ he smiles impishly. ‘It became a diplomatic area and I guess the cows just didn’t fit in.’

Even after the Keventers factory shut down, there was one enterprising stockist in Connaught Place who continued to sell Keventers to the multitude of people who came to buy it. ‘Basically, this guy went ahead and continued to use our brand. He made his own milkshakes, put our name on it and sold it to people. My father was busy with other things but in spite of that, he got them shut down at least three times,’ says Agastya. The family did think about Keventers occasionally, especially when people talked to them about buying Keventers flavoured milk from the Connaught Place outlet. ‘Everyone assumed it was our product,’ laughs Agastya. So sometime in the mid-1980s, the Dalmias decided to file a lawsuit against the stockist. After many years of a court case, the matter was finally resolved in 2009 and the stockist had to change the name of his business.

‘But we realized what the stockist had done when we relaunched Keventers milkshakes. Over the years, he’d had used his own formula and extra sugar. So when we started selling our own milkshakes, people didn’t like them. We could not understand it! They wanted more sugar and a stronger flavour,’ says Agastya, shaking his head disbelievingly. ‘We did not want to do it but we had to make our shakes sweeter. Otherwise people would not buy them. They kept saying, “This is not Keventers!”’ he laughs incredulously. ‘Can you imagine? Telling the real Keventers that their product does not taste like the Keventers!’

Original Keventers! The flavoured milk that Delhi grew up with. Did Agastya use the original formula to make his milkshakes when he re-launched Keventers? I ask.

‘When the factory shut down, no one thought of preserving anything, let alone the formula. These labels that you see,’ he says waving his hands around, ‘were also found in some scraps lying somewhere. I guess no one realized or understood the value of all of this back then’. With a rueful smile he says, ‘It would have been so wonderful if someone had preserved the formula. We would not have had to go through all this experimentation.’

The formula may not have been preserved but the brand has persevered thanks to the stockist. With the brand remaining in the public domain, did Agastya understand the value of the brand as he was growing up? ‘Not really,’ he says, ‘The court case was going on and I was busy playing tennis and studying. So, the brand was somewhere at the back of our minds. But I never really thought about it while I was growing up.’

So how did he think about relaunching Keventers? ‘Actually, a good friend asked me what I planned to do with the Keventers brand after we won the case. I was happy playing tennis and business was the last thing on my mind. But when Aman asked me, I thought to myself—why not? Let’s do something with Keventers. It is as simple as that!’

And Aman Arora agrees. He says that the idea to relaunch Keventers ‘just came up.’ Having drunk the Keventers milkshakes all through his school life from the Connaught Place outlet, he felt that someone within the family had to keep the brand going, else the Keventers name would be lost. ‘Why not us?’ says Aman. He and Agastya had known each other since college and they already had a business relationship. Delhi Street Football, a five-a-side football league on the lines of Futsal, had been Aman and Agastya’s first venture. It was quite successful but the two friends did not take it national. This time, when the two decided to collaborate again, they were both clear that this business was going to go national.

Agastya remembers all the discussions he had with Aman before working on the relaunch of Keventers. But even before that, I wondered, did Agastya need to take the extended family’s approval, considering that the brand had originally belonged to all of them?

‘Not really,’ he says and then explains that when the Malcha Marg factory land was sold to DLF, it was essentially the dairy business itself that was sold along with all brands and products. After the deal was done and the financial settlements within the Dalmia family completed, Agastya’s father asked DLF to transfer the Keventers trademark back to his name. ‘And DLF had no problem in giving it back,’ says Agastya. After going out of the family for a brief time, the brand Keventers came back, this time as the property of Agastya’s father.

With the brand secure within the family, the two young friends sat together to work out what exactly they wanted to do with a 100-year-old brand. ‘There was no formal, structured discussion. I followed my gut a lot,’ he says, and decided that it was the Keventers milkshake (originally flavoured milk) that they would focus on. The reason for this, as he explains, was that Aman and he realized that neither of them had run a full-fledged business before. ‘Delhi Street Football did not count as we saw it as more of a hobby and less of a business,’ he says. As they worked on a plan for an actual business, they wanted to keep it simple. ‘We decided that we would focus on only one product to start with and then see how the business developed,’ he adds. And since the brand Keventers was almost synonymous with milkshakes, ‘It was a logical decision for us to go with milkshakes,’ Agastya explains.

Once that decision was made, both Agastya and Aman sat with Gun Nidhi Dalmia, Agastya’s father, to get advice on how to go about it. ‘The key questions we had to answer were ‘what’, ‘how’ and ‘where’. In spite of various people suggesting that we look at other food products, we were clear that we wanted to sell only the milkshakes,’ he says.

‘The questions to discuss and debate thereafter were more around whether to go into manufacturing or retail, whether to sell only milkshakes or have some food as well, whether to look at it as a dairy business or as a restaurant business, to sell in own outlets or rented stores, set up stores of our own or go the franchisee route,’ says Agastya. As part of working out the answers to the questions, the two had many meetings around the dining table. And did they always take the elder Dalmia’s advice, I ask. Agastya answers with a chuckle, ‘Dad had asked us to focus on manufacturing and we decided to focus on retail.’

Third-generation entrepreneur—a different breed

Once that decision was made, Agastya and Aman both realized that neither of them had any experience either in the dairy business or in the food business. They had many conversations between them to figure out if they should get a consultant who was a dairy specialist or someone who had expertise in running a food business. Initially, they got someone with technical knowledge about the dairy industry and milk products. ‘We used to focus on the fat content and the texture of the milk,’ Agastya laughs. They had no clue about this but they did realize, very quickly, that once the technical details, including fat content, protein content and other such aspects, were finalized, they could be outsourced accordingly. Hence, they did not have to waste time on the technical details.

By this time, the partners had also realized that the business they were venturing into was a retail food business. Therefore, they needed someone with experience in that area. And with that in mind, they zeroed in on Sohrab Sitaram, who has over eighteen years of experience. He came with a credible background, having studied hotel management, worked in the F&B department at Taj Hotels and he also knew the food industry very well. After leaving the Taj Group, Sohrab had set up, as an integral part of the team, some well-known restaurants which include Hungry Monkey, Chi Kitchen and Bar and Zingo Star in Delhi.

‘Sohrab was much older than us,’ says Agastya. The age gap was more than fifteen years as the young partners were in their mid-twenties while Sohrab was pushing forty.

‘He started as a consultant with us,’ says Aman. The experienced consultant then built an excellent rapport with the young men and soon, he was offered a partnership. Today, there are three partners in the Keventers business, with Aman and Sohrab as minority partners and the majority of the shareholding firmly controlled by the Dalmia family. The roles of the three partners are well defined with Agastya as the brand promoter and Aman handling the audits. Sohrab, as the CEO, is the one who has the responsibility of running the day-to-day operations.

Agastya is the third generation of the Dalmia family in business and it is a common belief that business sense comes from the genes. ‘Coming from a family that has had many years of business experience, I am sure the journey must have been easy,’ I comment. ‘Not at all,’ says Agastya surprisingly, ‘While we had the brand and the goodwill of Keventers, we were inexperienced and made many mistakes on the way.’

For example, the first mistake he made was to look at the business as a dairy business. ‘I thought that the key to success was the right quality of milk,’ says Agastya. Very soon he realized that the business was not about the quality and composition of milk, but was about selling a branded consumer product. The hero of the product was the flavour and that required all the attention. ‘As we had a vendor who supplied us the milk, we were able to give them the specifications and then do random sampling to keep a check on the quality of milk,’ he says. ‘What I had to do was to learn the process of making a milkshake from scratch along with understanding the flavours,’ recalls Agastya. He and Aman took months to learn how to make the perfect milkshake. They experimented churning milk with ice cream in a blender but found that it took a long time to pour out the finished product. ‘We did not think that the customer would wait at the counter for so long and neither did we want impatient customers lining up,’ he says. The premixes, in the form of flavoured syrups, were a viable option as these could be added to the milk and blended very quickly and efficiently.

But in the absence of the original formulations, the flavours had to be built from scratch. Many combinations were tried and experimented with. ‘How did you know that hazelnut would be preferred to butterscotch? Or which version of the chocolate or strawberry premix would be more popular?’ I ask him.

‘Oh! We thought we had an easy answer. We used to call our friends and family and ask them to taste the flavours and rate them,’ says Agastya, ‘And that was a big mistake! We had our friends on the lawns of the house, tasting various flavours and it was like a party. We had these long tables put out on the lawns with the bottles of various flavours lined up on them. We even had small shot glasses next to the bottles, so that our friends could taste the flavours. But very, very soon, we realized that this was the surest way of getting confused. If there were five friends, we got twenty opinions! And you know how it is with friends—they’ll say anything!,’ Agastya laughs. ‘So, today, there are only two people who taste the products and decide about the flavours and they are my employees, not friends,’ he says categorically. Indeed, it is Shorab who tries new flavours and Aman gives his feedback. The final approval rests with Agastya.

‘Given the experience with friends and their “well-meaning advice”, the first Keventers store opened in a place where my family and friends may not be regular visitors,’ laughs Agastya. ‘I wanted the store to be in a place where I could make mistakes and not have friends and family talk about it. Pitampura was chosen since the financials—rent, security deposit and initial capital expenditure—were low,’ he says. The added advantage was that he would be able to concentrate on the business without worrying about any kind of ‘social pressure’.

As Agastya speaks, his inherent sense of business is evident. Hearing him tell his story, it is difficult to believe that this is a twenty-five-year-old without any formal business education, recounting the story of his enterprise. It is normal for the next generation of any business family to be inducted into it to learn the ropes. It is also usual that the induction occurs after the next gen has completed postgraduate studies, usually from a renowned university overseas. But Agastya is a graduate in English literature and saw no merit in wasting two more years studying for an MBA.

‘College degrees are a waste of time really! They don’t teach you anything that you can use in practical life,’ says Agastya very seriously, ‘and I don’t believe in them’. He is living this statement. He went to Sanskriti School in Delhi, where ‘I was your normal school kid. Didn’t really focus on studies. I loved playing tennis,’ he says. But his mother, the noted writer Manju Kapur Dalmia, had apprehensions about her son and his then ambition to become a tennis player. She felt that the game was extremely competitive and that no one would recognize Agastya as a good player unless he kept winning. Like any other mother, she too did not want her son to go through disappointment.

After school, Agastya began his undergraduate studies at St Stephen’s. ‘But I did not like my subject there, so I left and went to Hindu College,’ says Agastya very matter-of-factly. And how did that go? He laughs and says, ‘I did not stay there either. I left Hindu College as well.’ He found that there was nothing he was learning by attending classes. His passion at that time was tennis. Despite his mother’s concerns, he continued to concentrate on playing tennis well and reached the national level. ‘But I had to quit. I just wasn’t good enough,’ he says with brutal honesty. So, in a sense, his mother’s apprehensions did come true.

‘Did you manage to get a degree at least?’ I ask him. Agastya looks at me with a what-do-you-think look, laughs and says, ‘Of course I did. I enrolled in a distance learning course and was taught by the faculty of Miranda House.’ Manju Dalmia was a professor at the girls’ college and her colleagues tutored the young Agastya for his distance learning course.

Agastya says he is extremely fortunate that he grew up in a family that believed that the role of the parents is not that of a controller but that of an enabler. His mother’s family also played a part in his upbringing as did the fact that he was a late child. His mother was forty-one years old when she had Agastya. He is the only brother of three sisters, though one of his sisters died in a tragic road accident years ago. ‘My parents actually were quite hands-off in their approach to bringing up my sisters and me,’ says Agastya. So, the children were free to follow their own dreams and more importantly, were allowed to make mistakes. There was no overbearing approach to not drinking or not smoking. Agastya says that since they were allowed to make their own decisions, all the children realized early on that there was no fun in breaking rules because there were no rules to break.

His mother, a professor of English, had a different upbringing from his father. ‘My mother’s side of the family is completely different from my dad’s,’ says Agastya. ‘My mom’s father was a senior bureaucrat in the government and my dad comes from a business family. It is really fun to see the two sides come together at family functions,’ he says with a naughty smile, ‘They literally stand apart!’ And then there is the difference in the number of family members!

His mother’s side of the family is much smaller compared to his father’s side. Agastya has sixteen aunts and uncles, of which five aunts and one uncle is ‘immediate family’. That is, these are the children of R.K. Dalmia and Saraswati—one of Dalmia’s six wives, who was Agastya’s grandmother. Of his five aunts, two stay at Malcha Marg with their families and the remaining five families stay together in a Lutyen’s Delhi bungalow. Each family has their own living space, complete with a kitchen, within the sprawling bungalow. But the lawns are a part of the common spaces. If anyone wants to use the lawns for an event or a party, they ask the others on the family WhatsApp group. Similarly, the Akbar Road family group gets excited about getting together on occasions like Diwali or birthdays. ‘And if we don’t get any response on the WhatsApp group, that’s when we write emails to each other,’ laughs Agastya.

Within this ‘immediate’ family, Agastya has eight cousins and couple of them were used as sounding board for the relaunch of Keventers. Each cousin is doing his or her own thing. A couple of them have turned entrepreneurs. One has launched a premium olive oil in India by the name of Leonardo Olive Oil. Two others run Dalmia Cement. ‘I did talk to my cousins, but it was just like any other matter that we discuss. I did not see any need to ask them for advice. But they did know that I was going to revitalize Keventers,’ says Agastya.

While the cousins may have known about his plans for Keventers, they certainly did not come to the Pitampura store. It was a small store with three employees. Given that a 100-year-old brand was being relaunched, it was done in a fairly low-key manner. Advertising was done only through flyers and posters in the neighbourhood. And who was the first customer, I ask. Agastya had to think hard to answer my question. He screws up his face and looks up at the ceiling as he tries to remember, ‘The first customer was a man with a walking stick. No, I don’t think he was an old man, but I think he had had an injury or something and was using the stick because of that,’ says Agastya. The first transaction was a simple one. ‘He came in, looked at the options and asked for a shake. That’s all’.

The Pitampura store had patties and sandwiches too, besides milkshakes. The shake itself was served in plastic glasses. But he realized very quickly that the customers were unhappy with the plastic glasses. So thick-paper glasses replaced the plastic ones. But even this was not acceptable to customers. For one, people wanted to know why Keventers was being sold in paper glasses. ‘They missed the bottles,’ says Agastya. ‘For some reason, people walked into the store and expected to have their shake in a bottle. And when they saw the glasses they said, “Your store in CP uses bottles. Why are you using paper cups?” ’ he continues. Even after the Connaught Place store had changed its name, the association with Keventers had continued in the minds of the customers.

And then there was the logo that needed a design. Keventers was being given a new lease of life by young people. The brief they had given their design agency was to give them a contemporary logo. The logo they selected had a ‘bubblegum’ look and feel. It was red and tried to portray a young, peppy look with the fonts used. But this too caused a dissonance in the minds of the customers. People remembered Keventers as part of their childhood or had heard about it from their parents. They did not know that Keventers was being launched in Pitampura. Instead, they thought that the company had finally opened another store to sell their milkshakes. So, the young and peppy look and feel of the brand puzzled them. They came in and saw the staff in red uniforms. ‘Since the logo was red, we made the uniforms in the same colour too,’ explains Agastya. Moreover, the store itself had a young feel, given its decor. ‘But the feedback from our customers made us realize that they were looking for heritage, a legacy. They were puzzled by our logo and the overall look and feel,’ says Agastya.

The only similarity between the Connaught Place store and the Keventers store was the price per shake. The stockist in Connaught Place had been selling his version of Keventers for Rs 50 per shake and the price was kept the same at Pitampura. ‘But he was paying a ridiculously low amount for rent and could afford to sell at Rs 50. We had to pay market rent and realized that the price point had to change,’ explains Agastya.

Taking ground-level experience into account, the decision was made to shut down the Pitampura store within three months of opening. ‘It is better to fail fast because it teaches you what not to do. Or how to do things differently,’ says Agastya. The failure made him realize that he had to go back to the drawing board if he wanted to get it right. ‘Once I realized that the model was not working, I needed to act quickly. There was no point in hanging on to the business just because I started it. Better to cut my losses, literally, as the store was making losses, and move on,’ he says.

The art of scripting a turnaround

So, the store was shut down and the two friends regrouped to plan for the next steps. The duo chose a new design agency and gave them the brief for a new logo. The agency was told that the heritage of the brand and the 100-year-old legacy had to come through clearly. The bottles had to be brought back too as Keventers was synonymous with glass bottles. And most importantly, the price point had to be corrected. ‘Pitampura was like doing my MBA!’ says Agastya. He points out that he learnt more about all aspects of business in those three months than he may have in a two-year course. ‘When people say, “What they don’t teach you at Harvard Business School . . .”, I now understand what they mean,’ he says.

Along with the brand, bottles and flavours, the team also had to decide on the future locations of the stores. Learning from his experience at Pitampura, Agastya decided that the new stores had to be in a place where footfall is high. He also realized that the product had to be positioned correctly. Shopping areas and malls were a logical choice. Select Citywalk was the preferred location and negotiations began with the owners of the mall for a location. ‘We waited one full year for the store to open,’ Agastya remembers. The plan was ready but the site was not. ‘And each time we looked at an alternate site, the mall got back to say that they will give us the space shortly,’ he laughs.

However, when Keventers opened at Select Citywalk, it was worth the wait. It was a new-looking store with a colonial theme. The logo was in elegant black and beige and the uniforms of the staff were also changed to these colours. The iconic Keventers bottles were back in the store and no food was served. The focus was only on milkshakes, sold in bottles. ‘By focusing only on freshly made milkshakes, we kept away from existing players like Verka, Amul, Aarey or even Coca-Cola, who sell preserved beverages,’ says Sohrab. He goes further to explain that customers see the milkshake as a ‘fresh’ product because it is made right there in front of them. The other benefit is that as all the ingredients, except milk, have a long shelf life, they do not have to have large refrigerator units at each store. Since milk is a perishable item, it is ordered each day through the company’s own supply chain.

One major point of differentiation is that while coffee, cold coffee, tea and other beverages in shopping areas are sold in disposable paper or plastic cups, Keventers sells its milkshakes in glass bottles.

These glass bottles contribute hugely to the popularity of the brand. Initially, the store had a bin where customers could drop their bottles after they finished. ‘But we found that people just did not want to throw the bottles away. They wanted to carry them back,’ says Agastya, ‘And I like it. I like it that after finishing, they are hesitant to throw away the bottle.’ The bottles, therefore, became the focal point in social media promotions. ‘On our Facebook page, we show how to use the bottles in different ways. And now people have started posting photographs of themselves with the bottles,’ says Agastya. Since customers wanted to take the bottles back home, Keventers started changing their bottles so that customers could build a collection at home. Their colourful bottle for Holi was a big hit with customers. ‘Now we plan to have different bottles for different occasions,’ says Agastya.

With the growth in business, the size of the team also expanded. While growing the team, Agastya says he chose experience over enthusiasm. ‘I want people who are over forty to work with me. They work best as they have experience,’ he says. The people at the stores are a bit younger though. The employees at each store are supervised by the store manager. ‘I have a weekly meeting with all my store managers. They are my eyes and ears on the ground. They tell me directly what the customer likes and what he does not like,’ says Agastya. Besides the weekly meeting, Agastya manages his business by data. He looks at all sales numbers and trends on a daily basis.

Managing people is not easy and Agastya finds some behaviour patterns especially puzzling. ‘I know that some employees cheat at the store,’ he says. Pilferage is one problem that he has identified and missing cash is another one. He finds it very difficult to understand stealing. He sat down with his store managers to work out if they could train the staff better.

He decided to have the young staff trained on the values of bring part of a family business, which has a heritage and a set of values. ‘I could see that there was immediate resonance and a feeling of belonging within the employees,’ says Agastya.

‘It helped to set the base but I built in practical checks and balances into the process as well,’ he says. He made financial reporting more detailed and made the store managers more accountable in these matters. ‘The pilferage has certainly gone down but has not stopped completely. But we find that the instances of adverse behaviour are from the newer staff—not from the ones who have been with us awhile and have been taken through training about values,’ he says. He also believes that these problems helped him build a better process. ‘So in a way, I am happy when such problems are found out. It keeps me on my toes,’ he says.

One other problem that the young team ran into was the expansion of their business. ‘We were clear that we did not want a dine-in model,’ says Agastya. Keventers wanted to supplement the shopping experience of their customers and hence, it made sense to be in areas where there was a high footfall. ‘We wanted people to pick up a milkshake and continue with whatever they were doing,’ adds Aman. The Keventers stores were conceptualized to be approximately 100-square-feet outlets in busy locations. After their initial expansion of three or four stores within Delhi, Agastya realized that if he wanted to get to 100 stores in the near future, he needed a better solution than just a franchisee model. ‘Based on our initial experience, I could see that dealing with so many franchisees would be a problem,’ says Agastya.

This is where a discussion with his dad helped. He sat with him to discuss issues in the expansion plans of the business. Agastya was looking for a way to make the best use of the franchisee route. ‘That is when my dad told me to speak to Javed Habib,’ remembers Agastya. Javed is a well-known hairstylist and Agastya couldn’t understand how this would help.

But it did. ‘The advice I got from Javed is the best advice that I have gotten till date,’ says Agastya, with a bit of awe in his voice. He spent a few hours with Javed and walked away with one piece of simple advice: Go the master franchise way. Instead of working with many franchisees directly, Javed suggested that Keventers mark out territories for their business. Following Javed’s advice and a discussion with his team, Agastya chalked out the expansion plans and got his franchise team to start work immediately.

The master franchise route involved selling territory rights to a master franchise, who then further created multiple franchisees within a given period. After sourcing the franchisee, the master franchise was responsible for managing them on a day-to-day basis and for training the staff of the franchisees. ‘The collection of royalty payouts, management of expenses and renewal of contracts is also the responsibility of the master franchise. I wanted him to have a skin in the game. That is what Javed advised,’ says Agastya.

I wonder whether that means abdicating all responsibilities. ‘Not at all,’ Agastya says a bit indignantly. ‘We give complete support to the franchisees at all times—pre- and post-opening. This is an ongoing process. Should they want our advice regarding site selection, we are there to help them. We have created a training model with various modules for training the staff. The marketing of the brand on social media and outdoors is done by us. Marketing is essential to drive footfall to the stores and the franchisees appreciate this,’ explains Agastya. ‘And it is working already,’ he adds happily. They have enquiries almost every day from people across the country wanting to be a franchisee.

A lot is working for the young man who is the third-generation scion of the Dalmia family. For one, he has given the popular generational adage a twist. It is commonly said, and data shows it to be true, that the first generation builds, the second consolidates, and the third withers it away. Shirtsleeves to shirtsleeves in three generations is the common saying. But here is Agastya, a third-generation son, who has revived Keventers, which had withered away in the second generation. And he does not even have a formal education in management.

But with an open mind, he continues to learn each day. He believes that putting together a good team, with a mix of enthusiasm and experience, is the key to growing the business. The aim is to take the number of stores to 100, not only in India but also in Nepal and other neighbouring countries. ‘I want to create value for all of us,’ he says. The ‘us’ includes himself, his partners and the employees. As the valuation of the firm increases, he is open to a strategic partner coming in. And what will he do then? ‘I am learning to play the piano. And have started studying astrology,’ he says. Both these activities fascinate him.

‘How much of business can I do and for how long? I will set it up, create valuation for all,’ he says. But for the time being he wants to do more of what he knows best—‘Sell a shake’!

Conclusion

Keventers today is a small business. Does it have the potential to become India’s Starbucks? Only time will tell. What Keventers does have for sure is a promoter whose life, in many ways, is similar to his grandfather’s. And there is irony in this situation.

For financial reasons, R.K. Dalmia could not have a formal education and taught himself on the job. The lack of formal education did not come in the way of his success. By contrast, Agastya could have gone to the best universities anywhere in the world as financing his education was not a matter of concern. He consciously chose to keep away from formal education and instead, learnt on the job. When he says that his business education came from the store in Pitampura, he is absolutely right.

His grandfather met with early failure in his business but it only motivated him to do better. Years later, Dalmia’s grandson also failed in his first outing as a businessman. The Pitampura store could not succeed. But very astutely, Agastya focused on the learnings from the failure and did not let it deter him.

While he has displayed his inherent business sense in various decisions he has taken along the way, what remains to be seen is whether the fire in his belly burns as strongly as it did in his grandfather’s. The starting points bode well and present themselves in the many business calls that Agastya has taken almost instinctively: to spot an opportunity in the market when Aman spoke to him about Keventers; the decision to focus only on one product at the start of the business rather than spread themselves thin; the call to get in an experienced partner to complement his own enthusiasm and drive; to be ruthless in addressing failure and moving on with the business; to listen to advice from people and act on it.

However, he has taken some calls which may come in the way of the success of the brand. Keventers is a retail business and Agastya wants to create value for all stakeholders in the medium term. However, he has chosen to go slow in expanding the business. A retail business requires scale and the plan of 80–100 stores in two years is not enough to build a national brand, especially in a country like India.

A company that wants to build a national brand needs to be more aggressive in its business plans and look at 100 stores in one year and then double that in the next. Should he want comfort, he should take a look at the statistics of the food business in India.

Cafés and milkshake stores are part of the overall QSR—quick service restaurants—industry in India. A Technopak report from 2014, with inputs from the Credit Rating Information Services of India Limited (CRISIL), show the overall industry (organized and unorganized) to be at approximately Rs 2.5 lakh crore and with an 18 per cent compound and annual growth rate (CAGR) to reach approximately Rs 4 lakh crore by 2019. Within this market, the chain food services (CFS) market (any brand that has more than three outlets) is slated to be at approximately Rs 33,000 crore by 2019. The café business, which is one of the components of CFS, is projected to be at approximately Rs 4000 crore in the same time.

Clearly, there is a market potential for the growth of Keventers. There is also the example of other players who have had business successes. One example that Keventers could look at is Café Coffee Day (CCD). This coffee chain too started with one outlet in Bangalore, selling coffee at a premium at Rs 25 per cup when, by comparison, local coffee was available at Rs 5. Today CCD has almost 2000 outlets but more importantly, it has a private equity (PE) funding of over $200 million. It is also a listed company.

An expert in the food industry says that Keventers has an advantage that CCD did not—of the brand Keventers. For a retail business, the recognition of the brand is one of the key strengths. Keventers, with its 100-year-old heritage, can afford to be aggressive in expanding the brand. The same expert says that rather than use the next couple of years to open 80-100 stores, Agastya should immediately look for external funding to grow the business. The early start has already proved that there is a business model in place that can be scaled up. The business needs experienced professionals across all functional areas and capital to fund the growth. ‘It is better to own 55 per cent of a much larger business than to own 80 per cent of a small business,’ says the expert.

Access to funding will also enable Keventers to use all forms of advertising, including print and television, for marketing its brand and products. A leading name in advertising says that Keventers is shortchanging itself by limiting the marketing to social media and some outdoors. ‘I would love to get my creative team working on Keventers,’ says the advertising expert. ‘We don’t often get a chance to work on a 100-year-old brand in the retail space and I can already see some fantastic work that we could do around it,’ he says excitedly.

It is important for the brand to assert itself quickly on the national scene as the entry barriers for this business are almost non-existent. The early success of Keventers products has proved that there is indeed a market for fresh milkshakes. So, in a sense, Agastya has conducted a proof-of-concept, as it were, for the market. If he does not expand aggressively, any multinational or even an Indian company can move into the fresh milkshake business. Anyone with deep pockets can create a brand, market it well and become the leader in the business. Barista and Café Coffee Day launched roughly around the same time in India. Barista took the slower and more measured route to expansion while CCD went aggressive. Today, the difference in the size of the business, and the valuations thereof, for both the businesses is huge. Barista, which was seen to be strong in north India in the early 2000s, has been overtaken ruthlessly by CCD even in its backyard. Keventers could go the same way and it would be a shame if the early work done by Agastya was used by someone else to grow their own brand.
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Max Group

Tara Singh Vachani

It is an especially hot day in the middle of a blazing summer. I have an appointment with Tara Singh Vachani—the MD of Antara Senior Living, a subsidiary of Max India Limited. I am already running late when I get to my car and find the driver missing. It costs me five precious minutes to discover that he has taken the rest of the day off. It’s another couple of minutes to run and get the car keys myself. And then I lose my way! Hot and bothered, I finally arrive at the Antara office, quite flustered.

It is as if a magic wand has been waved as soon as I take the few steps towards the receptionist. I am surrounded by a deep sense of peace and calm. It is an elegant office painted in muted colours, offset with bright paintings and green plants. Adita, Tara’s assistant, walks towards me with a broad smile and ushers me into an elegant lounge. There is a cool glass of organic nimbu paani waiting for me. A fragrant candle flickering in the corner adds to the already soothing sense of ‘all is well with the world’ within me.

Tara is delighted when I tell her that this is the quickest I have moved from ‘hot and bothered’ to ‘peaceful and tranquil’. ‘This is what we want for all our residents at Antara as well,’ she says. ‘It is tough but we are determined to make a difference to the lives of our residents,’ she adds.

Tara is indeed tough on herself at work. She reports to Rahul Khosla, the professional head of the Max Group. She is on the board of Max India and is also the managing director of Antara, a senior living community. Organized senior living is a model that is relatively new to the Indian market and Tara knows that she took on a big challenge when she made this her debut project. She researched, conceptualized and is now executing this business project. In every sense, she is leading from the front. Antara, like any other young business, is going through its own teething problems. As Analjit Singh’s daughter, Tara has seen some other businesses of the Max Group—insurance and telecom in particular—go through the same problems in the early stages of their growth. However, Tara bears the burden of Antara on her shoulders. It often keeps her awake at nights. ‘I know that I am being illogical but Antara is so close to my own self,’ says Tara plaintively.

Antara is a result of a chance conversation Tara had with a business acquaintance in 2009. ‘I was at Max and was working with Kirti, my dad’s executive officer,’ she remembers. Tara had returned to India after her graduation from the National University of Singapore and a brief stint at the London School of Economics. There had been no formal conversations with her father through her growing-up years about the role she would play at Max. The tacit understanding was that Tara would join Max to explore areas of interest, since it was clear that her sister, Piya, and brother, Veer, would not join the family-promoted business.

‘My sister is particular about how much she put herself out there but her capacity for compassion and love is immense,’ says Tara. Piya had worked at Max Hospital, Panchsheel, when it was launched and found her calling. Today Piya prefers to be known as a patient care expert. ‘She was clear that she did not see herself being part of the management at any stage,’ continues Tara, as she talks about her sister. ‘Veer, on the other hand, was very studious when we were growing up,’ laughs Tara, with a fond look on her face. Veer, the ‘good studious boy’, would force his sisters to hand over their pocket money to him so that they could buy anniversary gifts for their parents. ‘He literally used to force us and as a result, we were buying our parents expensive gifts like champagne glasses and silver stuff from Cooke and Kelvey,’ remembers Tara.

‘He was this totally upright boy with a naughty streak in him,’ says Tara. The naughty streak disappeared once he left India to study at Harrow and then the Imperial College in the UK. He turned into an intense person and went through an anti-capitalism phase. ‘It was a phase he went through as a teenager,’ says Tara. He went off all foreign products and actively advocated boycotting them. He would get around on a bicycle and shunned all environmentally unfriendly products. He worked on a farm in Spain and made it clear to his parents that he did not want to be part of their corporate world.

However, he was persuaded to come back to India by Analjit. But, even after returning to India, he did not want to join the Max Group. This was the time when Analjit, through his investment firm, had increased his shareholding in East India Hotels. The company was planning an Oberoi hotel near Dehradun and Analjit told his son to work on that project. As luck would have it, the hotel did not take shape. Instead, Veer developed it into a wellness retreat—Vana.

‘So, when I moved back to India in 2008, my sister preferred to be a patient care expert and my brother was on his own,’ remembers Tara. ‘I did not know what I wanted to do with my life, but was open to exploring possibilities at Max,’ she continues. Analjit Singh was quick to take Tara on board before she could change her mind. Kirti, his executive officer, became Tara’s boss.

Life at Max

‘I didn’t enjoy my early stint at Max,’ says Tara with a grimace, as she remembers the months towards the end of 2008. Kirti was responsible for coordinating everything that landed on Analjit’s table and she shared part of that responsibility with her young protégée. But the young girl, straight out of university, found sitting at a desk and doing ‘boring’ work very tedious. As an interesting aside, she says that the entire Singh family has Airtel phone connections! With Bharti being the first service available in Delhi, the family subscribed to Airtel for their mobile service. Analjit’s own telecom company’s licence was for Mumbai, and their Airtel connections still remain!

‘I didn’t really feel engaged since I wasn’t directly involved in creating anything significant,’ says Tara. She would contrive to miss work often but then go through pangs of guilt. ‘This was the time Sahil [now her husband] and I had started dating,’ remembers Tara. Sahil Vachani is the second generation of the Weston Group, the consumer electronics brand that was the first to launch colour televisions in India. He graduated from the University of Warwick and had joined the family business in 2003. After working for five years with the family, Sahil was keen to branch out on his own. Thus, in 2008, he started contract manufacturing electronic appliances for international consumer brands. Since it was a start-up, he had his hands full and worked seven days a week. Tara, on the other hand, was bunking office very often.

‘I used to make up excuses to give Sahil about why I was not at work,’ laughs Tara. She did not want him to know that she was bunking office! ‘Did no one say anything to you about missing work?’ I ask her. ‘You know I used to feel so, so guilty,’ explains Tara earnestly and continues, ‘Everyone could see that I felt out of place and maybe that is why they did not say anything to me!’ She had a deep desire to work and to be recognized for her accomplishments. Being an assistant to the executive officer was not getting her anywhere and her frustration was growing. Before she could go to her father to discuss her work, or the lack of it, Kirti left the Max Group. At that time, Mohit Talwar, the current managing director of the group, had recently joined Max. Tara began reporting to him and became part of the corporate development and finance department. On the private side of the business, the Oberoi Hotel deal was being negotiated and Tara also spent time as part of the transaction team. Hospitality has always struck a chord with Tara, perhaps because the concept of service is important to her. ‘Being respectful and acting on my need to serve comes naturally to me,’ explains Tara. Analjit was looking to acquire a service apartments company in China. Tara was part of the negotiating team and had to catch a flight to Shanghai from Hong Kong. She was on the train to the airport with Elaine, the owner of the service apartments company. ‘It was a casual conversation with Elaine,’ says Tara. They talked about business opportunities in the service apartments sector and as part of that conversation, Elaine talked about senior citizen living. ‘She said that the concept was fascinating and that there was going to be a huge demand for this kind of community,’ remembers Tara. It was neither a long nor an involved conversation, but it left a deep impression on Tara.

She came back and discussed the idea with her father. Analjit, always quick to spot a business opportunity in an unexplored area, was immediately interested and asked her for more details. As Tara started talking, she felt a lot of switches going on in her head. ‘You know, new concept, hospitality, unitary in nature—somewhere I could get my hands dirty,’ she says animatedly. As she discussed the plan further, she felt a sense of peace descend on her. ‘It felt just right,’ she says simply. She could imagine setting up a senior citizen living community; she could imagine the systems that would be required, the services that would need to be provided and, most importantly, the joy it would bring to people. ‘I could see myself not just doing all the seva myself but also setting up the foundation for the seva to be done by others on a large scale,’ says Tara.

The concept of seva is integral to the Singh family. ‘We are a very emotional and sensitive family,’ says Tara. The family is also a close-knit one and Tara has seen both her parents being extremely close to their own parents. ‘My mom was very close to my nana and nani. They only had to sneeze once and my mom would drop everything and rush to Dehradun,’ says Tara. Neelu Singh, Analjit’s wife, is the youngest of four siblings and, along with her eldest sister, the closest to her parents. Analjit Singh is also the youngest of the three sons of his father and the closest of all his siblings to his mother. ‘My father is very sensitive when it comes to family,’ says Tara, ‘and I think it has to do with the fact that he had to build everything from scratch.’

Analjit Singh and the story of Max

Analjit indeed had to start his business from scratch after the disagreement involving his two brothers, Dr Parvinder and Manjit Singh. His father, Bhai Mohan Singh, had started life in Rawalpindi in undivided India. Before Partition, this family was counted amongst the wealthiest in Punjab as their business of construction and road projects was booming. After Partition, Bhai Mohan moved to Delhi and started out moneylending.

Since 1937, his cousins, Ranjit Singh and Gurbax Singh, had owned a drug distribution company called Ranbaxy—a combination of their names. They required funds and took a loan from Bhai Mohan Singh, but were unable to pay back the borrowed sum. They offered him Ranbaxy instead, which he acquired in 1952, by paying them a sum of Rs 2,50,000. He was not a pharmacist but had a keen business sense. He foresaw the potential of the pharma market in India. From a distributor of third-party drugs, Ranbaxy became a manufacturer of drugs in India. One of their early successes was Calmpose, a version of Valium, and the company went on to make and sell other drugs profitably as well.

Bhai Mohan Singh wanted his children to study at the best institutes. His eldest son Parvinder Singh went to the US to study and get his master’s and doctorate degrees. After graduating from one of the world’s best pharmacy institutes, Dr Parvinder Singh returned to India in 1967 and joined his father at Ranbaxy. Father and son were different in their attitude towards the business but totally aligned in their mission to make Ranbaxy the number one pharma company in India.

While Ranbaxy was growing within and outside India, Analjit Singh, born two years after his father acquired Ranbaxy, followed a different route—commerce and business management. After completing his master’s from Boston, Analjit stayed on, working in the US as he wanted some international work experience. He married Neelu in 1979 and the young couple lived in Florida for a couple of years. In 1982, they decided to return to India.

Ranbaxy had grown into a giant company and Analjit felt that he needed to do something of his own. He went to his father, took a small loan, and started Max. The M in Max comes from his father’s name Mohan, the A from his mother’s name, Avtar, and the X stands for everything else! Bhai Mohan Singh was the chairman of Max India and Analjit ran the company which manufactured 6-APA, a key ingredient for Ranbaxy in some of its pharma products. Manjit, his middle brother, had set up his own venture called Montari Industries which manufactured agrochemicals.

With both Manjit Singh and Analjit Singh out of Ranbaxy, Bhai Mohan Singh decided to divide the family business and land assets among the three sons. Thus, in 1989, the division of business happened and Ranbaxy went to Parvinder Singh. Analjit’s other brother, Manjit Singh, was handed Montari Industries which manufactured chemicals. Analjit continued to build Max India, a company that he had set up to manufacture a key ingredient for Ranbaxy and BoPP (biaxially oriented polypropylene) films.

‘He had ambition, but not very much to help him reach those heights. He had to build his life from scratch,’ says Tara of her father. Analjit went on to open multiple businesses. ‘Starting in 1985, it took me fifteen years to figure out where my heart really was,’ says Analjit. During these years, he founded and exited nine businesses.

During this time, Analjit Singh’s family only grew closer and the relationship between the children and parents became stronger. The children were always taught to be polite and respectful to all the adults in the extended family. Maintaining the dignity of relationships at all times was the constant message to the three children.

This message has clearly stayed with Tara even after two decades. Relationships are important to her as are the blessings of her elders. ‘Everyone laughs at me when I am at my in-laws,’ says Tara. She touches the feet of all the elders in her husband’s family to seek their blessings.

This overriding emotion of seva, the bhavna of empathy for elders, combined with the inherent interest in hospitality guided Tara to Antara. ‘I’ve always wanted to make a difference to people’s lives. But I also realize that as a single individual, there is a limit to how much I can do,’ she rationalizes. Therefore, when the opportunity to set up a senior living community came up, it checked all the boxes with Tara. ‘I felt a total calm descending on me and I truly believe that this is my calling in life,’ says Tara in a satisfied tone of voice. The clincher, in her own mind, was the fact that Antara would be the first of its kind in India.

Setting up Antara

Analjit, still the astute entrepreneur, supported his daughter whole-heartedly, including financially. He saw in his daughter all the ingredients for a successful professional. For the first few years, as the concept was being developed, or curated, according to Tara, the family’s personal fund were being used. There was no financial commitment from the Max Group. ‘But at that stage, I didn’t know anything about a structure or even a business plan,’ remembers Tara. She had joined work straight after college without any formal management education. In the early days, sitting in on meetings, even as an observer, there was a disquiet within her as she could not understand the concepts being discussed. ‘A lot of stuff being discussed used to go over my head,’ she remembers.

Kirti, in the initial days, helped Tara as she took her young assistant to the finance department to help her learn financial concepts. There, the head of finance would spend hours with Tara, teaching her about concepts like internal rate of return (IRR) and return on investment (ROI) and other terms that were used in the business meetings. When the concept of Antara was being explored, Tara was not ignorant about business matters, but was still underprepared to put together a formal structure to convert the concept into a business plan.

Help came in the form of Sumeet Bhalla, a friend of Veer’s. Sumeet, born and brought up in the UK, was at the Imperial College with Tara’s brother and had gone on to Harvard Business School for a management degree. After the first year there, he was keen to do an internship in India. ‘My dad has this amazing ability to connect the dots,’ says Tara, the proud daughter. Analjit Singh got in touch with Sumeet and told him about the concept that Tara wanted to develop. He also told Sumeet that he thought it was an excellent concept but it needed structure. Sumeet was then offered an internship in Delhi. The young man, who is about Tara’s age, saw this as a meaningful opportunity and came to India for the summer of 2009.

Tara and Sumeet divided the responsibilities between them, with Tara looking at the research and the overall concept and Sumeet focusing on the granular details and financials. To give the project a quasi-formal structure, Analjit Singh put together a small steering committee. It included Ashwani Windlass, an industry veteran and a board member of Max, and Analjit, besides Sumeet and Tara. The committee would meet every two or three weeks and both Sumeet and Tara worked hard to put the business plan together.

‘I really owe Sumeet, who is a dear, dear friend,’ says Tara with gratitude. Sumeet, as an intern, could have worked out an amazing business plan and presented it to the steering committee on his own. But with immense patience, he taught Tara the framework and structure of creating a business plan and more. She worked with the management student and was able to better understand how to develop a concept, how to be more organized and systematic when planning, and how to flesh out a concept. ‘And then it was like the train had left the station. I never looked back,’ says Tara, thinking about those months. The feeling of ‘this-is-right-for-me’ stayed with her all through those initial days. So, clearly Antara and Tara were simply meant to be!

Sumeet formally joined the Antara team in 2010, after he graduated, to help execute the plan. Tara credits most of her initial learnings to him. The two began by agreeing, that before the concept could be developed any further, they needed more information. Thus, they began by identifying places that they needed to travel to, both in India and overseas, to find out more about the concept. And each time they went on an information-gathering trip, they came back with more data! ‘It took a while to process all that data to actually decide on what specific data points we needed to collect,’ remembers Tara.

As the concept was the first of its kind in India, there was no ready data that Tara could access. She did the next best thing—she walked up to people and spoke with them. ‘People must have thought I was a stalker,’ laughs Tara. Any person with even a speck of grey in their hair was a potential data source for Tara and Sumeet. They would talk to strangers on a flight, while waiting at airports and other public places and talk to them to know more about their needs. Tara even remembers posing as a customer and calling senior living residences in the US. In all their travels across the globe, they took note of the best practices which enabled senior citizens to have a superior quality of life. Tara was, and continues to be clear, that her residents would have access to only the best quality of life.

Quality of life in the silver years is important to Tara. With her innate feelings of seva and gratitude, Tara has special compassion and an affinity for older people. This feeling goes back to her childhood. ‘I had a very close relationship with my grandparents,’ she says. While her maternal grandparents lived in Dehradun, her paternal grandparents lived right next door. She was especially close to Bhai Mohan Singh, her dada. Tara has been told that she was literally his aankh-ka-tara (star of his eyes) and favourite grandchild. In his silver years, Bhai Mohan Singh had gone through his share of relationship woes with his eldest son, Parvinder Singh. While she gained a direct insight into the needs of seniors through her dada and dadi, she attained insights through her mother about senior citizens living away from their children. As her nana and nani grew older, she saw her mother becoming increasingly anxious about her their well-being. Since they used to live in Dehradun, her mother went through pangs of guilt and anxiety that made her drop everything and rush there even at the slightest sign of discomfort. Again, at a young age, Tara had an insight into the changes in family dynamics due to concerns of taking care of aging parents. She realized that a service like Antara would not only improve the quality of life for senior citizens but would also provide comfort to their children as they would be sure that their parents were being looked after well.

During all their research, Sumeet and Tara also realized that the rare offerings that passed off for senior citizen living in India were not a patch on the concept of Antara, with its focus on service and quality of life. ‘Many of the initiatives in the space had been from real estate companies,’ says Sumeet Bhalla. ‘For many, it was a marketing spin—the most glaring shortcoming was in the service aspect of these offerings,’ he adds. Agrees Kenneth Sannoo, who had joined Antara from Max New York Life. He says, ‘Quality cannot be compromised upon. This is what Analjit Singh did with the life insurance business and Tara is taking it one step further.’ Thus, Antara was conceptualized by Tara as a place that would insource a multitude of services. ‘We have insourced everything because otherwise you can’t maintain the community the way you want to,’ says Tara. ‘For instance, most Indians hire domestic workers at home. But where do you find good staff these days? It is a big hassle. We take care of that hassle for our residents with our services,’ she adds assertively. The bouquet of services includes daily housekeeping, laundry services, concierge services and lifetime maintenance of the flooring, plumbing, lighting and appliances within each apartment. ‘If you were to take hospitality, serviced apartments, health and wellness, put it all together and shake it up, you get Antara,’ explains Tara.

Antara, thus, is a confluence of most of the core services of the Max Group itself. This is one reason that had some of the senior management excited as well. ‘Antara had close proximity to other Max businesses that include healthcare and insurance,’ says Rahul Khosla, managing director, Max India. Since he had lived and worked overseas for many years, he realize that a concept like Antara was missing in India. Therefore, with the right execution, Antara had the potential to create a niche for itself. Rahul further believes that Tara is the right person to lead the execution of the business. ‘It is her life. Her conviction and passion are very strong. And these attributes are usually a terrific way to create and maintain momentum in the face of challenges that may arise,’ adds Rahul.

One of the first decisions to take was about the location of Antara. The initial plan was to look at two locations simultaneously—the National Capital Region (NCR) and one other—so that some of the costs would be spread over a larger number of apartments. Dehradun was chosen as the other location. However, even at that early stage, the licence and approvals for the land in NCR did not come through within the time frame the team had envisaged. Ideally, Tara would have liked to start Antara in Delhi but she was practical enough to understand that the concept itself had to get off the ground to test the hypothesis she had created. She also understood that she herself was being watched by the entire Max community waiting to see how she transitioned to a business leader. Given the circumstances, she decided to concentrate on Dehradun and kept the NCR project on the back-burner. The consultants, on the other hand, were very bullish on Dehradun and assuaged some of the apprehensions that Tara had about launching in Dehradun.

Tara was fortunate to get a piece of land in Dehradun—fourteen acres of it—which seemed perfect for Antara. ‘Three sides of the property look out on to the beautiful Mussoorie hills and it is just ten minutes away from the Max Super Speciality hospital,’ says Tara. Other Max companies, Max Life Insurance and Max Bupa Health Insurance, also have a footprint in Dehradun. The state capital has fourteen direct flights to Delhi every day. ‘My nani has lived here all her life and I have a deep, personal connection with Dehradun,’ says Tara. Above all, the capital cost of the project was lower due to the lower cost of the land. All boxes ticked, Dehradun was finalized as the site for the first Antara residency.

Tara may have researched and conceptualised Antara as a senior living community, but the local government was clueless about the concept. Before the work could start, Antara needed formal permissions and licenses from the local authorities. ‘But when I went to the authorities, they looked at me blankly,’ Tara laughs now. ‘There was no category of senior living in India. They told me to apply under the category of residential housing,’ she continues. However, the category of residential housing came with the property requiring 1200 slots for car parking. Antara was planned with 215 apartments and required parking space for 250 cars at the very most!

Tara was disheartened, but it only strengthened her resolve to make Antara happen. ‘She is focused, tenacious, and knows how to build and work with a team,’ says Analjit of his younger daughter. The daughter proved her father right. Doggedly, she met with government officials again and again on the one hand, and on the other, she kept her teams reworking plans based on her understanding of the government. ‘I made six presentations, thirty pages each, engaged intensely with the secretariat,’ she remembers. The engagement with the government officials had an additional benefit for Tara. ‘My Hindi improved tremendously and I learnt what to say and what not to say!’ she adds. After countless meetings, the breakthrough came when the chief town planner suggested the category of ‘community service’. It was the break that she had been waiting for. The team and she reworked the plans yet again, and applied under the suggested category. It took a little longer, but the formal approval came through in early 2013. One of the perks of this specific category: the parking slots were reduced to 880! ‘It was a compromise, actually,’ says Tara, ‘Though it was less than 1200, it still was more than the number we wanted.’

While Tara had been working on the land and the plans, the management of Max Group was watching her progress keenly. It was obvious that the progress of Tara, as Analjit Singh’s daughter, was of interest to everyone. It was the concept of Antara that also started catching the interest of some of the professional managers at Max. While Rahul Khosla saw a potential in the concept, not all of Max’s senior executives and directors were as enthusiastic as him. Mohit Talwar, managing director for Max Financial Services, was one of those unsure about this concept working in India. Mohit says he was not convinced as the concept was unheard of in the country. There was also the social stigma attached to parents living in old-age homes. ‘It was a bit of a divided house,’ says Mohit.

However, Analjit remained confident about both the concept and Tara. He also believed that Tara was fortunate to have a father who could support her financially. Tara herself is quite aware that she is privileged to be part of the Max family. ‘Tara comes from a sense of gratitude and not entitlement, and believes that she has to earn her stripes,’ says Rahul Khosla, her current boss. Tara agrees, as she says, ‘Nobody other than people like us have this level of opportunity—access to capital, intellect, spiritual shelter and counsel.’ Analjit wanted to draw a clear line to separate his role as a father and wanted Tara, and Antara, to be part of the larger Max Group. He believed that Antara and the team would benefit tremendously from this as there would be more structure and governance for the fledgling project.

But it was not easy, even for Analjit. The proposal to bring Antara under the Max umbrella meant that the group would have to buy the company along with the people. It was an investment that needed to be approved by the board of Max India. The board had many questions that required answers from Tara. ‘She prepared diligently to answer questions put to her.

‘Why are you right for this role? Why shouldn’t we hire an outside professional? Why Dehradun? Why are you spending the way you are spending? Why are you hiring this person and not that? The questions went on and on,’ remembers Tara of the day. The meeting lasted almost the full day and an exhausted, but exhilarated Tara managed to convince the board of her ability, her concept and her vision. ‘The real challenge was to convince them that this was not yet another real estate venture,’ says Tara.

The board was convinced and Antara was bought by Max and brought into its fold. Tara had a new boss—Rahul Khosla, the then managing director of Max India. Analjit wanted to send out the right message not only to Tara but to the larger organization, that there was a clear line separating his role as a father from that as the chairman of Max India. He continued as the chairman of Antara but he preferred his role to be a non-executive one. The young team at Antara now had a formal structure to work within and Tara had new mentors to provide guidance as she went about executing her dream.

Pressures of moving from quarter to quarter

Quality is at the centre of Antara and Tara chose the best to collaborate with her. Shapoorji Pallonji and Co. were the construction partners chosen to execute the designs of the Spanish architectural firm, Esteva and Esteva. A specialized design firm, Perkins Eastman, was hired to work on the designs for the senior living community. ‘It is truly wonderful to see how finely Tara has thought the entire concept through,’ says Shikha Sharma, managing director of Axis Bank. She has spent some time onsite at Antara. Tara has conceptualised the community as an eight-building structure, all of which will be connected by a basement. She wants her residents to walk from one building to another as walking is good for senior citizens. Keeping in mind the age of the potential residents, there are no staircases wherever possible. Areas that are likely to be visited more than others—the clubhouse or the restaurant—exclusively have ramps. Weaving through all the built-up structures and the vast green, open areas is the trained staff. A service business is as good as its people and at Antara, this couldn’t have been more true. The challenge for Tara was to find the right quality of people to deliver quality service.

As Tara fleshed out her vision for Antara, she started realizing the challenges she had taken on. Finding the people was the easy one! It is keeping them motivated and committed that is the real problem. ‘There are an incredible number of hurdles that a pioneering project like Antara faces. ‘But the equanimity that Tara demonstrates in the face of hard messages, poor circumstances, even while staying focused on the larger goal, is remarkable,’ says Rahul, talking of Tara and her resolve to deliver Antara as conceptualized. ‘This equanimity is powered by her passion and the self-belief that she will succeed, rather than stoicism,’ he adds. Tara admits that it is her total belief in what she has conceptualized that keeps her going in the face of the challenges.

One of the biggest obstacles that she faces is the fact that her target audience is not perceiving Antara the way that she wants them to. For starters, people cannot ‘buy’ an apartment at Antara; they must take a ‘lease’. This is the first mental block that Tara runs into. ‘People think that they will lose their investment,’ says Tara. She personally speaks to interested customers to explain to them that the Antara model is a sixty-year lease model. After those years, the inheritors can either choose to keep the apartment or sell it in the market through Antara at an agreed price. ‘So where is the question of losing money?’ asks Tara, a bit militantly. For people who agree to the lease model, the next stumbling block is the monthly charge that they have to pay.

‘People look at our monthly charges and go, “Oh my god, it’s so expensive!”’ says Tara, flaying her arms wide open. On the face of it, a monthly charge starting from Rs 50,000 does appear steep, especially when compared to the monthly charges paid by residents of upmarket condominiums in the metros. ‘But don’t they see the quality of service and people we are giving them?’ says Tara plaintively. She is unwilling to compromise on the quality of her service offering. She calls the physical infrastructure and its associated services only a ‘hygiene by-product’ of her vision. ‘It means having the right acoustics, lighting, furnishing, artwork, landscaping, growing the right kind of trees and more than hundred more such elements,’ she continues, ticking each aspect off on her fingers. Apart from these, the maintenance charges also cover services and facilities like a clubhouse, restaurant, library, arts and crafts club, indoor swimming pool, gym, limited medical care, and one meal a day.

‘A lot of me has gone into the creation of this product,’ says Tara as she talks of Antara. Therefore, she made all the choices in terms of the architects, the designers, the legal consultants, the tax consultants, the team, the artwork on the walls and even the colours of the walls. ‘And because of all the personal choices I made for the creation of Antara, it very quickly became an extension of me, my aesthetic self, my delivery standards and my universe.’ The end product was indeed elegant and beautiful, but the costs accrued.

The accrued costs meant that the price point for Antara changed. The business plan for Antara used a cost-plus model with the end price for the customer being a total of the costs. ‘We are not making any money in Dehradun,’ asserts Tara. Even so, the price point was higher than the one envisaged. It was a decision point for Tara and her team. ‘So we said, either we go to the market with this pricing or we change our product,’ says Tara, with a delicate shudder. If the product was changed, there would be a compromise on the vision. For example, Tara had planned for guards who would be on the payroll of Antara. They would have full insurance and work eight-hour shifts. If they needed to pare some costs, she would have to look at off-the-rolls guards, working twelve-hour shifts. Unwilling to compromise, Tara decided to go with her vision of Antara.

This is where she ran into the next set of trials. Antara was conceived with deep love and conviction about the services needed in the community. The potential residents appreciated the service offerings but had a couple of mental blocks of their own. One, of course, was the location. Delhi or a suburb of any other metro would have been easier to sell than Dehradun, a small hilltown at the base of Himalayas. The other was the recurring monthly service charge. The potential buyers compared the monthly service charge at Antara with a similar charge at an upmarket residential development. ‘But what they don’t understand that Antara is not a “development”, we are building a community,’ says Tara wistfully.

It is, indeed, the services that are part of the community that differentiate Antara from any another gated community built by a developer. ‘For example, Antara has a 40,000-square-foot wellness centre as part of its services. ‘No one asked us to make it. But I do believe that residents will benefit from acupuncture, acupressure, yoga—it will increase their life span and will bring them joy at the end of the day,’ explains Tara.

The mental blocks of the potential buyers slowed down the rate of sales a bit but only strengthened Tara’s resolve. She stays convinced about her vision, and each challenge on the ground has been met with creative solutions by the team. ‘I must say that the young team has been very responsive and has come up with creative solutions,’ says Rahul Khosla, chairman, Max India.

Solutions apart, Antara has been a great learning experience for Tara. One of the key learnings for her is around making a business plan. ‘If I had to start all over again, I would not submit a five-year business plan with only one community and plan for profitability from an early stage,’ says Tara, lightly touching both her ears with her fingers. Antara is a completely new concept in India and it was ambitious for Tara and her team to give a commitment of financial gain over a five-year horizon. She understands now, having executed her business plan, that a ten- or fifteen-year plan would have been more prudent.

The board under Rahul stays supportive of Antara but, as professionals, they have to monitor the progress against the submitted business plans. ‘I am convinced that if I had not been Tara Singh, I would have been sacked,’ says Tara laughingly but totally serious. ‘On the other hand, if Antara was headed by an outside CEO, he would have resigned saying he cannot sell this concept or he would have succumbed to pressure and changed the concept itself,’ adds Tara.

Tara is managing the stress well. ‘It is not so much the external questioning that stresses me out,’ says Tara. ‘It is my own internal pressure. I see Antara as my own baby and I will not let it sink. I will not sleep. I will galvanize people and I will paint the buildings myself if I have to,’ she adds fervently. Saumyajit Roy, part of Antara’s business planning team, is not surprised at Tara’s assertions. ‘I remember we were at a marketing event for Antara. The chairs at the venue were placed but their covers needed to be removed. The people were doing it slowly. So, Tara started removing the covers herself,’ remembers Saumyajit and adds, ‘It did not matter that she was the CEO. She just saw it as something that had to be done for her Antara.’

Becoming a part of the Max board

With Antara becoming a reality, Tara was inducted on to the board of Max India, and was also elevated to the position of managing director at Antara. But there was no shortage of stumbling blocks. However, Tara is committed to having some hard conversations, first with herself and then, with the larger team. The failure of Antara is not an option for her and she is willing for it to succeed at any cost, but without diluting her vision.

Analjit, the proud father, is delighted with the manner that Tara has gone about executing her plan of Antara. ‘Tara is not formally trained in business management. This is her first job, yet she has shown tenacity, rigour and discipline to plan and execute a business idea,’ says Analjit of his youngest daughter. The daughter, too, is aware of the responsibilities resting on her shoulders. Tara is also fortunate in being mentored by seasoned professionals, of which Rahul Khosla is one. ‘The best thing about her is that she is humble. Tara is ready to acknowledge that she might not know everything and is open to listening and learning,’ says Rahul.

Antara has opened its doors to residents. The entire team is waiting for the residents to move in as years have gone into envisioning the delighted reactions of the residents. It is now time to let everything fall into place gently but in the precise, coordinated manner that has been planned. The young managing director of Antara already knows each one of her residents. It is time now for the residents to get better acquainted with Antara.

Conclusion

As India progresses economically, the life expectancy of an average Indian goes up and the number of older people increases. In 2016, senior citizens were approximately 9 per cent of India’s population, at nearly 10.4 crore. This number has shown great agility in shooting up, because the number of senior citizens jumped an astonishing 35 per cent, between the years 2001 and 2011. As India moves up the socioeconomic curve, the number of senior citizens is projected to grow even more. A report by the United Nations Population Division projects almost 40 crore senior citizens living in India by the year 2050—a whopping 20 per cent of the world’s senior citizen population.

While the number of senior citizens keeps growing, there are many changes in the structure of this demographic group. Further, society itself is changing with more dual income, nuclear families and a gradual reduction in joint families. Most importantly, senior citizens are no longer seeing themselves as helpless, risk-averse and financially dependent. They do not see their sunset years as a liability and want to make the most of them. In the absence of immediate family, the biggest need for most is companionship, both emotional and intellectual. Proximity to medical facilities is the other need for this age group. Their biggest fear is being dependent on others.

Retirement homes and senior living communities are new concepts in India. Ask any Indian to close his or her eyes and think of a group of senior citizens living in a community and chances are that they will think of a religious ashram! Indeed, with joint families having been the norm in India, there was no requirement for a formal community for senior citizens. However, today the pragmatism of both the younger and the older generation is making senior citizen communities an attractive option for people over sixty. The new generation of older people are independent and financially secure. They have travelled the world and in their retirement years, want to live somewhere comfortably.

‘Lifestyle with life care’—the motto of Antara, thus, seems to be the perfect solution for people who want to plan for their old age. With Tara looking to tap only a miniscule fraction of the ever-growing senior citizen market, Antara seems to be an easy business. As Tara is discovering, being a pioneer is not easy. But she has grown up watching and learning from her father. It was not easy for Analjit Singh either as he identified, set up, and then grew the Max Group companies in the growing areas of telecom initially and subsequently insurance and healthcare. Tara has learnt how to keep the faith in her vision and follow the execution of the vision unwaveringly from her father. Her vision of Antara is finding resonance in her target audience, albeit more slowly than projected. ‘I bought into Antara as I liked the concept,’ says Mahi Mehra, CEO of the Taffles Group. She is one of the early buyers and found great comfort in the Max Group being the promoter and names like Shapoorji being associated with the project. The fact that there is quick access to medical facilities also helped make up her mind. The clincher was the bouquet of facilities offered—superior to any other senior living community around the world—at Antara.

‘I travelled extensively with Tara, across the world, to many senior living communities,’ says Kenneth. The facilities at these communities, though comprehensive, do not come anywhere near the ones at Antara. ‘It has to do with the vision that Tara has—she truly wants to make a difference in the lives of older people,’ adds Kenneth. The quality of the service, thus, will either be the wow factor or will relegate Antara into one of the many residences that have superb infrastructure, but no service. The target residents for Antara are senior professionals who are world travellers. Thus, they know good service when they experience it and will not shy away from demanding, even loudly, if they find it lacking in the smallest aspect. This is where one of the hurdles lies—living up to expectations. The delivery of service at Antara depends on the skilled service staff employed on site. As there is currently no ready pool of talent, Tara and her team has trained the service team from scratch. What it also means is that she has created an immensely poachable pool of trained professionals and she needs to have policies in place to retain this set of valued employees.

The bigger challenge ahead for Tara, however, is larger than Antara itself. ‘She is young and may not have full domain knowledge of all the businesses to start with, and hence will need to learn fast,’ says Rajeev Dubey, group president, HR and corporate services at the Mahindra Group. Rajeev says that Tara’s success will depend on the manner in which she conducts herself. Any sign of arrogance or a know-it-all attitude will make her acceptance within the group more difficult. ‘But Analjit is a very humble, wise and mature person and will have mentored Tara well,’ says Rajeev.

The other challenge Tara faces is that she is a woman in a man’s world. Mohit Talwar says ‘Tara is truly a chip off the old block. And a much prettier one!’ Shikha Sharma, managing director of Axis Bank, is not too concerned about statements that may appear sexist. ‘I never react to things like this,’ she says. ‘What’s the big deal? It is a fact that I am a woman. Why should I try to hide it?’ she says. Thus, the fact that Tara is a woman does not worry Shikha at all. ‘What would be worrisome for me was if people did not open up to her and were passive-aggressive, because she is the owner’s daughter,’ says Shikha. She believes that the way Tara gets accepted at the workplace will depend entirely on the young lady herself. ‘The real challenge would be to earn respect that does not come from a position of authority, because authority does not work beyond a point,’ she adds.

This is where the inherent values imbibed all through her life come to play in favour of Tara. She is unfailingly polite and is respectful of everyone she meets. The feeling of entitlement that comes naturally to second-generation inheritors is missing completely. ‘For someone born into the position that she has, Tara’s groundedness and humility are astounding,’ says Rahul Khosla, Tara’s boss. He is candid when he says that while he is her boss, the relationship could have been restricted to being on paper. ‘Even if I was her boss, she could have chosen not to live by that hierarchy, given her position. But she has always, always respected the chain of command,’ adds Rahul. The discussions between Tara and Rahul have been open and honest. This culture flows down the hierarchy as well. The Antara team members, most of them young themselves, acknowledge Tara as their boss no doubt, but don’t shy away from saying things straight. The Antara team is clear that all of them are fellow travellers in a boat in unchartered waters. They all know that the only way they can get across is by following the instructions of their leader and making sure that all actions are aligned.

Outside of work place, one of the battles Tara needs to fight all the time is the mindset of the people who have seen her grow up. Her father’s friends, her relatives, most of who are business people or senior professionals do not fail to ask Tara whenever they meet her, ‘Aur beta, project kaise chal raha hai? (And tell me, how is your project coming along?)’ The word ‘project’, and the manner in which it is said, makes it sound almost like a child’s holiday project. This gets Tara riled up each time. ‘How do I tell them that it is not a project?’ and she laughs an irritated laugh. Just one more mindset to change!

Antara is her baptism by fire in the ruthless world of business. It is a battle within Tara to offset her seva bhav and empathy for all with the cruel realities of profit and loss. However, this is a battle Tara is determined to win.
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Cyril Amarchand Mangaldas

Rishabh and Saloni Shroff

I look at the young couple sitting on the other side of the imposing mahogany conference table. We are in one of the meeting rooms at Cyril Amarchand Mangaldas (CAM). CAM is one of the two law firms formed after the spilt into two of the original Amarchand & Mangaldas & Suresh A Shroff & Co. (or just Amarchand Mangaldas)—a platinum name in the legal world. The young man sitting across from me is Rishabh Shroff, the fourth-generation scion of the Shroff family, who were the founders of Amarchand Mangaldas. Saloni, Rishabh’s wife, is sitting to his left. The dark, wood-panelled room with its traditional setting is at contrast with the young Rishabh and Saloni. The light that streams through a window gets reflected by the floor-to-ceiling mirror wall behind the couple and brings a touch of lightness to the room. Rishabh provides the other bit of lightness. ‘I’ve caught my clients eyeing me with a puzzled look. They have seen me going around the table on my tricycle while my dad had talked to them at home. Now I am the one giving them complex legal advice,’ he laughs.

Rishabh Shroff is a partner at Cyril Amarchand Mangaldas, and also the co-head of in the private client practice at the firm. He also assists his father, Cyril Shroff, in other legal matters for the firm. For a lawyer, he is young—all of thirty years old. But he has grown up in a house of lawyers. ‘I always knew that I would be a lawyer one day. Law is in my blood,’ says Rishabh. His wife is also a lawyer. ‘But I never even dreamt that I would be a lawyer one day,’ exclaims Saloni Shroff.

The story of Rishabh and Saloni getting together reads like a Sooraj Barjatya script—traditional Indian girl gets to meet modern Indian boy with traditional values. Rishabh grew up in Mumbai (erstwhile Bombay) till the age of thirteen and then spent his time between the UK and Mumbai. ‘My entire family went to Bombay Scottish School and I did too,’ says Rishabh. However, as a first in the Shroff family, he was sent off to a boarding school in the UK from the eighth standard onwards. ‘I turned thirteen on 10 August 1999 and I started school in the UK on 1 September the same year,’ says Rishabh. No member of the Shroff family had gone overseas at this young age. ‘Forget London, no one from the family had even gone outside of Mumbai to study!’ exclaims Rishabh. So, what prompted all of them to send the young boy to a faraway land, I wonder. ‘My dad saw that India was getting to be more global and he wanted me to have a more comprehensive education,’ explains Rishabh. His grandparents too, wanted the fourth generation to have a global perspective. India was opening its economy in the 1990s and the elder Shroffs saw merit in Rishabh getting a global perspective right from his teenage years. The Indian education system is known for learning by rote and Rishabh’s parents wanted him not only to study but also to learn sports and music. The UK education system was attractive, as was the fact that after school, Rishabh could study law in the UK as well. It then came down to choosing the right school for him.

‘I remember going to Eton and Harrow, and even further away from London to look at schools,’ remembers Rishabh. So how did he decide on his school, I ask. ‘I don’t really think that I decided on my school,’ he says. ‘I was just a kid at that time. I did not know anything, so my parents chose my school for me.’ The school chosen for Rishabh was Rugby School, a traditional, 450-year-old British boarding school. ‘The game of rugby was invented here and I played cricket and rugby on the same grounds,’ says Rishabh proudly.

British boarding schools are notorious for their ragging and very strict regimes. Bombay Scottish was a liberal school and life at home in Bombay was different from that at a hostel. I wonder how the transition was for young Rishabh. ‘Oh! It was tough. I had never lived alone in my entire life,’ he says immediately. For a thirteen-year-old who went to school in a car, had household help at home and had home-made vegetarian food in India, life in the UK was certainly tough. ‘And then there was the crappy, cold, wet and dark weather!’ says Rishabh, with a bit of exasperation. The good part, however, was that there were students from all over the world at Rugby School. ‘The school was a co-ed one and very cosmopolitan in nature. We had students from all different parts of the world. I had friends from Kazakhstan, New York, Hong Kong, Russia, Paris, Australia and so on,’ says Rishabh. He looks back at his years at school with fondness. He is still in touch with the friends he made there. Rishabh spent five years at Rugby and then immediately joined the undergraduate course of law at the London School of Economics and Political Science in the UK.

While he was at school, he remained in touch with home and India as well. Every couple of months, during short holidays known in the UK as ‘exeats’, Rishabh would head back to Mumbai. ‘I enjoyed home food and loved meeting up with my Mumbai friends,’ says Rishabh with a smile. ‘It was almost like a dual identity for me.’ Rishabh was fortunate to study law in the UK at the time where there was still reciprocity between India and the UK. His undergraduate law degree from LSE was recognized in India, and it did not take much to obtain the relevant registrations and qualifications in India after that. ‘I have a double law degree. I can practice law in both the UK and India,’ says Rishabh very proudly. However, he credits his learnings and world view to the years he spent at boarding school and then at LSE. ‘I find the system of education in the UK much better than that in the US,’ he says. Saloni starts and looks at Rishabh. Rishabh doesn’t notice this and continues, ‘Our children will also go to school in the UK.’ Saloni cannot help herself and nudges Rishabh, who quickly adds, ‘. . . . As and when we have them, of course!’ Saloni laughs and says that a lot of their fights are about which country is better for education. She roots for the US while Rishabh is all for the UK. ‘Rishabh usually wins,’ says Vandana Shroff, Rishabh’s mother, with a twinkle in her eye.

Saloni roots for the US, where she had spent her entire unmarried life. At the same time Rishabh was growing up in India and the UK, she was growing up in New York. She comes from the family that runs the well-known Surana Jewellers of Jaipur. ‘I was born and brought up in the US,’ says Saloni in her soft American accent. She went to school there and visited India only for holidays. She went to college at Columbia University and studied art history. ‘One day we had visitors from India. They were Rishabh’s parents!’ says Saloni with a smile. Vandana and Cyril were looking for a match for their son, who was now back in Mumbai and had joined the family firm. Saloni Surana was a girl they had met in New York by pure chance. After meeting her once briefly they had wanted to know more about her. They went to New York and had dinner with Saloni’s parents. The parents talked to each other and found that there was a meeting of minds. It was time to meet Saloni and the Suranas invited the Shroffs to dinner at home in New York. ‘I had no clue about who Rishabh was at that time and I did not know anything about law or lawyers. I had never even met a lawyer in my entire life till then,’ says Saloni.

Rishabh turns to her and prods her with his elbow. ‘You also had a different idea about lawyers, didn’t you? What was it that you called them?’ he says with a naughty smile. Saloni is embarrassed and says she does not remember. ‘Of course, you remember,’ says her husband with another naughty chuckle. ‘Go on, tell her!’ he continues, gesturing with his head towards me. Saloni pleads a bad memory and her husband lets her be. Much to my dismay, the joke stays private.

Back in New York, Vandana and Cyril Shroff met Saloni. ‘I remember my first meeting with them,’ says Saloni. ‘I found them to be very open-minded and fun-loving people.’ Cyril and Vandana returned to India and discussed the matter with their daughter, Paridhi Shroff (now Paridhi Adani). ‘I had to take the family into consultation,’ says Vandana. Paridhi was perplexed. ‘Mom, itni saari ladkiyan hain India mein, why are you getting an American?’ she asked her mother. Vandana laughs as she recounts this story. As Paridhi found out more about Saloni, she ended up being the one who urged them to hurry up with the matter. The Shroffs went back to New York later in the year and Rishabh and Saloni met each other. ‘I met Rishabh in New York and found that our values matched,’ says Saloni, ‘We decided to keep in touch.’ The courtship continued across continents, with Saloni in the US and Rishabh back in Mumbai. ‘Those days we used a lot of BBM and we used to chat over it every day,’ says Saloni, looking at her husband fondly.

After three months of courtship Rishabh proposed to Saloni formally and in a dramatic way. ‘The ring in dry ice over a live band serenade’ is how Vandana puts it when I ask her later! The engagement was a high-profile affair in Bombay and Saloni began her transition of moving from a traditional Marwadi jeweller family to a liberal lawyer family.

‘I was in total awe of my parents-in-law,’ says Saloni. ‘I knew that they were the top lawyers, but I got to know how really high up they were placed only when I got married,’ she continues. It is indeed true that her in-laws are among the most respected lawyers in the country and their firm—Cyril Amarchand Mangaldas—is among the top legal firms in India. Cyril and Vandana Shroff are the third generation of the firm, which was set up by Cyril’s grandfather, Amarchand Shroff in 1917. ‘Amarchand was your great-grandfather,’ I say to Rishabh. ‘And who was Mangaldas?’ I ask.

‘Oh, he was my great-grandfather’s partner,’ explains Rishabh. Amarchand Shroff had set up the firm in the early 1900s, in partnership with Mangaldas Mehta. Amarchand bought out his partner in 1917 and the firm became a family-owned one. ‘We were among the first few in the British era to set up a law firm,’ says Rishabh proudly. Even as a firm, owned fully by Amarchand, the name of Amarchand Mangaldas continued and is in use even today. The brand that was built up in the early 1900s was valuable and Amarchand Shroff did not want to lose out on it. The same is true even today—the brand of Amarchand Mangaldas continues even after it split into two in 2015—giving birth to Cyril Amarchand Mangaldas and Shardul Amarchand Mangaldas. The split, in the family and in the business, was a very public one. ‘There is so much of it in the public domain, so why should we add to it,’ is how Rishabh puts it.

Amarchand Mangaldas grows stronger

Back in the early 1900s, Amarchand concentrated on litigation and conveyance and grew the firm’s list of clients. His son, Suresh Shroff, studied to be a lawyer and took over after the death of the founder. His wife studied to be a lawyer after she married Suresh and worked with him at the firm. They had two sons and both went to school at Bombay Scottish and then studied law at the Government Law College in Bombay. Since Suresh was the sole partner, he renamed the firm Amarchand Mangaldas Suresh Shroff and Co. or AMSS. AMSS had bought two law firms—Hiralal Shroff and Co., which was bought in 1970 in Bombay, and Shroff and Co. in Delhi in 1980. It is a mere coincidence that a Shroff bought out two other law firms also owned by Shroffs, who were in no way related to ‘the’ Suresh Shroff. The AMSS flag started flying in Delhi as well.

Meanwhile in Bombay, Cyril was helping his father with the work even though he was not a full-fledged lawyer yet. He saw his father incorporate Hiralal Shroff and Co. into AMSS without losing focus on the people issues. Cyril became an intern at AMSS when he joined the Government Law College. ‘Although I did not understand a lot, I learnt through observation and interaction,’ he has said when talking of his intern days. His father made him work his way up the ranks and started Cyril off with litigation work, before moving him on to more complex tasks. In 1984, Cyril formally joined AMSS after graduating.

In the mid-1980s, AMSS was not the largest law firm in the country. There were giants like the old firms of Mulla and Mulla and Crawford Bayley. However, Suresh saw an opportunity for AMSS as the deadwood in the old firms had started collecting in a corner and the pile just kept growing. And further, some of these firms were stuck in their old ways, while AMSS had started to enter new areas of practice. Using the offerings of newer practices and his relationship management skills, Suresh started weaning away business from the old establishments to his own firm. An example of his early success is the relationship he built with the Reliance Group. Dhirubhai Ambani inducted Suresh into the company’s board and Suresh continued to be a trusted adviser to the Reliance patriarch. The children of Dhirubhai and Suresh grew up together and the relationship transitioned to the next generation as well.

With both the Delhi and Mumbai offices growing together, AMSS slowly started to gain in size. Soon, there were more than 500 lawyers in the firm. Cyril and his brother remained second in command till 1994, when Suresh Shroff died. It was then that both the brothers took charge of the management to grow AMSS, and set it on its journey to become the premier law firm in the country. However, the two brothers were different individuals and this reflected in the way they ran their respective offices. The Mumbai and Delhi operations of AMSS took on their own characteristics and the industry attributed it to the personalities of the two partners.

Cyril Shroff, the younger of the two, is a bit more irreverent than his brother and is well known for his legal brilliance and acumen. He still enjoys reading Archie Comics, Tinkle and MAD magazines and is a complete Bollywood junkie!

By the time Cyril took charge of the Mumbai office, Rishabh was still studying and was soon in the process of being sent to boarding school. Even as he finished school and was studying law in the UK, Rishabh started following the footsteps of his father. Much like Cyril spent time with his father and learnt on the job, Rishabh too spent all his holidays at the office shadowing his father—he sat by Cyril at client meetings and helped with the drafting of documents. He learned simply by being immersed in the work, soaking up all the knowledge floating around him.

Following in his father’s footsteps went beyond just work. Rishabh agreed to an ‘arranged marriage’. ‘It was not “arranged-arranged”,’ Saloni is quick to point out. ‘We met and spent a lot of time talking with each other. So, it wasn’t like we did not know each other at all,’ she continues. There is a bit of dissonance in my mind. ‘You say that your world view is framed by your years overseas. You also say that your parents sent you to study in the UK as they wanted to broaden the horizons of your mind,’ I say to Rishabh. ‘So how does an arranged marriage fit into all of this?’ Rishabh quickly turns to Saloni and says, ‘You tell her nah!’ Saloni is quick to respond, ‘I’d like to say a very cheesy line—we are very Indian at heart but very global in our thinking.’

Saloni had grown up outside India. Rishabh had grown up in India but spent a large part of this life overseas. Saloni grew up in a traditional Indian family with Indian values. Rishabh, on the other hand, had a more liberal upbringing, but with Indian values. ‘Actually, it was the meeting of our values that got us together,’ says Saloni earnestly. ‘My family is from the jewellery business but my parents always focused on the importance of a good education for a strong foundation.’ Marrying into a family, though, of erudite lawyers had seemed daunting to her at first. It is a common perception that lawyers are a studious lot while studies and jewellery are commonly seen as mutually exclusive. Saloni seems to be aware of it. ‘Which is why studying after marriage appealed to me,’ she says. It is a family tradition at the Shroffs that all members have to be lawyers. ‘My mother-in-law became a lawyer after she got married and so did I,’ says Saloni.

Family matters

Indeed, Vandana had become a lawyer after marrying Cyril Shroff. She had grown up in Hyderabad, while Cyril had grown up in Mumbai. Suresh Shroff knew Vandana’s parents and thought that their children would make good life partners. ‘I met my in-laws in Hyderabad when they came to see me,’ remembers Vandana. She had grown up in a Marwari household and the culture did not encourage women to work outside the house. ‘But I have always been a headstrong girl,’ says Vandana. She wanted to study more and make a career for herself. ‘Career in what, I did not know. I only knew that I wanted to work,’ she says. When she met her future in-laws, she told them about her ambitions. Her mother, of course, was aghast that her daughter was ruining her own chances of a good match by her outspokenness. ‘But my father-in-law turned to my mother and said, “The condition precedent for this rishta to go ahead is that Vandana will have to pass her law exam and then work in the firm as a lawyer,”’ Vandana says with a chuckle. ‘I did not know what a condition precedent was but I did not care!’

Cyril and Vandana met in March 1985 and had a six-week-long courtship over the phone. Cyril had to book trunk calls every day to be able to speak to her. In fact, he proposed to her over the phone. While Suresh was happy at Cyril’s proposal, he certainly had a few words to say about the telephone bill! Rishabh and Saloni seem to have followed the same trajectory. They too had a long-distance courtship and spent hours talking and chatting on the phone. But by the late 2000s, technology had advanced and young Rishabh did not have to spend money on intercontinental phone calls—he simply used the Internet. The similarity between the two generations and their weddings ends at the proposal.

In 1985, when Cyril and Vandana got married, the law firm was just one of many in the country. Amarchand Mangaldas was a name that was synonymous with quality, but the sheer shock-and-awe factor was missing. Thus, the wedding of the younger scion of the Shroff family was lavish, but quiet. The firm was a different entity in 2011, when Rishabh and Saloni got married. The name Amarchand Mangaldas was spoken of in reverential tones. The firm was the largest in India and had received much international acclaim. The wedding of Rishabh and Saloni was a statement to the world.

In any wedding traditionally, the bride and the bridegroom are the centre of attraction. At the Shroff–Surana wedding, however, the world had more interest in the guest list than in Rishabh and Saloni. Uday Kotak, G.M. Rao, the entire Ruia family, Sanjay Reddy, Ajay Piramal, Kumar Mangalam Birla, Manali and Dilip Vengsarkar, Arvind Singh Mewar and politicos Praful Patel and Ashok Gehlot are just some of the people who attended the wedding. The media was interested to find out whether Anil and Mukesh Ambani, who attended the wedding functions with Tina and Nita Ambani, were staying in the same hotel and whether they spoke with each other at all. For the record, the brothers did stay in the same hotel! The wedding was a week-long extravaganza at the Jaigarh Fort in Jaipur. Media reports indicated that there were twenty-five aircraft chartered to ferry guests to and from Jaipur, and 600 luxury cars remained at their beck and call. The airport at Jaipur ran out of parking bays for the planes, which then had to fly to other nearby airports for the night. Besides the usual celebrity performances, the guests at the wedding were entertained to an elephant polo match. Since Cyril is a big Bollywood fan, how could the wedding be complete without a private movie screening for the guests? And no single hotel in Jaipur could handle the entire dinner.

Phew!

For any couple, going through wedding ceremonies is stressful. For Rishabh and Saloni, the stress was much more. For a girl who had never lived in India before, I wondered how she handled the transition. ‘Oh, I assumed it would be easier than it actually was,’ Saloni says candidly. While she was growing up in the US, Saloni did visit India often for holidays. But living here in a new home took some adjusting. ‘I was only twenty-one when I got married. I was pretty young when I think about it now. So, I had my own hiccups but am totally well settled now,’ she says with a confident smile. One other fact that the young bride had to take in her stride was the fact that she had to study law. I asked her about her reaction to the prospect of studying to be a lawyer. Saloni remains candid when she says, ‘It was not something that I had ever thought that I would do. But my mother-in-law did it after her marriage. So why could I not?’ Coming from New York, Saloni found the entire superstructure of household help very much in place, thanks to her mother-in-law, especially when she had to devote her time to studies and exams. ‘Plus, I have a very supportive husband,’ she says, leaning a bit closer to Rishabh and smiling fondly at him. The supportive husband blushes a little and fidgets in his seat a bit, as if embarrassed at this display of affection.

It was not easy for Saloni to study to pass her bar exam. She had never lived in India before and had to adjust not only to a new style of living but also to the Indian education system. Managing a new husband, new extended family and a new house, even with household help available, was difficult. ‘I used to look at all the lawyers and my in-laws and feel somewhat intimidated. I used to wonder “Could I ever be like them?”’ says Saloni. However, the jeweller’s daughter was made of sterner stuff. She studied at the Government Law College and cleared all her exams with flying colours. She then joined Amarchand Mangaldas officially.

I ask Rishabh whether he found it difficult to work with his wife. ‘I have grown up seeing my parents working together in the same room,’ says Rishabh. Vandana and Cyril Shroff have shared an L-shaped table in the same room for more than thirty years now. ‘They talk to each other throughout the day and discuss all matters,’ says Rishabh. Vandana and Cyril have heard other people talk about them working together and decided to try working in separate rooms. ‘But those were the most miserable days of my life,’ says Vandana. They went back to being in the same room and sharing their table. ‘We decided ki logon ki baaton ki parwah nahin karni chaihiye (We should not care about what people talk about us). If it works for us then we should go ahead with it,’ says Vandana firmly. Rishabh and Saloni are not there yet, but are already leaning on to each other to add on to what the other is saying.

The founder of Cyril Amarchand Mangaldas and his son both have their wives in the business as active partners. Paridhi is also a co-inheritor of the Amarchand Mangaldas legacy. She is married to Karan Adani, the elder child of Gautam Adani. She is part of the firm and is a senior associate at the Ahmadabad office, where she works full time and focuses on infrastructure-related matters, and helps lead the Ahmadabad practice overall. This is at a stark contrast to the almost universal phenomenon of families keeping their women as far away from the core business as possible. ‘We, as a family, and the firm, really value the contribution of women in the business,’ says Rishabh seriously. Close to 47 per cent of CAM’s employees are women—both at the partnership and at the associate level.

All the women in the family are part of the firm as well. ‘Apart from my mom and wife, my sister is also a part of the firm,’ says Rishabh proudly. ‘In fact, it was her condition precedent [before getting married] that she be allowed to work as a lawyer before she said yes,’ laughs Vandana. ‘My niece, who is less than a year old, has already started going to the office,’ says Rishabh with a chuckle. ‘The next generation is getting ready.’

The fifth generation of Shroff women might be getting immersed in the office in Ahmedabad now, but the process of getting the women to work side by side started at the time of the founder himself. ‘Rishabh’s great-grandmother Taraben Shroff was a very progressive lady,’ Saloni says with pride. Taraben had only studied and passed her exams till the tenth standard, but she actively encouraged her daughter-in-law to study law and work with Suresh in the firm. Considering that it was the mid-1900s, and women were not encouraged to work outside the house, Taraben Shroff clearly was a pioneering woman. The culture she set up for the family firm continues even today four generations later. Women are treated as equal partners at work. In fact, women are actively persuaded to be part of the firm as equals. ‘I come from a family of jewellers and women work there as well, but the dynamics were different,’ says Saloni. This was one of the things that attracted her to the Shroff family. ‘For me, it was simply fascinating to see the women equal to, or even better than men, in the firm,’ she says.

Cyril Amarchand Mangaldas stands out as a shining example of embracing diversity. It starts with their hiring process. ‘All we do is hire the best candidates passing out of the law schools,’ says Rishabh matter-of-factly. ‘There are simply more women in the top percentiles, so we hire them.’ Saloni nods vigorously and adds ‘I want to quote what Papa [Cyril Shroff] says: “The firm does not hire women or men. We only hire good lawyers.” ’

‘It is one thing to hire more women, but most of them also stay,’ continues Rishabh. Indeed, the firm has women who have been working there for more than thirty years. ‘They have married and had their kids while working. We call them the Amarchand kids,’ laughs Rishabh!

The lawyers rarely work alone. A good lawyer needs research material and has to work with others. Thus, many in the firm end up spending time together. ‘We have many inter-office or intra-office marriages at Amarchand Mangaldas,’ laughs Rishabh. While he does not admit it, I am sure that the firm tacitly encourages these romances. ‘At the end of the day, if people are happy and they work together, we are also happy,’ says Rishabh, like a true family business owner.

The fact that the co-head of the firm is also a woman helps in making the working environment easier for women. ‘I must say I am extremely proud of my firm and its gender diversity and the role that women have played in its growth and branding,’ says Vandana.

‘We all remember spending all our birthdays and our anniversaries in office,’ says Rishabh. The firm understands that the grandfather clock does not guide the work of lawyers. There are times when lawyers—men and women—do not leave the office till early hours of the morning. The firm, therefore, takes this into account and has the systems and infrastructure to support women who work long hours.

Vandana agrees about the workplace being safe. ‘One is physical safety and the other is emotional safety,’ she explains. Many of the women who work at the firm would have left their homes in their late teenage years to go to a law school. They stay away from their parents and miss out on the emotional support that elders in the house provide. These young women look at Vandana and the senior lawyers as their surrogate parents. ‘There have been umpteen times when the young women have shared with us their personal news—like an engagement or even falling in love—literally at the same time that they have told their parents,’ says Vandana proudly. Very clearly, women are an integral part of the firm. ‘When my parents were looking for a wife for me, I was clear that I wanted someone who would work with me,’ says Rishabh emphatically. Having seen his parents work very closely together, he was adamant that his wife, if she were not a lawyer, at least work in a related domain. ‘For me, I can’t imagine a life where my wife would not work with me,’ says Rishabh. Even though he plays the piano himself as a stress buster, he says, Rishabh did not want a wife who was an artist or a painter and certainly not a sit-at-home wife. ‘Therefore, when they met Saloni and she agreed, it was very lucky,’ says Rishabh with a satisfied smile.

‘So, was it a deal-breaker for you? Was it like if you want to get married to Rishabh, then you will have to be a lawyer?’ I ask Saloni. ‘Oh, they approached it very gently,’ she says with a deep chuckle. ‘But we did talk about how the legal profession is very interesting and how it is not only about reading scary, fat books.’ At Columbia University, studying art history, Saloni was far away from legal studies, with no prospect of becoming a lawyer anywhere in her mind. However, fate had other plans. ‘In our family, the women became lawyers after they got married,’ says Rishabh.

While it has only been a few years for Saloni at the firm, Rishabh has spent more than ten years already. ‘And that is not counting the years when I would spend time at the office while I was still at school,’ he says. He was clear from early childhood that he wanted to join the profession. ‘I find the work very attractive and interesting,’ he says. ‘Plus, the trust that clients place in you is very satisfying.’

Rishabh focuses on what is called the private client practice. This part of the business deals with families and matters of family governance and succession, wills, trust formation and other trans-generational matters. It involves working very closely with family business founders and guiding them in matters of succession and estate planning. Most of the clients that Rishabh deals with are much older than him. Furthermore, the earlier generations of the clients had worked with Cyril or even Suresh Shroff. ‘So how do they reconcile themselves with sharing their deepest concerns and thoughts with a youngster like you?’ I ask Rishabh. He takes a moment to reflect as he thinks over the various instances of client interactions. ‘The thing is, I have been helping dad for many years now and the clients are used to seeing me at meetings,’ he says. Cyril would also gently encourage clients who called to say that they wanted to deal with him to give Rishabh a chance. Secure in the knowledge that Cyril would be available in case of any problem, the clients slowly but surely started working directly with Rishabh. The same process is being followed with the current set of clients. Slowly, they are getting used to working with Rishabh as well. The fact that Rishabh co-heads a completely new practice for Cyril Amarchand Mangaldas helps in the process of his direct dealings with clients. ‘The private client practice is a very new one and it was quite a journey and fun helping set it up,’ says Rishabh. The clients, therefore, have no history with Cyril or anyone else in the firm for work under this practice. It has blossomed under Rishabh, and vice versa. In July 2017, Rishabh was ranked as one of the top 200 specialist trusts and private client lawyers in the world, by the UK’s prestigious legal publication Legal Week. He is the only lawyer from India to make the global ranking, and one of only a handful in Asia to achieve this recognition. He is also ranked as ‘Band 1’ by the prestigious Chambers & Partners Chambers HNW 2016 Guide, which is one of the profession’s leading publications and rankings. ‘Like father, like son!’ says the proud mother.

It is not only the private client practice that is ‘new’—the firm itself is new. After the split of the original AMSS, the two brothers have set up their own individual law firms. Thus, Cyril Amarchand Mangaldas is formally a couple of years old, even though it carries a hundred years of legacy with it. ‘Does the burden of this legacy keep you awake at night?’ I ask Rishabh.

Rishabh turns to Saloni and they exchange a long look. He turns to me and takes a deep breath, almost a soft sigh. ‘It is a burden, I won’t deny it. Thankfully it is not at all burdensome. It is also a great blessing and privilege to have this legacy behind us,’ Rishabh says finally. The legacy translates into an extensive list of clients, some of whom are in their third generation as well. ‘You know we are celebrating one hundred years of Amarchand Mangaldas this year (2017),’ says Rishabh. The celebrations were held in Delhi, Bengaluru, Ahmedabad, London and Mumbai. In all the cities, there were many clients and lawyers who went up to Rishabh and told him how they had worked with his grandfather and father! The burden is heavier for Saloni, however. ‘Paridhi jiji and Rishabh are born into the family so they know what the legacy is,’ explains Saloni. ‘I was overwhelmed at the legacy of the firm when I got married.’ But she too, is understanding the weight of it all, as she deals with people, both inside the firm and outside. ‘Luckily, I come from a family which is also known for its legacy, so I understand the importance of it and the responsibility that comes with it.’

Conquering the next frontier

The burden seems heavier as the legacy is mixed with a new business. In an ongoing fourth-generation business, the inheritors have to work at keeping the business going and then growing. But in Rishabh’s case, the responsibility is double. After the split, he, along with his family, has to ensure consolidation and, at the same time, growth. Historically, Delhi and the northern part of the country were the strongholds of Cyril’s brother while Mumbai and the western part, as well as the south, were managed by Cyril himself. Now it is truly an open market for both firms. Thus, while the other Amarchand tries to make inroads into the territories managed by Cyril, CAM too is expanding up north and in the east.

‘The burden for us is that of history and expectation,’ says Rishabh. The task is challenging because the firm is also a new one. ‘So, we have to find ways to marry the legacy of the old and the fresh enthusiasm of the new.’ The history is important, as the firm will be guided by the principles of old, but it will also need energy to grow fast. ‘We set up the Delhi office only two years or so ago and we have more than 140 lawyers there already,’ says Rishabh. Delhi is an important litigation centre and a senior team has been put in charge of this office and the expansion of business. ‘I worked closely with dad to choose the office space and the paint on the wall and which painting goes where,’ remembers Rishabh. Any office, especially a law firm, is only as good as its people. Vandana, Cyril and Rishabh had to recruit the right kind of lawyers. ‘We have a very senior person as the office head in Delhi and I work closely with him,’ says Rishabh. But ever the Mumbai boy, Rishabh is reluctant to shift cities. He goes to Delhi quite frequently not only to meet his clients, but also to meet and interact with the people in the office. The Delhi office is a kind of initiation into their future leadership role. ‘I don’t need to be physically present in Delhi all the time. I am very happy in Mumbai,’ Rishabh says with a smile.

Managing a new practice is not an easy task. Rishabh is, in a sense, part of first generation of Cyril Amarchand Mangaldas that is setting up a business from scratch in a new territory—Delhi. The fourth generation of the Shroff family has to take on the responsibilities of a typical first generation, which is seen as the creator of business. Rishabh also looks at the work he is doing for the firm as an expansion into a new area. ‘The private client practice is something new for the firm. We did not have it for ninety years or so,’ he says. This practice has been set up by Rishabh with his young team and he has big plans for it. ‘It may be a new area for us but we want to make it really big within the firm,’ he says.

Rishabh speaks in a measured voice. He talks calmly, and when he is finished, he sits up straight, puts his hands in his lap, and looks at me. It is a very precise way of speaking. Not a word more than is required. ‘Has he always been this mature and serious?’ I ask Saloni. Before she can answer, Rishabh looks at her and smiles naughtily. ‘Oh, I have become very mature and serious in the last six years or so,’ he says with a twinkle in his eyes. Saloni blushes and counters this by pointing out that it is only in the last couple of years that her husband has acquired a serious demeanour. ‘No, definitely in the last six years,’ asserts Rishabh, still with a smile in his voice as he looks at Saloni fondly. A tad flustered, Saloni says ‘Whatever!’ and takes a sip of water from the glass in front of her.

Watching the young couple with a smile on my own face, I persist with my question about Rishabh having a very mature air about himself. ‘You know the kind of work I do, I have to be the trusted adviser for my clients,’ says Rishabh.

‘But he is a fun guy otherwise,’ says Saloni. ‘Define fun,’ I say to both. There is a thirty-second silence as both young lawyers look at each other.

‘We like to do things together with friends at home rather than go party-hopping like teenagers,’ says Rishabh finally. Finding the right definition is very important to a good lawyer and the relief of having found the correct definition for ‘fun’ is palpable in the air. Rishabh’s friends know him to have a wicked sense of dry humour. ‘It is my UK upbringing—the stiff upper lip,’ he says with a charming smile.

Apart from the UK, Japan is one country Rishabh is fond of. ‘A lot of my work is with the Japan desk and the team at the firm and it takes me to Japan very often,’ he says. Rishabh works with a large number of Japanese corporate investors and clients and funds that invest in India. The Japanese take a very long and measured view of their investments and the team, including Rishabh, has to spend extensive time with the clients. But Rishabh finds his work with them extremely exciting.

What is also exciting for Rishabh is the other connection he has found vis-à-vis Japan. ‘You know, I found out that our founder’s father, that is, Amarchand’s father, was a pearl trader in Japan!’ says Rishabh with a wonder in his voice. ‘And here I am working in Japan and my wife comes from a family of jewellers.’ Saloni laughs and says very quickly, ‘But my great-great-grandfather was not a lawyer!’

For young Rishabh, there are historical connections all around him. The firm has a rich legacy and then there is this connection with the jewellery business, which predates even the legal business. And he has his entire life ahead of him. With the next generation of a husband-wife team getting battle-ready, the firm of Cyril Amarchand Mangaldas awaits its inheritors. And its offices await yet another couple who works together in a room with an L-shaped table.

Conclusion

Rishabh Shroff and Paridhi Adani are the fourth generation at Amarchand Mangaldas. However, what they are inheriting today is a century-old start-up. The third generation of Amarchand Mangaldas saw a very public split in the family and the business, and Rishabh is part of a firm which is having to redefine itself in more ways than one. The business has to expand faster. The clients have to be retained and not lost to the other side. More importantly, the lawyers have to be retained as well! After all, the quality and quantity of lawyers define any legal firm, in particular, and the overall legal industry, in general.

It would appear that there are many lawyers in India. Some reports put it in the range of twelve or thirteen lakh qualified lawyers, with more than 60,000 new legal graduates joining the industry each year. However, the numbers are average in reality. While there is a lawyer for every 260 citizens in the US and one for every 500 citizens in the UK, in India there is only a lawyer for every 1000 citizens. Compare this with China, where there is a lawyer for every 7000 citizens.

Despite the large number of lawyers, the legal industry is ready to welcome more into its fold. The increased compliance across all areas of commerce has generated more work for the legal firms. Other full-service legal firms have all seen their sizes grow considerably in the recent years. Further, the scope of work has also taken on more of an advisory nature, instead of being purely transaction-based. With India opening its economy and welcoming multinational companies, the legal industry is all set to grow even further. However, the goodwill associated with the name of Amarchand Mangaldas continues to be seen as a mark of quality. ‘While I have not worked with them personally, I am aware that they are well-regarded in the market, even by law firms in the UK. I also know that they have some highly respected partners,’ says Kim Lalli, senior partner at Wedlake Bell, a law firm in the UK.

Rishabh Shroff is in the firm at an interesting time. Cyril Amarchand Mangaldas is only two years old and therefore Rishabh has a clean slate to work on. The issues of a typical old firm are absent, but the legacy of Amarchand Mangaldas is used as an asset. Rishabh has studied overseas and that gives him a better understanding of the global legal market. He is making the best use of his knowledge as he works in Japan to open that market up for his firm. ‘Rishabh will need to earn his place in the firm and not depend merely on his heritage,’ says a senior lawyer. ‘Further, he will need the partners and senior lawyers who have been with the firm for many years to look at him differently.’

While there are clients who have seen Rishabh prancing around as a kid, there are senior lawyers at the firm as well who have seen him grow up into a young leader. However, he may have to work a bit harder to get the senior lawyers and partners to accept him as an equal than he has to while convincing the clients to see him as a knowledgeable lawyer. ‘Internal selling is always more difficult,’ says the senior lawyer quoted earlier. Rishabh has the advantage of being coached and mentored by Cyril Shroff, one of the most respected lawyers in the country.

Rishabh also has as his guide the example of his parents working together to create India’s premier law firm. With only ten years of work as a lawyer behind him, he can look forward now to the next fifty years, or more, to build and grow a firm that his children can aspire to join.
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Luxor

Pooja Jain

‘What? You are calling your book The Inheritors? Why?’ says Pooja Jain, as she looks at me indignantly. ‘If you call someone an inheritor, people assume that they have it easy. But it’s not true at all. There are inheritors and then there are some who actually work their way up,’ she continues, non-stop. Pooja Jain is the managing director of the writing instruments business of Luxor group, India’s premier manufacturer of the product. She sees herself as the one responsible for protecting and growing the legacy left behind by D.K. Jain, the founder of Luxor, who had died suddenly at the age of seventy-one in 2014. Pooja had already been working in the writing instruments business for nearly twenty years then. She was asked by her mother to continue running the operations of the business. ‘I have always wanted to work. So here I am, working harder each day in the company. Where is the question of inheritance?’ continues Pooja.

We are in her office—a very large room crammed with writing instruments, notebooks, colour pens and sundry other items that I have seen in various other offices. The large white boards in the room are filled with figures, words and squiggly arrows pointing in all directions. Names of some of the 120 countries that Luxor is present in are written on one. In one corner of the room is a large round table laden with packages wrapped in different kinds of paper. There are all kinds of coloured markers and pens strewn carelessly across a table while on another, they are all bundled together carefully with rubber bands. It is a room that both children and adults would find fascinating.

Pooja is the third of the four children of D.K. Jain and Usha Jain. She has an elder sister, Payal, who is married; an elder brother, Pankaj; and a younger sister, Priya. ‘But right from childhood, we were like north, south, east and west,’ laughs Pooja. ‘There was nothing in common between us four,’ she continues. All four children grew up in Delhi, seeing their father only at the dinner table in the evenings for the most part. D.K. Jain had set up Luxor and was working hard to build his business, as he did all through his life. All four children had the best education that their parents could give them. ‘I was always the one closer to my father as I was involved with the businesses, and with my mother we shared varied creative interests. My father was truly an extraordinary man, his nature, his charm, his personality as a human being put together was a great combination,’ says Pooja.

D.K. Jain: The founder

D.K. Jain started his life as an ordinary man. He came to Delhi with his parents when he was five years old. The Jain family had moved to Delhi from Amritsar in 1948. His father was a trader in textiles and saw better opportunities in Delhi after Partition. D.K. Jain’s father, along with his grandfather, continued their family business of textiles in Delhi. However, when D.K. Jain was nine years old, the family business underwent a split and his father had to start building a new business. As he needed a shop as the base he went to Sadar Bazar in Delhi to look for one. The aftermath of Partition was still playing out in the Old City and D.K. Jain’s father was able to buy a shop in a distress sale.

There was no time to empty the shop and the shopkeeper simply handed the key to the elder Jain and said, ‘Andar jo bhee hai woh bhee tumhara hai. (All that is inside is all yours too).’ D.K. Jain, all of nine years, was with his father when the older Jain pulled up the shutters of the shop. As they walked into the shop, hundreds of pens fell on them. These were imported Parker pens, as the shop was used as a storehouse by the shop owner. D.K. Jain was fascinated by the pens and turned to his father and said seriously, ‘One day I will bring Parker to India.’

Having made that promise to himself, D.K. Jain continued his normal life. He went to school and then finished his graduation in Delhi. All through his adult years, the desire to start a business of his own kept growing stronger. While he was unclear about what he specifically wanted to do, he was clear about what businesses he would not get into. ‘No alcohol, no cigarettes, nothing which went against our faith—Jainism,’ says Pooja about her father. The spirit of Jainism ran deep in D.K. Jain. In the early sixties, independent India was finding its feet and education was an area of focus for the citizens. He wanted to do something for the young in India. The areas of education and associated industry had always attracted him. He had been a student leader in school, and then the president of Delhi University. It was here that D.K. Jain saw his opportunity.

In the early 1960s, India was pen-starved. Indeed, that entire decade was a period of ‘scarcity economy’ and the writing instruments segment was no different. Children wrote with pencils and then graduated to writing with ink pens. Each ink pen was like an heirloom passed down from one generation to the next. Ballpoint pens, gel pens and the hundreds of other varieties that each of us take for granted today were non-existent then. So much so that the simple pens carried by visiting NRIs in the 1960s used to be in much demand among their relatives. It was in this scenario that D.K. Jain decided that he wanted to change the way India wrote.

With Rs 5000 as seed capital, he began work from a small factory in old Delhi in the year 1963. The place was less of a factory and more of a shed. He had five people as employees. ‘He could have named it Jain Pens or DK Pens,’ Pooja laughs. D.K. Jain had seen the name Luxor in some international context and liked the overall ‘feel’ of it. He decided to call the brand Luxor. ‘My father strongly believed in the power of brands. He believed that while there may be many entrepreneurs who build businesses, there are only a few who build a brand for their business,’ says Pooja proudly.

‘Luxor was my dad’s life. So much of his life that he did not even have time to get married!’ she continues quite seriously. D.K. Jain was in his early twenties when he set up Luxor. ‘The norm in those days was to have an arranged marriage,’ says Pooja as she recounts the story of her parents. DK’s parents were in Ambala at a religious function, where a beautiful young girl caught their attention. DK’s parents looked at each other and both had the same thought —this was the girl for their son! They found out more about the girl and were happy to know that Usha, the young girl, belonged to the same community as them and that she and her family lived in Ludhiana. ‘My grandparents were also told that Usha had many suitors in Ludhiana as she was a very popular girl in her college,’ laughs Pooja fondly.

Nevertheless, DK’s parents went to meet Usha’s parents. ’My mom tells me that there was a big debate between her parents about D.K. Jain,’ says Pooja. In the end, Usha’s father decided to go to Delhi to meet D.K. Jain. He went to the Luxor unit and found DK hard at work assembling pens himself. ‘My nana liked the fact that my father was working hard,’ says Pooja. Usha’s father also found the young man quite handsome and charming. Overlooking the many other proposals that had come from wealthier families, Usha’s father gave his consent for his daughter to be married to D.K. Jain.

When the proposal was brought to DK, he asked for a photograph of Usha. ‘My dad went to a coffee house in Connaught Place with the photo,’ says Pooja. DK ordered a cup of coffee and took the photograph out from his pocket. He spent two hours thinking about it, and in the end he was convinced that Usha was the right match for him. At last, DK came back and told his uncle that he accepted the proposal.

The engagement took place almost immediately after, but it was only three months later that D.K. Jain found time to go to meet his fiancée. And then Usha had to wait for three years before she came to Delhi as Mrs Jain. ‘My father was so focused on building his business that he could not take time off for his own wedding,’ says Pooja. ‘My mom kept signing up for courses and kept studying more and more. She ended up completing her master’s in economics, as she did not know how long it would be before the wedding,’ laughs Pooja. DK and Usha finally got married in 1970 and since then, she has been by his side all through the Luxor journey after D.K. Jain’s sudden passing in 2014, Usha Jain is the chairperson of Luxor.

At Luxor today, Usha has an able managing director in Pooja. Pooja had been managing the writing instruments business of Luxor Group even when her father was alive; it was after his death that she took charge of the overall Luxor Group. While D.K. Jain’s death may have been completely sudden, Pooja’s presence in the writing instruments business was not. ‘I had started spending time at the business during the later years of my schooling,’ says Pooja. ‘It was not a formal work regime but it allowed me to get the feel of the business. It also made me realize that I was indeed interested in the work,’ she adds. It is usual for the eldest in the family to be initiated into the family business. It is also usual for the son to be groomed to be part of the family business. Pooja is the third child and a daughter. So, I was naturally curious about how she came to be chosen as the successor.

Pooja looks at me with a wry smile. ‘My father groomed me for the business,’ she says. ‘All of us siblings were given an equal opportunity to be part of the existing business or to start a new one. I am the only one who wanted to be part of the existing business. The brands developed by my father fascinated me.’ Fair point, I say. D.K. Jain did not single any one child out to be part of the business. It was Pooja herself who was interested in learning more about it. ‘Actually, I wanted to be just like my dad,’ she says in a softer voice. She had seen her father spend more time at the office than at home. Pooja realized that if she wanted to spend time with her father, she would have to be at the office!

The reason Pooja wanted to spend more time with her father was simple. ‘I hero-worshipped him completely. My sister and brother were older than me and closer in age to each other. So those two would always hang out together,’ says Pooja. This left Pooja and her younger sister to bond. “However, as we grew older, our interests became varied. I realized that I wanted to spend more time with my father at work and with my mom at home,’ says Pooja. ‘After my dad’s passing, my world revolves around my mom today,’ she says simply.

Usha Jain spent many years at the business, in the factory when DK travelled, overseeing the manufacturing at the tip and filter plants. She also found time for the family and managed it, so that D.K. Jain could concentrate on building the business of his dreams. It was D.K. Jain’s dream to be able to give a quality writing instrument to every literate person in India. The second factory was started in Okhla. D.K. Jain had his hands full as he had to build a robust distribution network to ensure his products reached stationery shops even in the smallest towns and cities.

D.K. Jain was determined to grow his business extensively, and he went to other countries to get the best brands and technology for his pens. His father and younger brother were still in the trading business. The thought processes of a trading business and a manufacturing business are quite different. These affected the relationships between the three Jain men. DK found himself isolated and cut off from his father and brother. A formal separation from the extended family happened in the late 1970s and DK realized he had been given the short end of the stick. It was a big blow both emotionally and financially as DK and Usha had four young children. ‘I clearly remember it was in the middle of the night and we left our family home,’ says Pooja. D.K. Jain rented a house in the same colony as he did not want to further disrupt the lives of his family members. It was hard, since the family had become used to a certain lifestyle.

When the times turned tough for D.K. Jain’s family, it was Usha Jain who took on the responsibility of making it work by being the pillar of support for her husband. She encouraged her husband to keep his focus on growing Luxor, as she balanced her time between home and the factories. ‘Luxor actually was the second love of my father,’ says Pooja. The first was Usha Jain, of course! It was the love of the business that drove D.K. Jain to keep the hardships away from his mind as he concentrated on growing the writing instruments business in India. ‘More importantly, D.K. Jain did not let the personal setback diminish his ambition to make Luxor what he wanted it to be.

Pilot lands in India

Business continued to grow but it shot sky-high in 1982 when D.K. Jain brought Pilot pens to India. Pilot had started in Japan in 1918 and soon became the largest pen manufacturer in the world. Even today the brand is at the number two spot among the bestselling pens of the world. D.K. Jain entered into a partnership with Pilot and launched the pens in India with much fanfare. ‘Pilot’s technology was unique and it was my dad’s foresight that he brought the brand to India, which changed the way India wrote,’ says Pooja with great pride. The technology gave the consumer an experience of a liquid ink pen without the inconvenience of a fountain pen that required frequent and often messy refilling of the liquid ink. Luxor, by then, had built a strong distribution network to sell its markers, highlighters, colouring products and ball pens. A unique technology married with a strong, robust distribution enabled Pilot to become a national brand very quickly. Indeed, Pilot pens were popular with students and executives. ‘I was in school myself at that time,’ says Pooja. She too used Pilot and it gave her great joy to see others in the class also use various Luxor brands. ‘You know, more than 90 per cent of my school used the various products of Luxor,’ says Pooja with pride.

The excitement of the business did get to Pooja quite early in her life. She went to high school at the Convent of Jesus and Mary. ‘When I was in high school, my nana had moved to Delhi to help my father,’ remembers Pooja. Usha had no brothers, and after her sisters were married, her father moved to Delhi to help his son-in-law grow the business. He sat at the sales office on Qutab Road and managed and supported the business from there. Once Pooja was in high school, she started spending a couple of hours there each day after school. It was not an air-conditioned corporate office where strategy was discussed in rarefied environs. It was the nerve centre of business where the stock was kept and moved out to the various distribution points. ‘I loved that mad chaos of the place,’ recalls Pooja. Those were the days when the demand for the pens was much higher than the supply. ‘I still remember how well my nana used to manage the business in the market given the limitations of the manufacturing,’ says Pooja.

Watching her nana at the distribution office and spending time with her father at the marketing office, Pooja realized that she belonged to this business. However, she was still undecided about what to do with herself after she finished graduation. ‘I wanted to be at the office because I wanted to be with my dad and learn from him,’ she says. D.K. Jain was fond of his third child but in no way gave her any special treatment. ‘My dad never said I had to join the business. He just gave each of us an equal chance to be part of it,’ says Pooja. But DK had made his terms quite clear to his children. ‘He did not believe that just because we were the children of the chairman we had the right to run the business. He wanted us to work and get trained on the job and start from the bottom,’ says Pooja. In fact, her first job as a full-time employee of the company was in 1996 in the foreign trade department. She earned a salary of Rs 1700, and had to learn the basics in the import department. ‘It was after that stint that I went on to study international foreign trade at the India Institute of Foreign Trade, Delhi’, says Pooja.

Life changed for her when she accompanied her father to the International Stationery Fair in Tokyo in 1999. Luxor had established a name for itself in the market by the early 1990s. The launch of Pilot pens had changed the profile of the company within India. Luxor had started business in the international market in 1980, and by the mid-1990s it was a recognized and respected brand overseas as well. Each year, Luxor and D.K. Jain participated in the international exhibitions of all stationery manufacturers.

The reputation of D.K. Jain preceded him at these international exhibitions. He was respected by both associates and competitors. ‘My dad’s personality was such,’ says Pooja with pride. Till she went to Tokyo with him, she knew him only as a father. Tokyo changed all that. ‘I was swept off my feet!’ exclaims Pooja. At the International Stationery Fair, she got a glimpse of D.K. Jain the founder and managing director of Luxor. She saw her father being welcomed at each stall he visited; she saw competitors reaching out to shake his hand; she saw both domestic and international companies making a beeline to meet him; she saw the respect that everyone present at the fair had for D.K. Jain. It would be prudent to remember that in the mid-1990s India was largely viewed as a third-world country. India as the world’s shining economy had not yet taken shape. In such an environment, Pooja saw the world treating her father with respect and she couldn’t help but admire him even more.

‘I knew then, standing with my dad, that this is where I belonged and this is what I wanted to do,’ says Pooja. ‘I don’t know what it was, I don’t know why, but I just knew that day that Luxor was going to be my life.’ Her father was happy to see that she was so interested in the business. Back home in India, Luxor was working on a joint venture with Gillette for Parker pens. Besides Parker, Gillette also owned the brands of Paper Mate and Waterman—both elite brands of pens. Parker was a well-known brand of ink pens and had been founded by George Safford Parker in 1888. Till the advent of ballpoint pens in the 1960s, Parker had been the largest-selling pen brand in the world. Gillette had a history of buying and selling businesses other than pens, and some of these businesses generated more revenue for the company than the core business of writing instruments. The company had acquired Parker’s business in 1993 for about $561 million. In one stroke of the pen, as they signed the deal, Gillette became the world leader in the writing instruments market as well. It continued to be the leader in the shaving products market of the world. Clearly, Gillette saw Parker filling the gap in the mid-price segment as it already owned the high-end Waterman brand and the budget range of Paper Mate ballpoint pens. In fact, at that time, Paper Mate ballpoint pens were the world’s largest-selling pens.

Parker pens

It was after Gillette acquired Parker that D.K. Jain started a conversation with them about a joint venture. DK had made a promise to himself when he was nine years old and it was time to make it happen. He showed Gillette the opportunity of India as a big market. Pooja was in the her final at Lady Shri Ram College and D.K. Jain made her an integral part of the discussions. ‘There I was, still a teenager, sitting among all those black suits,’ laughs Pooja. She had not even completed her graduation. I too imagine the scene where the young, effervescent Pooja was brought into the boardroom filled with senior management and legal suits. She would have been the only woman in the room. She certainly would have been the youngest person in the room. As I imagine the scene, I ask Pooja about the reaction of the senior management to having to deal with a young lady.

Pooja simply shrugs the question away. Single-mindedly, Pooja focused on the job at hand and chose to ignore the patriarchal attitude, if any, of the others. ‘I want to stand out in everything I do. So, I just went ahead and did what I was supposed to do.,’ says Pooja. This leadership trait had been evident even at school. She was elected captain in school many times and she had led the theatre and dramatics clubs at the Convent of Jesus and Mary, New Delhi. A reference to her father is never far away. ‘I believe I am very much like my dad in that way,’ she says.

The discussions and negotiations with Gillette lasted almost three years. ‘Those negotiations were the greatest learning experience for me,’ says Pooja. ‘I was in my early twenties and no other person that young would have got the kind of opportunity that I did,’ she continues. Pooja observed keenly as her father negotiated with the multinational. The more she observed, the more convinced she was that Luxor was the place for her. Even though DK realized that a partnership with Gillette was good for Luxor, it was still a hard decision for him to part with equity in the company. ‘My dad discussed his thoughts with me one-on-one. And once he decided, a new beginning for Luxor was made,’ says Pooja. ‘Once the agreement with Gillette was signed everything changed in our lives—our business, the culture of our company, everything.’

‘We were a proprietorship and Gillette was a multinational company,’ says Pooja. The gap between the working style and the culture had to be bridged for the business plan to take off. ‘I was seen as an agent of change by Gillette. They saw me as the person who could get Luxor to work more like a professional company with their ideology,’ she says. Therefore, Pooja had to be inducted into the Gillette culture and working plans. Gillette and DK nominated her to spend eight months overseas as a Gillette general management trainee. It was not an easy experience, as she was still a young girl and had never stayed away from home. Further, she was not even a graduate among the sea of professionals in the management and other departments. But Pooja was not one to be cowed down by matters as trivial as these. ‘I was excited, worked hard and learnt every day. I spent time across all businesses of Gillette—from Braun to Gillette shaving products. I even spent time with their multilevel marketing company that sold cosmetics. However, it was the training in the pens business that got me to spend time at the Parker factories in England. The training was a complete 360-degree one with exposure to the shop floor, production, engineering, marketing and sales. I even sold pens at Selfridges in the UK!” says Pooja animatedly. She was passionate about Parker’s history. All of this, in her mind, had a specific purpose. She had to get Luxor ready to launch Parker to fulfil her father’s childhood dream. This higher goal gave her the impetus to keep going even in the face of challenges.

‘The training was like an on-the-job MBA!’ says Pooja. Each week she had to send a report of her work to her seniors, who would review her progress. ‘But I think it gave me a completely different way of looking at the business. I had to spend time with the senior members of the company right from the chairman of Gillette to the various presidents, vice presidents, heads of divisions and others,’ says Pooja. This exposure gave her an insight into different regions and the strategies used for business. ‘It gave me a completely different perspective when I got back to India.’

She returned home to Delhi after her training. D.K. Jain inducted her into the board of the joint venture company as an executive director. ‘I was the only active working member of my family, other than my dad, who was on the board,’ Pooja says with much pride. However, she did not let the title of executive director come in the way of working as a product management professional. She worked hard and rose through the ranks. As her work was recognized, she was given additional portfolios and she moved ahead in different departments. ‘Being a director was only a matter of being a title for me at that time. I used to sit in on board meetings but that never used to influence my work on the job,’ says Pooja.

In the mid-1990s, ballpoint pens were no longer a novelty and Pilot pens were gaining in number. But the market for quality pens was extremely limited. People travelling overseas would still be asked to bring back ‘good’ pens by Indians. The launch of Parker in India changed all this.

Before the launch, a research study of the market, the brand perception and price points was carried out by the business team. The research showed that Parker was an aspirational brand in India. ‘The arrow clip reaching out to young India was my father’s dream,’ says Pooja. There was a sweet spot for Parker pens—the price was aspirational, yet not luxury. ‘We wanted to get our placement and positioning in the market spot on,’ says Pooja. And they did get it right as today, after nineteen years, Parker has a huge goodwill and is available at affordable price points.

The pens were launched in 1996 and India lapped them up. Indians were delighted and excited to find the brand and the products in India. While retail customers were being targeted through the distribution network, Pooja realized that Parker was just the right brand for corporate gifting, which was a large market in India. It was around this time that she was given a new department to manage. This was the business-to-business or corporate sales. It was not an established channel within Luxor but with her training in England, Pooja realized the potential of this business. She grew the business from scratch and today it is one of the biggest within the company.

Pooja worked on positioning the Luxor and Parker products as a complete marketing solution. The direct sales team worked with her to develop ideas and then to execute these ideas to generate revenue by selling to corporates. ‘I went for numerous sales calls myself,’ says Pooja. She sat across many a corporate head to sell the Parker brand to them and in the process developed good relationships with senior corporate leaders in India.

‘My dad used to know many corporate leaders at that time. As I was successful in making sales pitches to these people, word started going back to my father that his daughter was doing a good job. This feedback from senior leaders of the industry made my father extremely proud of me,’ says Pooja. This gave D.K. Jain even more confidence that his daughter could be given more responsibilities. ‘But I never got a fancy designation,’ laments Pooja. ‘And nor did I get a fancy salary. I used to fight with the HR guys in the office saying, “Why are you treating me unfairly?” And then I would fight with my dad at home: “What is this? Why are you treating me so unfairly?”’ laughs Pooja. Ever the indulgent father, D.K. Jain would say ‘Chalo dekte hain . . . kuch karte hain tumhara (Okay, let’s see . . . let’s do something about you).’ But she realized that her father was a professional and treated his daughter as one too. Not that it mattered to her. The satisfaction she got in solving a complex problem at work or cracking a tough deal was much more than money would have given her. Parker continued to be her responsibility and the brand continued to grow in the country

While Parker went from strength to strength in India, the business was lagging behind it the parent company of Gillette. In 1999, the stationery business was the second-largest in Gillette at $743 million but posted a profit of only $18 million. The numbers looked bad when the analysts compared them to Braun and the Gillette shaving products. Braun had an annual turnover of $18 billion and earned a profit of over $154 million. The stationery business had been falling steadily over the years and Gillette had attributed the decreasing numbers to the unwillingness of customers to pay for pens. India, on the other hand, was a total contrast. Parker pens were available in a wide range, starting from Rs 100 and going up to Rs 5000 for a pen. The parent company started conversations with Newell Rubbermaid in the US to sell off their stationery business.

‘I had spent two and a half years observing the negotiations between Gillette and my father prior to signing up the deal with Gillette. And now it was Gillette that decided to move out. It was completely unexpected. But I was now in a position to add value to the conversations and the negotiations. I was almost the second lead in the negotiation process,’ exclaims Pooja. Gillette finally sold off their stationery business to Newell Rubbermaid in the year 2000. Thus, Gillette exited and Newell entered, and Luxor had a decision to make. Luxor, instead of working out an agreement with the new owner, decided that it wanted to buy back the shares from them to become the sole owners of the company. ‘My father became an entrepreneur again, with 100 per cent equity of the company coming back to him,’ says Pooja. The new agreement gave Luxor the rights to manufacture and market all products of the overseas company for a longer time. These products included brands like Parker and Waterman.

Branding with the Big B

‘Buying back the company and becoming complete owners was the best thing that happened to us,’ says Pooja. The complete ownership gave Luxor the freedom to chart its own path, unhampered by the dictates of the multinational companies. Now it was time to strategize about growing the business even faster. Parker had succeeded in filling a gap in the market and within four years, it had become a popular brand. However, in the 1990s, India had also changed as a country. By the early 2000s, there were more pen brands available to Indian consumers. The Internet, along with cable TV, had kick-started the rise of consumerism in the country. Pooja realized that it was time to take the emerging competition head-on, and the Parker brand a notch higher. Amitabh Bachchan had been resurrected, after a hiatus of a few years, with the launch of Kaun Banega Crorepati in the year 2000. In his new avatar, he was the right fit for the brand of Parker. Pooja convinced her father to invest in the brand of Amitabh Bachchan. The credibility of the daughter had been established in the mind of the father by then. He agreed.

There was a reason that Pooja persuaded her father to sign up the re-emerging superstar for Parker. India was and continues to be a price-sensitive market. Most people believed that a pen, at the end of the day, is just a writing instrument. Pooja realized that Luxor and Parker had to break away from this. She wanted the brand Parker to be disassociated with ‘price’ in the minds of her consumers. She realized that the brand of Amitabh Bachchan could move the discussion from ‘cost of the pen’ to ‘image of the pen’. It helped that there was an old connection between D.K. Jain and Amitabh Bachchan and they were friends. D.K. Jain initiated the conversation with the superstar and ultimately a contract for three years was signed.

Amitabh Bachchan became the face of Parker. Luxor spent a large amount on signing the superstar as their brand ambassador. And then they spent some more on TV commercials which were aired regularly on a number of channels. The strategy worked. Parker rode the upward curve of Amitabh Bachchan’s popularity and the ‘premium’-ness of the brand was reinforced in the minds of the customers. More importantly, the unaided brand recall went up in all brand positioning surveys carried out by marketing agencies. The customers’ focus moved away from the price, just like Pooja had wanted. Instead, customers, and even the potential ones, began associating the brand with the success of the superstar, and therefore with success itself. The positioning of the brand thus underwent a shift and the results started showing in the numbers. The sales went up significantly.

Parker had been Pooja’s responsibility and it had been her initiation into the business. ‘I did not know as much about the larger Luxor brand as I did about Parker,’ says Pooja. The company, as a whole, and D.K. Jain in particular too, had let Pooja concentrate on the Parker brand. By the mid-2000s, D.K. Jain had realized two facts. One, that Pooja, at work, was more of a trusted and talented colleague than a daughter; and two, that among his children, she was the only one who had any interest in the business. Putting together these two facts in his mind, he realized that he needed to broaden the scope of Pooja’s responsibilities.

Pooja moves up

The opportunity came in the late 2000s. The agreements with Newell Rubbermaid and Pilot had to be renegotiated. ‘The agreements we had signed earlier were a bit restrictive in nature. Now that I knew more about the business, I wanted to correct it,’ says Pooja. D.K. Jain gave the complete responsibility of the negotiations to Pooja. Perforce, Pooja had to immerse herself in understanding Pilot products before she could negotiate with the partners. In her characteristic style, she got down to work by asking a variety of questions to the Pilot team. ‘I have a natural sense of curiosity,’ Pooja says. Knowing the why and the whereof is very important to her. ‘I realized along the way that this was also one of my strengths. I don’t take things at face value. I always get to the bottom of the matter,’ she explains.

D.K. Jain appreciated her sense of not taking things at face value as he did her unwillingness to take ‘no’ for an answer. A self-made man, D.K. Jain understood the importance of questioning set norms. He did not want to be surrounded by people who did not have the confidence to challenge him. ‘My dad liked it when people put forth their points of view as well. In the end, he took the decision, but he wanted others to give him their opinions too,’ says Pooja. She did not have to be cajoled into giving her opinion at any time, as it came naturally to her!

‘The other thing my Dad wanted to see in people, including his own children, was the ability to work hard,’ says Pooja. D.K. Jain had started life with almost nothing and had worked hard to set up Luxor.

Her ability of not taking her inheritance for granted has shone through in her work. Once he saw the spark in her eye, D.K. Jain started handing over more and more responsibility to Pooja. ‘He opened the door for me and I kept moving forward,’ says Pooja. A question keeps popping in my mind repeatedly and I decide to ask it: ‘Did your father not even try to get your brother interested in the business?’ The bristles come out again as Pooja speaks! ‘Who says he gave me any special treatment? ‘He did not tell me from childhood, “Look, beta, you have to join the business”. He did not tell me; he did not tell my brothers and sisters. It was I who wanted to be part of the business, so I took the smallest opportunity and worked on it,’ says Pooja briskly.

Her father continued to be her hero and it was a matter of deep pride for her that D.K. Jain looked upon her as his confidante at work. By the early 2010s, the day-to-day running of the domestic business was handed over to Pooja. ‘It could have been a difficult time for everyone, as I am a difficult person to manage,’ laughs Pooja. Her father was aware of Pooja’s working style. While he wanted Pooja to do more at work, he also had to be mindful of the existing professionals in Luxor. Pooja was young and inquisitive. She questioned every policy, every rule. ‘I used to go “why, why, why” for everything,’ laughs Pooja, as she remembers those days.

The transition was made and Pooja took on the responsibilities of almost the entire writing instruments business of the Luxor group. D.K. Jain used his time to focus on new businesses and investment opportunities. He started a portfolio of real estate. He bought a large stake in the Qutab Hotel in Delhi and partnered with the Uppal Group of real estate developers to develop two commercial properties. Not satisfied with these, he worked on larger ambitions. He bought a 10-acre piece of land in Gurgaon and brought in DLF, the leading developer, as a partner to develop a township. These investments, though personal and separate from Luxor, were discussed with Pooja. ‘These investments were totally unrelated to the writing instruments business but he would discuss with me all his thoughts, and brainstorm matters before any investment was closed,’ says Pooja in a satisfied voice.

Besides the real estate investments, D.K. Jain was exploring the potential of diversifying Luxor in the areas of optic fibres, retailing and nanotechnology. Retail was the other segment that was identified as a growth area. Signature and Luxor Express were the two types of retail outlets that Luxor rolled out. The Signature stores showcase and sell only Luxor brands. Luxor Express, on the other hand, is a shop-in-shop store in multibrand outlets.

The nanotechnology project took shape as Luxor Nano Clean, a surface cleaner and protector. Like Luxor pens, Luxor Nano Clean too was a pioneering effort in the Indian market. ‘My dad was not limited by his vision in the stationery market,’ says Pooja. Even before the launch, she had different views about the launch of Luxor Nano Clean. ‘I discussed with him very rationally and unemotionally,’ says Pooja. But DK was determined about his thoughts regarding Luxor Nano Clean and went ahead without taking Pooja’s thoughts into account. ‘Some of the decisions worked in the market and some did not. I am now restructuring the Luxor Nano Clean business as a business-to-business one,’ says Pooja.

Leading the Luxor business

As the other investments started taking more of D.K. Jain’s time, Pooja kept getting more and more involved in the business. By early 2011, she was the de facto head of the entire writing instruments business. ‘By now everyone internally and externally knew that I had paved my way to being the next leader of the Luxor Group,’ says Pooja. She knew the international business of Luxor as well and, not surprisingly, had her own strong views about the way it should be run. Her approach to this business was not entirely like her father’s. The international business was a parallel structure, almost a mirror image, of the domestic structure. Pooja saw great synergies in the domestic and the international businesses. ‘But my dad did not want to make any changes. He kept saying, “Kar lenge, kar lenge (We will do it, we will do it),”’ says Pooja. One the reasons for D.K. Jain’s reluctance was that he realized that there may have been some overlap between the domestic and the overseas businesses. He also realized that whenever he chose to restructure the business, there would be people in the business who would need to be restructured as well. ‘They were his loyal and committed team and he could not have parted with them easily,’ explains Pooja.

Life would have continued but for one unfortunate incident. ‘Life totally changed for me when, on 18 March 2014 my father left me. It was and will always remain a shock for me,’ says Pooja in a hushed voice. As she remembers the day she lost her father, her face becomes sombre. She slumps a little in her chair and her robust voice softens. D.K. Jain suffered a heart attack at home but did not tell anyone about it as he was unwilling to accept the fact. He was in his room and it was only three hours after the pain had started that he called out for help. ‘There was my mother and there was me,’ says Pooja softly. D.K. Jain did not even want to go to the hospital. ‘My father firmly believed that personal pain and discomfort should not be unloaded on anyone else,’ says Pooja, as she explains why her father did not tell anyone about the pain. Once it was evident that D.K. Jain was suffering a heart attack, the doctor was called immediately. Despite the doctor being present, D.K. Jain passed way. ‘I saw him pass away. I was the only child of his in the room with my mother. He passed away in less than sixty seconds,’ says Pooja.

 ‘My world just came to an end,’ says Pooja in an emotional voice. The next few months were traumatic as the emotional pain had to be balanced with the need to keep the business going. ‘He was like a father to all the employees of his company,’ says Pooja. The loss of the patriarch was huge as was the uncertainty over the running of the organization. Pooja had been running almost all of the company but in the capacity of an understudy to her father. It was time to take charge of the entire business. Usha Jain was named in the will of D.K. Jain as the sole owner of all assets, including the business. Usha Jain wanted Pooja to continue to run the business as the managing director of Luxor’s writing instruments business. Usha herself took the place of her late husband as the chairperson of the Luxor Group.

In her capacity as managing director, Pooja took over the entire writing instruments business shortly after D.K. Jain’s death. She moved from managing only the writing instruments business to running the entire group quite seamlessly. ‘So, I am protecting and growing the legacy left behind by my father,’ is how Pooja explains it. ‘My mother continues to guide me at work as she took over as the group chairperson immediately after my father’s death,’ says Pooja. But strange are the ways of families—especially a family that also owns a successful business. Pooja’s siblings challenged their father’s will shortly after Pooja took over the management of the entire business. ‘The matter is sub judice, so I will not speak about it at all,’ is all she says. ‘There is enough about it in the public domain,’ she continues.

The similarities between Pooja and her father go beyond just the way they work. D.K. Jain started Luxor when he was in his early twenties; Pooja started work in Luxor in her early twenties. D.K. Jain was single-minded in focus when it came to work; Pooja too has spent most of her adult life with only Luxor. Family, though it came after work, was important to D.K. Jain and he looked at it as his pillar of support; Pooja finds her biggest support, emotional or otherwise, in her mother. D.K. Jain was a pioneer in the industry and changed many mindsets and old habits of his consumers; Pooja too stands out like a beacon as the third child and a daughter, inheriting the business in the otherwise traditional market of sons and eldest children doing the same.

‘But inheriting the business is not a phrase I would use. I have earned my right to run the business,’ says Pooja. Back to where we started!

Conclusion

Pooja Jain is a young woman with high ambition. She has travelled a fair distance in the last twenty years or so, but believes that her best is yet to come. When girls her age were buying new designer bags and luxury clothes, Pooja was spending her time working with her father at Luxor. When young men and women her age were rising in the corporate hierarchy, she was already on her way to becoming the head honcho at Luxor. Having left her peers quite far behind, Pooja still does not believe in slowing down.

To be fair, Pooja has rather large shoes to fill—those of her father, D.K. Jain. She talks about him in glowing terms and one can discount some of it as she is his daughter. But when even competitors have only praise for D.K. Jain, it is easy to see why Pooja has a point to prove. She is vice president of the writing instruments business, which is already at Rs 4100 crore today. Pens constitute more than 71 per cent of this industry. Despite the focus on digitalization and electronic media, the sale of pens has only grown. The industry is growing at a compound annual growth rate (CAGR) of 9 per cent while Luxor has delivered a CAGR of more than 10 per cent. Luxor is present across categories of customers and price points. Pooja understands the opportunities that lie on the horizon and does not want even a single person to say, ‘If D.K. Jain were alive, things would be different in the company’s direction.’

People are watching Luxor and Pooja quite intently and they are doing so for a variety of reasons. Pooja is not the oldest child nor the son of D.K. Jain. Till her father was alive and she was the undisputed understudy, the scrutiny was not intense. It is only after her father’s demise that the world is watching each of her moves to see how she fares.

Luxor was the largest pen-manufacturing company in India a couple of decades back and competition was sparse. Today, with more competitive brands in the market, Luxor has a tough fight ahead. While her father was alive, Pooja had someone as a confidant, a mentor and bouncing board for new ideas. With him gone, she is dealing with the challenges herself, under the constant guidance of her mother.

‘We watch Luxor intently as the business and the brand has great potential,’ says a seasoned private equity fund manager. ‘The problem, as we see it, is that while Pooja is running the business, she may not be in total control of the finances.’ Her mother is the chairperson of the group. Business decisions that need a free hand also need the freedom to spend where the business requires it. The fund manager says that one of the challenges that he sees lying ahead for Pooja is to manage the internal family strife while still focusing on the business. ‘The market does not like uncertainties,’ he adds.

Pooja is aware of all this. Then again, she is indeed her father’s daughter and is all set to face any challenges. The genes have kicked in already and she is learning to walk the tightrope by balancing high-speed growth on the one hand and carrying the entire team on the other.
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Select Group

Arjun Sharma

‘I want my epitaph to read: He was a farmer,’ says Arjun Sharma, managing director of the Select Group. ‘Yeah, right!’ I say to myself as I look at Arjun, who seems very fit after a fortnight at a 100-year-old health clinic in Austria. He is leaning back comfortably in his chair; we are in a conference room on the seventh floor of his office building at Select Citywalk, Delhi’s go-to mall. The floor-to-ceiling glass windows open out on to the sprawling dusty chaos of Khirki Village on one side. As I turn my head to the other side, I look down at the manicured orderly spread of green of the mall itself. I look at Arjun again and see a man comfortable, not only in his designer clothes but also in the surroundings of his plush office, drinking herbal tea from a Good Earth cup. He is known today as the person who co-conceptualized and developed one of India’s premier shopping malls—Select Citywalk—and now runs it as well. I wonder silently how this man, who had rubbed shoulders with the likes of Liz Hurley at the health clinic, could want the world to remember him as a ‘son of the soil’.

Arjun must have seen the look of scepticism on my face because he laughs and asks me why I do not believe him. I wave my hands around at the plush office, point to the windows, to the people enjoying themselves at the mall and to his designer crockery, and then look questioningly at him.

‘You know, I have always liked to reinvent myself every 10–12 years or so,’ he says. ‘And I like to challenge the accepted norm.’ After his father, Inder Sharma, sold off his business of SITA Travels, everyone expected them to go deeper into hotels or the hospitality industry. ‘But here we are—in the retail business,’ he says with a twinkle in his eye, as he takes another sip of his herbal tea. The company that he built from scratch is now on cruise control mode and he has a team of professionals managing the day-to-day operations. It is time, according to him, to challenge himself once again.

And what better challenge than to change the eating habits of Indians? This is what Arjun wants to do as a farmer. ‘Not just a farmer, but an organic farmer,’ he clarifies. Just back from the health clinic in Europe, he says he is appalled at the amounts of chemicals we take into our system through the food we eat. ‘Do you know that there are more neurons in our gut than in our brain? We are what we eat,’ says Arjun seriously. His desire is to give to the people of India food grown organically, at affordable prices.

‘But I am aware of the challenges of resources in our country. Challenges of land and of water,’ he says passionately. Therefore, he is looking at developing organic hydroponic farming. Seeing the quizzical look once again on my face, he explains that hydroponic farming is a soil-less method of cultivation. Plants are grown in different media, such as coco peat or rice husk. Nutrients are provided to the plants to get them to grow. This form of farming is gaining acceptance across the world.

‘Our challenge is to do it organically. Globally hydroponic farming has had limited success in its organic form as a business model because of the costs involved,’ adds Arjun.

Joining the family business

Growing new businesses is something that Arjun has experience in and he seems to have done it well throughout his career. Arjun started working at a young age almost thirty years ago, when he joined his father’s business right after high school. His father, Inder Sharma, was the owner and chairman of Students International Travel Association (SITA) Travels, the leading travel company of India from the 1960s through to the late 1990s. Arjun began his work at SITA as a management trainee. He was a management trainee for seven years, a record at the firm, he says, ‘till thankfully, someone realized that I was still a trainee and so they said, let us make him a manager at least!’

‘A manager after seven years and that too in your dad’s company?’ I ask him, succumbing to temptation, and taking a sip of the herbal tea in front of me. But I must confess that the pleasure of holding the dainty designer cup was much greater than the taste of the tea itself! I continue my question and say that the common perception is that an inheritor, even though he starts work as a trainee in the family business, climbs the ladder very fast. Arjun shakes his head firmly and says quite matter-of-factly, ‘My father was quite clear that I would not get any special benefits just because I was his son.’ It was, in fact, quite the opposite. Arjun never really worked with his father at SITA Travels. ‘My father told me to work with his second-in-command, Mr Ghulam Naqshband,’ Arjun says. Mr Naqshband was a professional and was well-respected within the travel industry. ‘He was a very tough taskmaster and a strict disciplinarian. For almost the whole period of ten years that I worked with Mr Naqshband, he never allowed me to sit in a chair opposite him in his office.’ Whenever Arjun went to his senior’s room, he had to keep standing, no matter how long the interaction took. Arjun remembers one occasion when, during the conversation, he sat down on the chair opposite his boss without thinking. Much like that scene from Deewar, Naqshband asked Arjun if he had been invited to sit down. ‘I obviously said no,’ remembers Arjun, fidgeting in his chair, as if uncomfortable even now. He had to get up and stand in front of the desk for the rest of the conversation. I notice that there is a deferential note in his voice as if, in his mind, he is a trainee again, standing before his boss.

Then there was another incident that he remembers with a laugh. Arjun, as a management trainee at SITA Travels, had gone to the accounts department for some training. ‘When I went to the accountant, he tore out a page from the telephone directory. He handed that page to me, told me to add up all the telephone numbers on the page, and bring the total to him,’ says Arjun, ‘And I had to do it without using a calculator!’ Arjun looks at me today, with a look that says, ‘Whatever for?’ But back then he spent over four hours, tediously, going over the finely-printed telephone numbers, line by line, to add them all up. ‘Finally, when I had the total, I took the paper to the accountant. He did not even look at it, thrust the paper back at me and told me that the total was wrong,’ laughs Arjun. ‘I asked the accountant how he knew that even without looking at it,’ says Arjun. The accountant told him that everyone got it wrong, so why would Arjun be different. ‘I was told to go and add up all the numbers once again!’ he says. ‘I can’t imagine giving such work to anyone in my office,’ he adds with a laugh.

Arjun tries to downplay these incidents but it is clear, even now, that there was a bit of indignant anger in him as if to ask, ‘Don’t they know I am the owner’s son?’ However, politically correct, he says repeatedly, during all our conversations that he respected the people at work as they were professionals. But this treatment at work must have bothered him a bit, I persist. ‘Well, it did,’ admits Arjun a bit hesitantly. The treatment bothered him but he got no response from his father. ‘I did go to my father on some occasions but he would say, “No, he is your boss. You’ve got to learn to deal with him”,’ he says. The boss’s son learnt to work with his own bosses who treated him like any other employee. He also had to learn to work with other employees who were apprehensive about the fact that he was Inder Sharma’s son! Arjun had a simple way of dealing with all this. ‘I called everyone sir!’ he says. Showing respect to everyone around him and being a keen learner helped him mitigate his colleagues’ worries. Soon he was one of them: going to the airport at midnight to pick up a large travel group; writing hundreds of tickets; sleeping in the office to be ready for a 3.00 a.m. departure. His father ensured that he learnt the basics of the travel business from the ground up.

As he talks, it is evident that Arjun looks up to his dad, but there is also a slight tinge of youthful bravado in him. It is almost like he wants to prove to his father that even though there was no help at work, he can manage anyone and any business himself today. There is also a bit of sibling envy—his father was fonder of his sister. Neeraj too joined SITA Travels but did not have to spend time as a manager or trainee and started as a joint managing director. ‘She was older by five years and was a chartered accountant,’ Arjun recalls, adding, ‘Theoretically, she was the more intelligent one.’ What makes him say ‘theoretically’, I ask. Arjun explains that she was the one who had the better scores in class and did better academically. ‘I was the black sheep of the family, having fun, playing sports while she studied and got all the great report cards,’ he says. All of this, perhaps, entitled her to the designation of a director and to working with their father while Arjun languished at the bottom of the food chain. ‘Even today, she manages to get her way with my dad,’ laughs Arjun.

Not working with his own father may have rankled him at that time, though it is hard for him to admit it. The advantage, in hindsight, was that it led to the development of his own independent personality as a businessman. ‘I never went to my father with a problem. I had to always solve it on my own,’ he remembers. Vishal Sinha, former CEO of TUI India, agrees: ‘Arjun is a problem-solver beyond par. And he does it himself with great ease.’ The distance, at work, from his father distanced him from the ownership of the business as well. He could never think of SITA Travels as his business. ‘I always saw it as my father’s business and identified more with the workers than the owners,’ he says.

And SITA Travels, indeed, was his father’s business. Inder Sharma had built it himself, first as a professional, and then as an owner. Arjun delves a bit into the history of SITA Travels and explains that his father came from a non-business family in Punjab. ‘My grandfather was a veterinary surgeon and got dad to join a medical college,’ says Arjun. Inder Sharma did join the medical college but left it halfway to go to Delhi and start work in Mercury Travels as a transfer assistant. A couple of years into the job, he was selected by SITA World Travels to undergo a six-month training in travel management. After he returned from his training in New York, young Inder opened the first branch of SITA Travels in 1956 in Delhi. And any thoughts that his father may have still harboured of Inder becoming a doctor were quietly laid to rest.

Inder Sharma, who was obsessive about antique maps, started the branch for SITA Travels with just three employees and soon expanded the business to have twenty-one offices within India and a staff of over 3000. In the mid-1960s, the owner of SITA World Travels, Jack Dengler, wanted to sell his worldwide business. Inder Sharma saw it as an opportunity and bought the India unit himself. It did make complete sense, as Inder had built the business from scratch and had a sense of ownership of the business and the people within. Thus, SITA Travels became an Indian company and from an employee, Inder Sharma became the owner. This may have been one of the earliest examples of a management buyout in India.

‘It seems fortunate that your father worked with a company with an Indian name,’ I say. Arjun laughs and says, ‘SITA is neither my mother’s name and nor was the business named after a goddess.’ It was, as we’ve seen already, an acronym for Students International Travel Association. But most people assumed that the business was named after the Sita from the Ramayana. In India, it is always an advantage.

‘I was about one year old, when my father became an entrepreneur,’ says Arjun. He was too young to remember the transition period or any changes that may have happened in the house. But he does remember that his father was always on the move as he built one of India’s most prolific travel businesses. And he also remembers, very clearly, that his sister and he did not lead the life of a wealthy businessman’s children as they grew up. ‘We went to school in buses and never took money for granted,’ he remembers. ‘Not that we were deprived of anything, but everything had to be strived for,’ he hastens to add, ‘But in a nice manner.’ He credits this feet-on-the-ground upbringing to his mother, who was a doctor and ensured that her children grew up as ‘normal’ children.

While the mother ensured that the children had a regular upbringing at home, the father continued to do his bit at the office. ‘We were not encouraged to come into the office and run around, as if it was our office,’ remembers Arjun. SITA Travels was built by professionals and the culture of the organization did not change even after Inder Sharma transitioned from manager to owner. ‘Decorum at the office was very important to my father, and from a very early stage, we were taught to respect the professionals in the company,’ remembers Arjun. The children were also taught to maintain discipline in the office. ‘My father’s secretary would not even allow me to sit in my dad’s chair if we went to his office,’ laughs Arjun. The most that he could do was to, on occasions, go from desk to desk looking for stamps to add to his collection. ‘So, in a sense, I grew up seeing professionals respected at the workplace,’ he says.

These early learnings have stayed with Arjun and he wants to bring his children up the same way. ‘However, the signs of wealth are more visible to the next generation these days,’ he says. There are hotels and shopping malls everywhere. And then there is peer pressure! ‘My daughter’s friends at school keep telling her how lucky she is, as her papa owns a shopping mall,’ says Arjun. While he cannot make the signs of wealth vanish for his daughter, he ensures that she rarely visits the mall. He does not encourage her to come to the office and run around, just like his father did not. ‘But I do allow her to come to my cabin whenever she is in the office,’ the indulgent father says with a fond smile. The messages that the next generation receive in their formative years shape their adult lives. This is also how family values get transferred from one generation to the next.

One other learning that has stayed with Arjun is the habit of being au courant with current affairs. ‘My dad would make us read a ton of newspapers and magazines every day,’ says Arjun with a wry smile. It was important, according to Inder Sharma, that the people working at SITA Travels be able to have a conversation with any client on any matter. Now that he runs his own businesses, Arjun says he understands this better and encourages all his employees to read newspapers. ‘I don’t mind where they read the papers. They can read in the office if they want to,’ he says. His businesses, especially the hotel business, get clients from all over the world and from all walks of life. Therefore, it is important for the people at work to be able to connect with the clients. ‘And what better way to connect than talking to them about matters that are of interest to them?’ he asks. Employees with the ability to talk intelligently to their clients may be one reason why Arjun’s travel business is rated high among peers in the industry even today.

Le Passage to India (LPTI) is Arjun’s travel business and the Heritage Village hotels in Manesar and Goa are part of his hospitality business.

Even though the Select Citywalk mall is the most visible and the largest business that Arjun has, the travel business continues to be close to his heart as there is no family shareholding in it. ‘The shopping centre business is the only business that is a shared one,’ says Arjun. The others, the hotel business, the private equity investments, the tourism business and the travel business, do not have either his sister or his father as partners. ‘We’ve kept the businesses apart and it is sensible. My sister and I have strong personalities. Both of us also realize that it’s better to try and maintain some decorum in the relationship,’ explains Arjun. Thus, since LPTI is his own business, it is close to his heart; But there is another reason that LPTI continues to be his favourite. To help me understand the reason, Arjun dives into a bit of history again.

It was the year 2000 and life came a full circle after thirty-five odd years for SITA Travels. In the mid-1960s, Inder Sharma had bought out a multinational, professional company to convert it into an Indian, family-owned one. In the late 1990s, the process was reversed. The Indian family-owned company was now looking to sell the travel business and Inder Sharma looked for the best multinationals in the industry as potential buyers for SITA Travels. He zeroed in on Kuoni, the Swiss company, and the deal was done amid much public fanfare. It was seen as one of India’s biggest deals at that time, and also as an indication of the coming of age of Indian companies. ‘We—my sister and I—went as part of the dowry to Kuoni,’ says Arjun with a straight face.

However, the transition for Arjun from working in a family business to working in a professional business was not smooth. While Arjun says that he always saw SITA Travels as his father’s company and identified more with the professionals rather than the owners, he still found it difficult to work in Kuoni after the buyout. ‘I realized very soon that our thought processes were very different,’ he says, and adds that the difference was largely around people management. ‘In any business and more so, in a service industry, people are the biggest assets,’ says Arjun. It was regarding the people, especially after 9/11, that Arjun differed with his boss, the India head for Kuoni. ‘I think that the new India team panicked after 9/11,’ rationalizes Arjun now. But in 2002, he went to the global boss and told him to choose between the India boss and him. ‘I was confident that the global boss would choose me,’ says Arjun. But the global boss chose the India CEO. He is surprised even today at that decision, as more than 60 per cent of the company’s profits were being brought in by him. The new owners, however, preferred a professional over a family manager. ‘So, my sister and I were fired in 2002,’ Arjun laughs, but the pain he must have felt then still evident. His sister, he says, had had her differences with the new management even earlier, but had chosen to stay on. But when they got fired, it was a package deal.

It is ironic, though, that while Inder Sharma prided himself in setting up a totally professional business, his children found it difficult to work in the professional setup at Kuoni. Arjun himself admits that the message he got all through his early years was to respect the professionals and work like one. However, when the family business did get sold and became a professional one, Arjun and his sister had problems adjusting to the new environment. And in the end, he lost out to a professional.

Arjun though, has no regrets about working at Kuoni for two years. His father ran SITA Travels with professionals, but at the end of the day, it was still a family business. Kuoni, on the other hand, was different. ‘As a family business, we neither focused on five-year plans nor on budgeting, estimating, forecasting or any such stuff,’ says Arjun. In the new professional setup, all this was done with great focus. Each number had to be run past the experts. It was a new way of working and Arjun says he learnt a lot from it. ‘I have no regrets about those two years, and looking back, being fired was probably the best thing that happened to me,’ he says.

One of the things that being fired enabled him to do was to go back and focus on the hotels that the family had built. They had two hotels which had not been sold as part of the travel business to Kuoni. Arjun had a non-compete clause with Kuoni, so he could not work in the travel sector for a few years. ‘I realized that I had neglected the hotels while I was at Kuoni,’ says Arjun. He took the non-compete time to give the hotels all the attention they needed. But he was still smarting from the whole Kuoni incident and was biding his time.

It was not only Arjun who wanted to get even. After he was fired from Kuoni, there were some other employees who had been asked to go as well. Some of these people had been perceived by the new management to be close to the Sharma family and their loyalties were questioned. This group of employees, after being let go had come together and formed a small business called Le Passage to India.

‘This was a very small business but it was run by people I knew,’ says Arjun. He was sure that he would get back into the travel industry after the non-compete time was over. He used the interim period to evaluate various options and came to the conclusion that LPTI was the best one. ‘Travel business is all about people being the biggest assets,’ Arjun reiterates. At LPTI, he knew the people and had confidence in their abilities. However, he needed a larger travel partner if he wanted to succeed in his plans. ‘Kuoni was the third or the fourth largest travel company in the world then,’ he says. ‘And so, I looked for someone of an equal size and stature.’ He found that TUI, one of the largest travel companies in the world then, wanted to enter the Indian market. The deal that was structured had Arjun buy 50 per cent of LPTI, while TUI bought the other half. In 2005, Arjun got back into the tourism business.

‘We worked hard, we worked fast and ramped the business up,’ remembers Arjun, with deep satisfaction. He had a point to prove and so did his team. It helped that he knew the business he had grown up in and continued to have relationships in India and overseas. ‘We were all coming from a bit of history and the business grew fast, at a furious speed,’ he says. It grew so rapidly that within a couple of years LPTI overtook Kuoni as the number one company in India for inbound business.

‘TUI was delighted at this,’ says Vishal Sinha, former CEO of TUI India, with a hearty laugh. After all these years, there is still a look of immense smug satisfaction and pride when Arjun talks of beating one of the world’s largest companies at their own game. The fact that LPTI was a minnow, when compared to Kuoni, made the victory even sweeter.

Select Citywalk

At the same time that he was competing with Kuoni and working with his own hotels, Arjun was also in the process of setting up what would become one of India’s top shopping malls. ‘It was like I was riding three horses at the same time,’ Arjun recalls with a laugh. The family, initially, had wanted to use the funds received from the sale of SITA Travels to set up more hotels. ‘But we had realized very early on that the nature of the hotel business was a cyclical one. And 9/11 had just happened,’ he says. Business travel to India had gone down considerably and the uncertainty had also affected the leisure travel within the country. The family, therefore, decided that they did not want to invest large sums into a business which was so uncertain. However, the family was also clear that they wanted to put part of their wealth into a reasonably sized land asset.

‘The problem was that wherever we looked for land, we kept running into the black money component,’ says Arjun. He insisted that the deal had to be a ‘clean deal’, which meant that all payment had to be made by cheque. The year was 2003 and the family chartered accountant Yog Raj Arora came to them with the news that the Delhi Development Authority (DDA) had decided to auction off a huge piece of land in the prime locality of Saket in Delhi. Since it was an auction by a government body, there was no question of black money. The family decided to bid for the land, which was earmarked for retail businesses in the master plan of Delhi. ‘However, we did not have the appetite for the entire amount, so we looked for a partner,’ says Arjun.

ICICI Ventures was the partner they chose for the Saket project. ‘I had met Renuka Ramanathan earlier and she had been keen to work with us,’ says Arjun. Renuka was the managing director and CEO of ICICI Ventures, one of the largest private equity funds in India. The fund had already invested in PVR and Renuka wanted to bring it to the proposed mall as well. The Sharma family was ready to put in 50 per cent of the total amount for the Saket project. With ICICI Ventures and Yog Raj Arora coming in as minority partners, they were confident of getting funding for the balance amount from the banks. At the auction, the two partners outbid big firms such as DLF and MGF to buy the piece of land in Saket. ‘The total amount for the land, including stamp duty, was about Rs 213 crore,’ remembers Arjun. It was the largest land deal in India in those times. They paid 25 per cent of the total amount when they won the bid in November, and then had six months—till May—to pay the balance.

During those six months Arjun and his team worked on the business plan and had to be in constant touch with his partners. As partners, the entire business plan had to be approved by ICICI Ventures. ‘I started making my rounds of the ICICI Ventures offices. The business plans had to be fine-tuned, future funding had to be discussed. I was there every ten days,’ remembers Arjun. The regular visits and follow-ups, however, failed to help when it was time for the money to come in. ICICI Ventures decided that they did not want to invest in the project.

Arjun was crestfallen. He was a novice in the retail business and was depending heavily on the institutional support that ICICI Ventures would have brought to the partnership. ‘Renuka had always said that she was very keen on our project,’ protests Arjun, as though still unable to understand why ICICI Ventures opted out. The Sharma family, though well-known in the travel industry, was a newcomer in the development and retail industry. Therefore, Arjun understood the value of having a partner like ICICI Ventures when it came to getting funding from financial institutions for his Saket project. He also understood the predicament he, and the project, would face when going solo.

‘As luck would have it, in April, I was in the hospital with a nasty bout of jaundice,’ remembers Arjun. He got a call from Renuka while he was still lying in the hospital bed. She told him that while she was keen on the project, she had been working on other proposals as well. At the meeting of the investment committee of ICICI Ventures, the Select project had been rejected.

Arjun was totally unsettled by this turn of events. Apart from the Saket project being in potential trouble, his own credibility was at stake as well. Having grown up under the shadow of his father, this was one of the first big projects that he was spearheading. To add to this pressure, it was his father’s money that was at stake—the money Inder Sharma had received after SITA Travels was sold. If Arjun was not able to get the required financing and was unable to pay the balance amount to DDA within the stipulated time, the family would have to forfeit the 25 per cent that they had already paid. Rs 50-odd crore was not an amount that could be written off that easily.

Arjun had said that he grew up resolving all problems on his own, but this was one time when he needed help from his father. And Inder stepped up and took charge, while Arjun recuperated in the hospital. ‘My father had built relationships over the years in the business and it was this goodwill that he leveraged,’ remembers Arjun. Inder Sharma met with banks and bankers to convince them about the project and to settle apprehensions about the Sharma family being a rookie in land development and retail. All the experience of setting up, growing and managing a large business came to the fore and Inder was able to present a credible project plan to the banks.

‘Within forty days, we had managed to get commitments for Rs 175 crore from the banks,’ Arjun remembers with a sigh of relief. ‘It was unheard of, but my father managed it,’ he says also with a hint of pride in his voice. He also has a special word of appreciation for Deepak Parekh of Housing Development Finance Corporation (HDFC), who was a huge moral support in those trying times. Most importantly, his faith in his guruji was reiterated. ‘I had gone to my guruji and he had told me, “Sab theek ho jayega (Everything will be all right),” ’ says Arjun, closing his eyes and touching his forehead. However, with ICICI Ventures opting out, Arjun and his family had to increase their stake in the project and therefore, had to commit more funds. Yog Raj Arora, who till then had been a small equity holder, also agreed to raise his stake.

Arjun had set out to build a business with a professional partner, maybe in line with the respect his father had for professionals. As fate would have it, the business ended up being a family business! Thus, Select became a 70:30 partnership between two families, with the Sharma family holding 70 per cent and the balance being held by the Arora family. It does make one wonder about how a professional manager looks at a project. For them, it is one of the many on their list. However, for the family that owns the project, it is the only project on their list. Therefore, they have no choice but to find a way to make it work.

It was time again for Arjun and the family to prove a point. Not only to ICICI Ventures, but also to the rest of the world. They were an unknown entity in real estate and retail and were up against giants like DLF and MGF, their neighbours at Saket. To understand the industry better, Arjun decided to travel and learn first-hand, from the more successful retail business owners around the world. It was due to this that he realized that the master plan proposed by the Delhi government needed a change. He discussed the matter with DLF and the two groups joined hands to get the government to rework the plan for the Saket shopping area. ‘The original plan was to build a shopping centre, much like Khan Market. The plan had parking spaces in the front and shops in a line and on the lanes behind the shops,’ says Arjun with a shudder. DLF and Select worked extensively with the government, spelt out their vision and ultimately got the plan to change. And being a frequent visitor to the Saket mall, I think to myself, ‘Thank God, they did!’

Arjun had spoken about wanting to reinvent himself periodically. After he started work on the Select Citywalk project, the team took up an ambitious plan to reinvent the way retail malls were managed. ‘People laughed at us,’ he remembers. And there was reason for them to do so. Till then, what would happen was that the promoter of the mall would buy the piece of land and then carve out smaller areas to resell to buyers who wanted to invest in commercial real estate. These buyers were just investors looking for capital appreciation in the medium to long term and rental income in the short term. The owners of the ‘shops’ rented it out to the most lucrative tenant without any thought of ‘which brand where’. The malls, therefore, ended up being a cluster of individual shopkeepers with no central defining character.

Arjun and the other partners had travelled around the world, after acquiring the land, looking at models that worked best. They spoke with companies that ran shopping malls; they spoke with retail brands; they spoke with consultants. After their hands-on research, they concluded very early on that the system for Select Citywalk, all of 13 lakh square feet, had to use a lease model. It meant that the real estate would not be sold upfront but leased out to actual retailers. The asset would stay with the group and they could then manage the business as a retail business. ‘It was a tough decision to make and contrary to the market,’ says Arjun, and adds, ‘MGF had already started selling their shops and here we were still planning.’ So, what made him sure that the lease model would work, I ask. ‘We looked at the numbers,’ explains Arjun simply. He says that if they had carved out spaces within the mall and sold them upfront as commercial spaces, within a couple of years they could have made two times or even three times the money they had spent. ‘But then, we would have the same problem we had after my father sold off SITA Travels,’ he says. The problem of what to do with that money!

Since Yog Raj was a chartered accountant and Arjun is a marketer, they looked at both the numbers and the business opportunity in detail. It was when they realized that the rentals in their proposed business plans could cover their interest cost that Arjun decided to take the plunge and go against the flow. ‘In our business plan, we had rentals at Rs 60 a square foot. I believed that we had enough cushion and any number above Rs 60 would only add to the comfort,’ he says. With the numbers on his side, he went ahead with the lease model. But it was not easy. The mall that currently houses over 180 brands struggled initially to get the right tenants. ‘Raheja and Biyani supported us, but many retailers had initially rejected us,’ recalls Yogeshwar Sharma, executive director of Select Citywalk.

One of the first people Arjun met was Kishore Biyani, an established player in the organized retail business with Big Bazaar and Pantaloons. Arjun wanted Pantaloons to come in as a marquee store at Select Citywalk and went to meet him in Mumbai. Kishore took Arjun to see some of his stores in the city. At one of the malls, Kishore took him to the dosa diner, sat across from Arjun, and asked him, ‘Are you sure you can do the mall?’ Arjun, earnestly, took Kishore through his background of hospitality and travel and said that understanding the customer was in his DNA. ‘I think he was more amused than anything else at this young man, who had no experience of running a shopping mall,’ laughs Arjun. Kishore too laughed at the earnest young man sitting in front of him and said that he did not want to sign an official document. ‘But then he flipped the dosa diner sheet and started writing the terms and conditions he would want, if he decided to bring Pantaloons to the mall,’ remembers Arjun. ‘He went on writing, saying “I want this, I want that, I will pay you for this, not pay you for that”, and handed the sheet to me,’ says Arjun, and adds, ‘I looked at the sheet, looked back at him, and said, “I accept.” ’ Arjun did not want to spend time arguing with Biyani as he wanted Pantaloons in the project. ‘Kishore Biyani was the big daddy of retail,’ says Arjun and adds that the presence of Pantaloons would raise his standing in the eyes of the other brands he had been talking to. He still has that sheet from the dosa shop though. ‘I have it framed and it is in my office,’ he says.

Kishore Biyani also advised Arjun to go with the lease model. ‘He told me, “Don’t sell,” ’ says Arjun, and this piece of advice validated the business model. With Pantaloons in the bag, Arjun went out to sell his shopping mall to retailers with even more confidence. Since he was meeting with actual retailers and many of them were international firms, he found that all of them were keen to come into the mall with the lease model. ‘No multinational wants to create immovable assets in India,’ says Arjun. The big retailers are wary of large capital expenditure (capex) and are happy to work in a model based on operational expenditure (opex). The lease model was an opex model and the brands were keen to discuss terms. ‘Of course, they wanted the best lease terms and to pay the least rent,’ laughs Arjun. Today, Select Citywalk has a mix of domestic and international brands, and for each of them, their centre at the mall does better than their centre at any other mall. In the meantime, Arjun’s sister was very effectively navigating the corridors of DDA and other planning authorities for the necessary permissions.

As the mall started doing well, Arjun and the team reinvented their lease model further. ‘We went to them and said that we will market the mall well. You manage your centre well and convert the high footfall into sales and pay us a percentage of that,’ he says. Each agreement had a percentage clause and depending on the category and the industry, the proportion of sales to be paid to Select Citywalk could vary from 6 per cent to 20 per cent. Thus, the tenants would pay the guaranteed base rent or the variable sales-based amount, whichever was higher. ‘So, from day one, we were clear that we had to do everything to increase the business for our tenants,’ says Arjun. He adds that leasing the place out was the easy bit, but then he and the team had to market the mall well. ‘Arjun has chosen a professional team and it has delivered all through the years,’ says Harmeet Bajaj, retail and fashion expert. ‘It was not easy for the team to go and convince people about the model but they managed to sell it,’ she adds. Arjun, too, credits the team with the results they have delivered. They faced another challenge after selling the space. ‘We had to increase the footfall in the mall, we had to create an ecosystem which would make people come to the mall,’ he says animatedly.

To achieve this, Arjun took his cue from Starbucks. (As an aside, it is notable how Arjun never tries to appropriate ownership of all the ideas he has used. He is quick and open to talk about how he researched various models that may have worked for others and then chose the one that works for his business.) Starbucks, the coffee chain, has the concept of being the third place for its customers. ‘There is home and then there is office. We wanted to be the third place,’ says Arjun. This meant that the mall had to be more than just an air-conditioned, dust-free environment with clean toilets. It had to be designed such that visitors feel safe and secure. ‘We wanted this to be a place where people congregate and we wanted to cover, as much as possible, all kinds of shopping needs,’ he says.

So then, how can it be a third place if the objective is to push people to buy, I ask. Arjun admits that while he does want Select Citywalk to be a hangout place, he also wants to nudge people into making impulse purchases. ‘We want to be fair to our tenants as well,’ says the businessman in Arjun. And I remember that the more the tenants sell, the better it is for the mall as well. But rather than use in-your-face marketing tactics, like pushing messages to visitors’ mobile phones, Arjun says he uses retail science to get people to buy. ‘We have taken the best of Kensington High Street in London and the main shopping streets of India and rolled all of that into one,’ says Arjun of his mall. I remember my walks along the various high streets of London, including Kensington, and the captivating images of the shop fronts came to mind immediately. I mention this to Arjun. ‘The biggest seduction is the merchandise and the show windows,’ agrees Arjun. ‘You’d be surprised to know that when you think you are just going for a coffee at Starbucks, you have to reach it by passing by at least twenty-five or thirty shops,’ smiles Arjun. Or if someone is going to watch a movie, she is going to enter a hall at one level, having passed through at least fifty-odd shops and then come out of the theatre at the end of the movie at another level. ‘It is all very scientific,’ says Arjun.

The science seems to work. Today, the stores in Arjun’s mall are selling twice the national average per square foot and are exhibiting 30–40 per cent more in sales than those in the closest mall in the country. ‘We are the first port of call for any international brand that comes into India. Be it Zara or, more recently, H&M,’ says Arjun. Harmeet Bajaj agrees: ‘The thing with him is that he has created that positioning for himself and every brand goes to him first.’ This reputation has not come easy. Arjun and the members of his team have assiduously built a collection of tenants that are attractive to the aspirational Indian woman. ‘The Indian woman far outspends her male counterpart when it comes to shopping,’ laughs Arjun and ducks, as if he expects me to throw something at him. I don’t! I agree with him. Women are indeed the main customer segment chased by all retailers. Therefore, the entire effort has gone into creating a space for the Indian woman, with brands that belong to all ranges—from the budget to the aspirational. About one-fifth of the brands are bridge-luxury brands that help women get a taste of luxury at prices which are manageable, in an environment that is not intimidating. ‘Dior cosmetics closed their store at Emporio and came to us, as they said, “This is where the real India comes,” ’ says Arjun proudly. The team and Arjun choose the brands very carefully and then give them the space which is best for them. ‘We want them to invest equally into building their business,’ says Arjun seriously. Yogeshwar Sharma, executive director of Select Citywalk, adds, ‘We always try to think ahead of time—from early haggling with retailers to launching their store on time to negotiating with non-performing retailers before a contract’s expiry to make way for newer brands.’ The sales of each brand are tracked minutely, their price points checked, and if they find that the brand is not selling well, the lease is terminated.

Select Citywalk, the ninth largest mall in India, is the top grossing mall in the country. With multinational brands lining up outside the seventh-floor office, I wonder about the secret behind this success. J. Suresh, managing director of Arvind Lifestyle Brands, says, ‘The management keeps the mall operations tight and has a lot of consumer activations and promotions to keep productivity high. The mall is by far the best location for us in terms of revenue per store.’ He adds, ‘It is the right tenant mix that has helped.’ Not everything has worked, though. ‘We had recruited a personal shopper at the mall. That wasn’t successful,’ says Yogeshwar Sharma with a faint smile.

Getting the right brands under one roof is only one part of the business. Equally, if not more, important is bringing shoppers to the mall, especially when they have many choices, all in the same vicinity. ‘We believe we are a microcosm of society,’ explains Arjun. Therefore, Select Citywalk promotes and encourages community events. Festivals are celebrated at the mall—be it Diwali or Teej, Christmas or even Vijay Diwas. Flea markets are set up periodically to give a flavour of local and regional shopping to visitors. Even corporate social responsibility activities are used to bring interesting options to people. ‘Outside of Tihar Jail, it is only at our mall that you can buy stuff made by jail inmates,’ says Arjun proudly. It is no wonder, therefore, that Select Citywalk is the first port of call, not only for international brands, but also for shoppers, some of who come in busloads from outside Delhi.

As Arjun talks passionately about Select Citywalk, I wonder how he manages to find time to pursue his next passion—organic farming. ‘Oh, but organic farming is not the only item on my plate just now,’ he says with a flick of his hand. ‘All my businesses are in the hands of professional management. My role is limited to executive committee meetings,’ he says. While he is not operationally hands-on, on a day-to-day basis, he is still involved in the business, to give it direction and guidance. This almost non-executive role allows him to pursue his other interests. Organic farming is close to his heart, no doubt, but Arjun is passionate about dabbling in private equity investments and technology start-ups too. Apart from these business interests, he supports young artists across the road from his mall. ‘Khirki Village has many young painters,’ he says. Arjun, as part of his quiet personal charity, provides financial support to the painters. ‘Occasionally, we let them showcase their paintings at the mall,’ he adds. He enjoys the energy and enthusiasm that the young artists and start-ups bring to the table. The young entrepreneurs of today bring a different perspective to business and technology, and most importantly, to life itself. ‘There is so much to learn from them. At the age of fifty, when you start taking life for granted, it becomes dangerous,’ says Arjun with a youthful enthusiasm.

There may be many businesses on his plate but the one that Arjun remains the most passionate about is organic farming. ‘I’ve had to unfortunately see some close friends and family suffer from diseases and cancer. And I lost a couple of very dear friends, much before their time,’ he says sombrely. Troubled by this, Arjun started reading up. He realized that there is an onslaught of chemicals on all of us every day, from the food we eat to the air we breathe in and the water we drink. The question he asked himself then was why should the food eaten add to the chemical intake? Why could we not eat organic food? He wants children to learn to eat healthy as well. His daughter studies at the British School in Delhi. Arjun talked to the school management and convinced them to move to an organic lunch menu for the students. ‘I am quite clear that the future is organic farming,’ says Arjun confidently. ‘Soon, a time should come when, in the supermarkets, you have a special section that says non-organic,’ he laughs and admits, ‘Even though I have a vision, we are walking into completely uncharted waters.’

This seems to come naturally to Arjun. His heart is set on organic farming and his passion drives his team as well. The man who goes to a health and wellness farm every alternate year wants to come back and eat healthy as well. If no one else will give him healthy food, well, Arjun will grow it himself! Therefore, now when he says that he wants to be remembered as a farmer, I believe him completely.

Conclusion

Indian retail is a mega industry that contributes almost 10 per cent of the total gross domestic product. Organized retail, even as a fraction of this $600 billion (Rs 36 lakh crore) industry, is non-trivial. At 5 per cent of the total, organized retail in India is a whopping Rs 1.8 lakh crore, approximately, annually. This industry is growing at a CAGR of over 17 per cent and is likely to double at $1.2 trillion. Clearly Arjun Sharma, with his Select Citywalk, is in the right place at the right time.

Arjun grew up in the shadow of his father, Inder Sharma, who was known as the ‘first man’ of the Indian travel industry. Not to mention Arjun’s academically accomplished older sister. At SITA Travels, Arjun as a manager, worked in front-line operational roles, while his sister, as the deputy managing director, worked with his father in the corporate office. At Select Citywalk, Arjun finally got a chance to break out. He took the opportunity, made it his own and, as a result, carved out a unique identity for himself.

This started with Arjun being seen as an ‘outsider’ throughout his working years. During the early years at work, he was the outsider among his colleagues because he was the boss’s son. Never mind the fact that the boss instructed him to work as if he was not the boss’s son! Even at Select Citywalk, he was unable to shake off the tag of an outsider. His neighbours on either side—DLF and MGF—were established players in the organized retail industry and looked upon Arjun as a wannabe newcomer.

Working with people who may have laughed at him, openly and/or behind his back, seems to have strengthened Arjun’s resolve to learn and succeed. He beat Kuoni in the travel industry and he repeated the feat by beating well-entrenched organized retail players by changing the rules of the game. Select Citywalk may have been the first mall to go for the lease model, but today even DLF uses this model for its newer malls.

The initial success of Select Citywalk was credited to the fact that it was one of the first malls in Delhi. ‘We used to say that Arjun had a first-mover advantage,’ says Harmeet Bajaj, the retail expert. ‘But we see now that he has maintained the success over the years and credit is due to him for it,’ she continues. Not being from the retail industry allowed Arjun to challenge the this-has-always-been-done-this-way norms of the industry. By his own admission, he has been a fast learner and he used this ability to differentiate his businesses from others’.

His competitors watch closely and then replicate his tactics for their own malls. For example, Select Citywalk has a large budget for in-mall promotions, events, visual displays and pop-ups. These keep the energy flowing through the mall, while bringing in footfall. ‘I know that seeing his budgetary allocations, seeing the way he spends money on his promotions, the other malls have also started spending,’ says Harmeet.

One challenge before Arjun is to stay a step ahead of his competitors, who will continue to ape him. It is indeed ironic that the people who laughed at Arjun are now imitating him. The more serious challenge, however, is the threat of e-commerce. Shopping online has enabled shoppers to break the shackles of time, location and logistics. It has given them the luxury of shopping at will. E-commerce has shifted the power balance between shoppers and retailers, with shoppers coming up as winners. With a total market of $30 billion (Rs 21,000 crore approximately), e-commerce is likely to grow to $100 billion (Rs 67,000 crore approximately) by 2020. The brick-and-mortar business has seen a drop in footfalls and revenues, especially at festival times, when the e-tailers offer large discounts for shopping online.

Along with his team, Arjun is already addressing this challenge. The marketing activities, promotions and celebrations of festivals are all designed to keep the footfall high. Food and cinema is the other weapon in the fight against e-commerce. While Select Citywalk did not get its food brands correct initially, they have corrected this mistake with brands like Yum Yum Cha and Pa Pa Ya. ‘A mall relies a lot on its food court for its footfall,’ says Harmeet Bajaj. Arjun has revamped his food court to make it one of the best in the city. Just like consumer brands make a beeline for his office, the food brands too, have joined the queue these days. One other way Arjun is addressing the threat from e-commerce is by offering superior customer service. ‘We have started services like delivery to home and hands-free shopping,’ says Yogeshwar Sharma.

Arjun spent almost twenty years in the travel business and has spent only ten in retail. However, he is known today more as a master retailer than as a travel manager. Customers have always been the focus for Arjun, but it is in the retail business that he has understood his customer better than his competitors. While others may define their customer segments by way of demographics or socio-economics, Arjun has chosen to be different.

His target segment is an attitude! It is visible in the brands he has carefully chosen to be part of the mall—brands that define an attitude to life. The shoppers that throng Select Citywalk and come back time and again also represent an attitude as they find the mall’s offerings resonate with them.

While Arjun targets the attitude of his customers, it is also the reason for his own success. His friends and colleagues talk of the positivity that Arjun brings to the table. ‘Even today Arjun is passionate about the travel business and it makes such a huge difference,’ says Vishal Sinha of TUI. The newest business that Arjun has taken on, healthy food for all Indians, also indicate another attitude. The road ahead is daunting, but I am sure that he will take the challenge by its horns. What I am keen to watch out for is the differentiator that Arjun will bring to this area and how he will achieve it—how the master retailer will get the world to remember him as a farmer!
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It is almost a norm to reserve family for ‘last but not least’. However, since The Inheritors is all about family, I do want to bring my family right up front! But this is not the only reason. The real reason is that I am what I am because of my family. Juggi, my husband, is my anchor in the rather choppy waters of life. Our friends would tell you that Sonu and Juggi fight often. Of course we do! We are both strong-minded people. He is a Punjabi sardar and I am a hardy UP bania, and ours is an arranged marriage. (That is a story for another time.) But in all our arguments the core value of respect for each other is never forgotten. Only a strong man can be happy and proud of his woman’s success. I am inordinately fortunate to have found such a man in Juggi, who has applauded my success and encouraged me to do better as I left my role as a senior corporate executive and banker to become an entrepreneur and writer.
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Another benefit of working with Lohit was that I got to know two wonderful women because of him. One is his wife, Zoya, and the other is his boss, Milee Ashwarya. The more I meet and interact with Milee, the more I understand why she is one of the best—if not the best—editors-in-chief in the publishing world today. Her bubbly energy, passion for books and empathy for her writers is very infectious, and I am happy to get carried away in the stream of enthusiasm and optimism. Thank you, Milee, for including me in your list of authors.

The Inheritors is all about the protagonists and these are very busy people. This book has been possible only because each of them took the time to tell me their stories. And in spite of their tight schedules, I do not recall even a single appointment that was cancelled at the last minute. Thank you, Agastya Dalmia, Amit Burman, Arjun Sharma, Harsh Mariwala, Kuldip and Gurbachan Singh Dhingra, Motilal Oswal and Raamdeo Agrawal, Pooja Jain, Rishabh and Saloni Shroff and Tara Singh Vachani, for trusting me with your tales.

I would not have been able to tell you their stories if it had not been for my friends who connected me with them. As a businessperson, I wanted to reach out to my protagonists not by ‘cold calling’ but through ‘warm leads’! These were made possible by my wonderful friends: Kanu Somany, founder, Gourmet Garden; Sharad Somany, managing director, India Century Advisory; Vishal Sinha, CEO, Carlson Wagonlit India; Arvind Uppal, chairman, Whirlpool India; Pankaj Raj, director, Search Value; Ritvik Lukose, CEO, Vahura; and Sunil Sood, managing director, Vodafone India. Heartfelt thanks to all of you, and get ready to introduce me to the next set of people!

While there was a set of friends who helped me connect with the protagonists, there were others who helped me understand better the specifics of some businesses by sharing their expert thoughts with me. My thanks to Shikha Sharma. MD and CEO, Axis Bank; Rajeev Dubey, group president, HR and corporate services, Mahindra Group; Sushil Luniya, partner, X-PM India; A. Kumar, managing director, Gemini Paints; Harmeet Bajaj, retail and fashion expert; Vikas Verma, transition management consultant; Pankaj Raj, director, Search Value; Rajan Krishnan, former CEO, Baroda Pioneer Mutual Fund; Niren Chaudhary, president and COO, Krispy Kreme; and Vaibhav Kapoor, group chief investment officer, IL&FS, for answering my questions patiently.

Now that we have covered the protagonists and the writing of their stories, the next crucial stage is the editing. It is hard work and editors work behind the scenes, with tight deadlines and in relative anonymity. I do want to bring my editors into the spotlight for their contribution. Thank you, Cibani Premkumar and Rajrupa Ghosh, for spending time on the manuscript and chiselling it, word by word, to make it what it is.

The Inheritors is enriched by the foreword by Anand Mahindra. His words are certainly going to resonate with all readers, family-business owners and professionals. Thank you, Mr Mahindra, for reiterating the value of family held-businesses and being a role model for the millions of smaller family businesses.

You do know, don’t you, Rajeev Dubey, group president, HR and corporate services, Mahindra Group, and Prochie Mukherji, vice president and chief of staff at the chairman’s office, that the foreword would not have happened without you! Thank you for your support.

When I look back, I remember that in many a business meeting, in my corporate avatar, I have used the phrase ‘Don’t judge a book by its cover’. Little did I know that one day I would have to eat my words. Today, I want to say to you: ‘Please do judge the book by its cover,’ as I believe that Devangana Dash has given us a true-to-the-brief cover. Thank you, Devangana, for giving The Inheritors an appealing visual identity.

As I end this, I do want to go back to my family and share another secret with you. I am from Stephen’s and Juggi is from Khalsa—and together we make salsa!
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